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STATEMENTS OF ASSETS & LIABILITIES

February 28, 2011 November 30, 2010

(Unaudited)
Assets
Investments at fair value, control (cost588,000 and $18,122,054, respectively) $ 8,736,366 $ 23,260,56
Investments at fair value, affiliated (c6d#,774,854 and $31,329,809, respectively) 63,310,96. 49,066,00
Investments at fair value, non-affiliated€t$22,311,998 and $21,628,965, respectively) 24,058,04 22,875,84
Total investments (cost $71,679,856@ 71,080,828, respectively) 96,105,37! 95,202,42
Receivable for Adviser expense reimbursement 117,34( 109,14!
Receivable for investments sold — 5,19¢
Interest receivable from control investments — 42,77¢
Dividends receivable 50 83
Deferred tax asset 919,00¢ 656,74
Prepaid expenses and other assets 30,99« 25,02
Total assets 97,172,75 96,041,39
Liabilities
Base management fees payable to Adviser 352,02( 327,43t
Distribution payable to common stockholders 914,65¢ —
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 228,29: 234,78«
Total liabilities 1,494,96 562,22(
Net assets applicable to comstockholders $ 095677,79 $ 95,479,17
Net Assets Applicable to Common Stockholders Consisf:
Warrants, no par value; 945,594 issued artstanding at February 28, 2011 and
November 30, 2010 (5,000,000 autteat)z $ 1,370,700 % 1,370,701
Capital stock, $0.001 par value; 9,146,530 as issued and outstanding at
February 28, 2011 and November 3@02000,000,000 shares authorized) 9,147 9,147
Additional paid-in capital 97,530,30 98,444,95
Accumulated net investment loss, net of medaxes (3,195,579 (3,308,52)
Accumulated realized loss, net of incometax (17,730,43) (18,532,64)
Net unrealized appreciation of investmenéd,of income taxes 17,693,65 17,495,54.
Net assets applicable to common $tolclers $ 95677,79 $ 95,479,17
Net Asset Value per common share outstangiiagassets applicable
to common stock, divided by commoarsk outstanding) $ 1046 $ 10.4¢

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS
February 28, 2011

(Unaudited)
Energy
Infrastructure
Company Segment Type of Investment Cost Fair Value
Control Investments (@)
Mowood, LLC Midstream/ Equity Interest (100%) $ 793,000 $ 4,936,36
Downstreal Subordinated Debt (14.0% Due 12/31/@ 3,800,001 3,800,001

Total Control Investments — 9.1%®) 4,593,001 8,736,36
Affiliated Investments )
High Sierra Energy, LP Midstream Common Units (1,042,68%)®) 19,823,16 20,520,03
International Resource Partners LP Coal Class A Units (500,000% 9,237,33 30,455,00
LONESTAR Midstream Partners, LP Midstream Class A Units (1,327,900)®)©) 2,149,26! 216,00(
LSMP GP, LP Midstream GP LP Units (180)®G)®) 120,04t 39,00(
VantaCore Partners LP Aggregates Common Units (933,4309 12,941,73 11,639,87

Preferred Units (23,18%9)() 359,36 405,73

Incentive Distribution Rights (98&)®) 143,94. 35,32!
Total Affiliated Investments — 66.2% ®) 44,774,85 63,310,96
Non-affiliated Investments
Buckeye Partners, L.P. Midstream Common Units (38,400)) 2,464,39. 2,489,08
Chesapeake Midstream Partners, L.P. Midstream Common Units (55,300)) 1,479,75! 1,440,01
El Paso Pipeline Partners, L.P. Midstream Common Units (56,700)) 2,001,13 2,137,59
Energy Transfer Partners, L.P. Midstream Common Units (55,600)) 2,644,49. 3,048,54
Enterprise Products Partners L.P. Midstream Common Units (37,600)) 1,205,72! 1,639,36
EV Energy Partners, L.P. Upstream Common Units (78,900)) 2,267,42 3,5699,41
High Sierra Energy GP, LLC Midstream Equity Interest (2.37%§)©®) 1,999,27! 53,48¢
Inergy, L.P. Midstream Common Units (7,100)) 283,85! 294,50t
Kinder Morgan Management, LLC Midstream Common Units (21,038))®) 1,139,27 1,380,31
ONEOK Partners, L.P. Midstream Common Units (17,100)) 972,31: 1,421,86!
Regency Energy Partners LP Midstream Common Units (86,800)) 2,203,86 2,410,43
Williams Partners L.P. Midstream Common Units (37,500)) 1,451,81. 1,944,75!
Fidelity Institutional Government Short-term Class | Shares (2,198,669) 2,198,66! 2,198,66!

Portfolio investment

Total Non-affiliated Investments — 25.1%(3) 22,311,99 24,058,04

Total Investments — 100.4%3)

())
@
©)
4)

©)
(6)

$ 71,679,85 $ 96,105,37

Control investments are generally defined undertivestment Company Act of 1940 as companies ichwditileast 25% of the voting securities are owrsea Note 8 to the financ
statements for further disclosure.

Restricted securities have been fair valued in ed@oce with procedures approved by the Board okEtiors and have a total fair value of $72,100,846ich represents 75.4%
net assets applicable to common stockholders; s¢e Nto the financial statements for further discire.

Calculated as a percentage of net assets applidcabd®@mmon stockholders.

Affiliated investments are generally defined untther Investment Company Act of 1940 as companiehiich at least 5% of the voting securities are odvr&ffiliated investments
which at least 25% of the voting securities are esre generally defined as control investmentslescribed in footnote 1; see Note 8 to the findnsiatements for furth
disclosure.

Currently non-income producing.

In July 2008, LONESTAR Midstream Partners, LP #sldssets to Penn Virginia Resource Partners, [PR'R). LONESTAR has no continuing operationschrrently holds certa
rights to receive future payments from PVR relativéhe sale. LSMP GP, LP indirectly owns the gehpartner of LONESTAR Midstream Partners, LP. Bee 9 to the financ



statements for additional information.
) Publicly-traded company.
(8) Security distributions are paid-in-kind.

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.




Tortoise Capital Resources Corporatior

gl

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS
November 30, 201

Energy
Infrastructure
Company Segment Type of Investment Cost Fair Value
Control Investments @)
Mowood, LLC Midstream/ Equity Interest (100%§) $ 793,000 $ 5,492,24
Downstreal  Subordinated Debt (14.0% Due 12/31/#] 3,800,00! 3,800,00!
VantaCore Partners LP Aggregates Common Units (933,430 13,385,11  13,814,76
Incentive Distribution Rights (98&)®) 143,94: 153,55!
Total Control Investments — 24.3%() 18,122,05  23,260,56

Affiliated Investments ()

High Sierra Energy, LP Midstream Common Units (1,042,685%)6) 19,823,16  20,666,00
International Resource Partners LP Coal Class A Units (500,000 9,237,33.  28,155,00
LONESTAR Midstream Partners, LP Midstream Class A Units (1,327,900)®)6) 2,149,26! 208,00(
LSMP GP, LP Midstream GP LP Units (18012®)®) 120,04¢ 37,00(
Total Affiliated Investments — 51.4%®) 31,329,80  49,066,00

Non-affiliated Investments

Abraxas Petroleum Corporation Upstream Common Units (1,646,376)(") 2,448,98 7,013,56:
Energy Transfer Partners, L.P. Midstream Common Units (50,900 2,431,55 2,579,10:
Enterprise Products Partners L.P. Midstream Common Units (37,600)) 1,227,91. 1,582,20
EV Energy Partners, L.P. Upstream Common Units (78,900)) 2,291,37. 3,011,61
High Sierra Energy GP, LLC Midstream Equity Interest (2.37%p©®) 1,999,27! 602,83«
Inergy, L.P. Midstream Common Units (7,100Y) 288,86« 277,04
Kinder Morgan Management, LLC Midstream Common Units (20,678))®) 1,139,27! 1,323,21.
ONEOK Partners, L.P. Midstream Common Units (17,100)) 991,80° 1,354,49
PostRock Energy Corporation Upstream Common Units (260,500 4,949,501 950,82t
Regency Energy Partners LP Midstream Common Units (46,500Y) 1,165,591 1,195,05
Williams Partners L.P. Midstream Common Units (32,300)) 1,228,62! 1,519,71
Fidelity Institutional Government Short-term Class | Shares (1,466,193) 1,466,19: 1,466,19
Portfolio investment
Total Non-affiliated Investments — 24.0%®) 21,628,96  22,875,84
Total Investments — 99.7%() $71,080,82  $95,202,42

()]
@
@3)
4)

(5)
(6)

(1)
®)

Control investments are generally defined undertivestment Company Act of 1940 as companies ichwditileast 25% of the voting securities are owrsea Note 8 to the financ
statements for further disclosul

Restricted securities have been fair valued in atance with procedures approved by the Board ofEliors and have a total fair value of $72,929,408ich represents 76.4%
net assets applicable to common stockholders; s¢e Nto the financial statements for further discire.

Calculated as a percentage of net assets applidabd@mmon stockholder

Affiliated investments are generally defined untther Investment Company Act of 1940 as companiehiich at least 5% of the voting securities are oadvr&ffiliated investments
which at least 25% of the voting securities are ewmre generally defined as control investmentsiescribed in footnote 1; see Note 8 to the findnsiatements for furth
disclosure

Currently nor-income producing

In July 2008, LONESTAR Midstream Partners, LP stddassets to Penn Virginia Resource Partners, (FR/R). LONESTAR has no continuing operations,doutently hold
certain rights to receive future payments from RéRitive to the sale. LSMP GP, LP indirectly owhe general partner of LONESTAR Midstream PartneFs, See Note 9 to t
financial statements for additional informatic

Publicly-traded company

Security distributions are pa-in-kind.

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

For the three For the three
months ended months ended

February 28, 2011 February 28, 2010

Distributions from investments

Affiliated investments 384,00¢ 856,89:

Total distributions from investments 731,99: 1,488,75!

Net distributions from investments 426,26t 490,11¢

Dividends from money market mutual funds 19C 217

Total Investment Income 561,78t 692,15¢

Base management fees 352,02( 309,92:

Directors’ fees 14,57: 26,161

Administrator fees 9,387 14,46(

Registration fees 6,16( 6,35¢

Franchise tax expense 4,99¢ 2,572

Other expenses 12,87 12,47¢

Interest expense — 45,61¢

Less expense reimbursement by Adviser (117,340

Net Investment Income, before Income Taxes 173,26 213,70:

Net Investment Income 112,94: 181,00°
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STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)
(Continued)

Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Investments
Net realized gain on control investments
Net realized loss on affiliated investments
Net realized gain on non-affiliated investrse
Net realized gain, before income saxe
Deferred tax benefit (expense)
Net realized gain omdatments
Net unrealized appreciation (depreciatidnjantrol investments
Net unrealized appreciation of affiliategdéstments
Net unrealized appreciation of non-affilhiavestments
Net unrealized appreciation, befoirime taxes
Deferred tax expense
Net unrealized appréoi@of investments
Net Realized and Unrealized Gain on Investments
Net Increase in Net Assets Applicable to Common Stkholders
Resulting from Operations

Net Increase in Net Assets Applicable to Commori8tolders
Resulting from Operations Per Common Share:
Basic and Diluted
Weighted Average Shares of Common Stock Outstanding
Basic and Diluted

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

For the three

months ended

February 28, 2011

For the three
months ended

February 28, 2010

$ — $ 1,578,00:
— (17,445

373,82 27,61
373,82: 1,588,16:
428,39( (242,97)
802,21: 1,345,19
(995,14%) 1,535,45
799,90 1,208,07.
499,15¢ 197,77
303,92: 2,941,30!
(105,809 (449,980)
198,11 2,491,31!
1,000,32 3,836,51

$ 1,113270 $  4,017,52
$ 01z $ 0.4¢
9,146,50! 9,078,091
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

For the three For the three
months ended months ended Year ended

February 28, 2011 February 28, 2010 November 30, 2010

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Operations
Net investment income (loss) $ 112,94  $ 181,000 $ (4,106)
Net realized gain (loss) on investments 802,21 1,345,19 (4,491,03)
Net unrealized appreciation of investments 198,11! 2,491,31! 19,162,01
Net increase in net assets applicetbt®mmon stockholders
resulting from operations 1,113,271 4,017,52: 14,666,837
Distributions to Common Stockholders
Return of capital (914,65)) (1,180,15) (3,915,12)
Total distributions to common stockiess (914,65) (2,180,15) (3,915,12)
Capital Stock Transactions
Issuance of 68,416 common shares from retment of distributions
to stockholders — — 430,83t
Net increase in net assets, applcbtommon stockholders,
from capital stock transaction — — 430,83t
Total increase in net asspdiaable to common stockholders 198,61¢ 2,837,37. 11,182,58
Net Assets
Beginning of period 95,479,17 84,296,58 84,296,58

End of period 95,677,79 $ 87,133,955 $ 95,479,17
Accumulated net investment loss, net of medaxes, at the end of period $ (3,19557) $ (3,123,40) $ (3,308,52)

&

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Distributions received from investments
Interest and dividend income received
Fee income received
Purchases of long-term investments
Proceeds from sales of long-term investments
Purchases of short-term investments, net
Interest expense paid
Operating expenses paid

Net cash provided by operating ati@si

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Repayments on revolving line of credit
Net cash used in financing activities

Net change in cash

Cash — beginning of period

Cash — end of period

Reconciliation of net increase in net assets appéible to common stockholders
resulting from operations to net cash provided by perating activities
Net increase in net assets applicable tonwomstockholders resulting from operations
Adjustments to reconcile net increase inassets applicable to common stockholders
resulting from operations to net cpebvided by operating activities:
Purchases of long-term invesita
Return of capital on distrilouts received
Proceeds from sales of lorrgateénvestments
Purchases of short-term invesits, net
Deferred income taxes, net
Realized gain on investments
Net unrealized appreciationnyestments
Changes in operating assetdiabilities:
(Increase) decreadatierest, dividend and distribution receivable
Decrease in receivdbtanvestments sold
Increase in prepaidenges and other assets
Increase in base mamege fees payable to Adviser,
net of expensienbursement
Decrease in accrueceasps and other liabilities
Total adjustnent

Net cash provided by operating activities

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

For the three

months ended

February 28, 2011

For the three

months ended

February 28, 2010

$ 731,99 $  1,488,75
178,33 136,60

— 10,39:

(7,970,75) (750,000)
8,177,50. 9,839,19
(732,47) (5,605,65)

— (66,70%)

(384,59 (452,58()

— 4,600,001

— (4,600,001)

— (4,600,000

$ — 8 —
$  1,113270 $  4,017,52
(7,970,75) (750,000()
305,72 998,64(
8,172,30 9,839,19
(732,47) (5,605,65)
(262,26:) 725,65:
(373,82) (1,588,16))
(303,92) (2,941,30)
42,81 (55,047

5,19¢ —

(5,97)) (1,669

16,38¢ 9,051

(6,489) (48,21%)
(1,113,27)) 582,47

$ — $  4,600,00
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Per Common Share Datd?)

Net Asset Value, beginning of period
Income from Investment Operations:
Net investment incortfe®)
Net realized and unrealized gainrorestment$?)
Total increase from investmepérations
Less Distributions to Common Stockholders:
Return of capital
Total distributions to commstockholders
Net Asset Value, end of period
Per common share market value, end of period
Total Investment Return, based on net asgae®
Total Investment Return, based on markate/al

Supplemental Data and Ratios

(6)
@)

Net assets applicable to common stockholders of period (000's)

Average net assets (000's)
Ratio of Expenses to Average Net As&ets
Advisory fees
Other expenses
Expense reimbursement
Subtotal
Interest expense
Income tax expense (benéfit)
Total expenses

Ratio of net investment income (loss) torage net assets,

before expense reimburseni@nt

Ratio of net investment income (loss) torage net assets,

after expense reimbursemni@ff
Portfolio turnover raté

Information presented relates to a share of comstonk outstanding for the entire peric

For the three
months ended

February 28, 2011

For the three
months ended

February 28, 201C

Year ended

November 30, 201!

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
$ 10.4¢ $ 9.2¢ $ 9.2¢
0.01 0.0z 0.0c
0.11 0.4z 1.5¢
0.1z 0.4 1.5¢
(0.10) (0.19) (0.4%)
(0.10) (0.19) (0.47)
$ 10.4¢ $ 9.6( $ 10.4¢
$ 8.5(C $ 6.8t $ 7.2¢
1.3&% 5.28% 20.2¢%
18.1%% 12.02% 25.02%
$ 95,67¢ $ 87,13« $ 95,47¢
$ 95,83: $ 85,81 $ 85,95(
1.4%% 1.4€% 1.44%
0.6t 0.8: 1.0¢
(0.50) (0.24) (0.36)
1.64 2.0t 2.1¢€
— 0.21 0.0t
(1.12) 3.4: 5.5¢
0.5%% 5.6<% 7.7¢%
(0.02)% 0.61% (0.36)%
0.46% 0.85% (0.00%
34.45% 3.82% 12.92%

The per common share data for the three monthsceRdbruary 28, 2010 does not reflect the changestimate of investment income and return of capgisidescribed in Note 2|

Less than $0.01 per share or 0.01% for the yeaedridovember 30, 201

Not annualized. Total investment return is caloethlassuming a purchase of common stock at the ssett aalue per share as of the beginning of théoggereinvestment
distributions at actual prices pursuant to the Camy's dividend reinvestment plan and a sale at nettasgdee atthe end of the periol
Not annualized. Total investment return is calcedhissuming a purchase of common stock at the immeakes at the beginning of the period, reinvestnwdrdistributions at actu
prices pursuant to the Comp¢'s dividend reinvestment plan and a sale at theemtrmarket price on the last day of the period Iigdiag brokerage commission:

Annualized for periods less than one full ye

For the three months ended February 28, 2011, tamg@any accrued $262,262 in net deferred incomebemefit. For the three months ended February 28,02@he Compar
accrued $725,651 in net deferred income tax expétmethe year ended November 30, 2010, the Compeerped $4,772,648 in net deferred income tax rese.

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
February 28, 2011

1. Organization

Tortoise Capital Resources Corporation (the “Complamwas organized as a Maryland corporation on Sapier 8, 2005, and is a non-
diversified closedend management investment company focused on tBeddergy infrastructure sector. The Company isvpsmarily ir
privately held and micraap public companies operating in the energy ibfuature sector. The Company is regulated as anbs
development company (“BDC”) under the Investmentm@any Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 AcThe Company does not ref
results of operations internally on an operatingnsent basis. The Company is externally manageddoiBe Capital Advisors, L.L.C. (t
“Adviser”), an investment adviser specializing in listed enengfyastructure investments, such as pipeline aodgp companies. Tl
Company’s shares are listed on the New York StoahBnge under the symbol “TTO.”

2. Significant Accounting Policies

A. Use of Estimate— The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting priresplequire
management to make estimates and assumptionsffisett the reported amount of assets and liabilitesognition of distribution income a
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements. Actual restduld differ from those estimates.

B. Investment Valuatio— The Company invests primarily in illiquid secig# including debt and equity securities of priliateelc
companies. These investments generally are sulyjeststrictions on resale, have no establishedngadcharket and are fair valued ol
guarterly basis. Because of the inherent unceytaifivaluation, the fair values of such investmemihich are determined in accordance
procedures approved by the Compangbard of Directors, may differ materially fromethalues that would have been used had a readyei
existed for the investments. The Companfoard of Directors may consider other methodvaldfiing investments as appropriate an
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounfnigiciples.

The Company determines fair value to be the pheé¢ would be received to sell an asset or paidataster a liability in an orderly transact
between market participants at the measurement @aeeCompany has determined the principal markethe market in which the Compe
exits its private portfolio investments with theegtest volume and level of activity, to be the gtévsecondary market. Typically, priv
companies are bought and sold based on multiplE8bFDA, cash flows, net income, revenues, ortnitéd cases, book value.

For private company investments, value is ofteffized through a liquidity event of the entire compaTherefore, the value of the compan
a whole (enterprise value) at the reporting datenoprovides the best evidence of the value ofrthestment and is the initial step for valu
the Companygs privately issued securities. For any one companigrprise value may best be expressed as a odrigie values, from which
single estimate of fair value will be derived. latermining the enterprise value of a portfolio camg an analysis is prepared consistin
traditional valuation methodologies including mdrked income approaches. The Company considers esorak of the traditional valuatic
methods based on the individual circumstanceseoptirtfolio company in order to derive its estimatenterprise value.

The fair value of investments in private portfotompanies is determined based on various factocdyding enterprise value, observe
market transactions, such as recent offers to psech company, recent transactions involving thehaise or sale of the equity securities o
company, or other liquidation events. The deterchieguity values may be discounted when the Compasya minority position, is subjec!
restrictions on resale, has specific concerns abwtreceptivity of the capital markets to a spectfompany at a certain time, or ot
comparable factors exist.

For equity and equity-related securities that agelf tradable and listed on a securities exchangerer-theeounter market, the Company -
values those securities at their last sale pricchahexchange or over-tlw@unter market on the valuation date. If the ségusilisted on mot
than one exchange, the Company will use the primm the exchange that it considers to be the grala@xchange on which the securit
traded. Securities listed on the NASDAQ will beusd at the NASDAQ Official Closing Price, which magt necessarily represent the
sale price. If there has been no sale on such agehar over-thesounter market on such day, the security will bleied at the mean betwe
the last bid price and last ask price on such day.

An equity security of a publicly traded company @iced in a private placement transaction withowfiseation is subject to restrictions
resale that can affect the security’s liquidity daid value. Such securities that are convertibte or otherwise

9




will become freely tradable will be valued basedtlo@ market value of the freely tradable secuggslan applicable discount. Generally
discount will initially be equal to the discountwhich the Company purchased the securities. Textent that such securities are conver
or otherwise become freely tradable within a timeerfe that may be reasonably determined, an amtiotizechedule may be used to deterr
the discount.

The Board of Directors undertakes a msi#p valuation process each quarter in connectith determining the fair value of prive
investments. An independent valuation firm has m®gaged by the Board of Directors to provide irhefent, thirdearty valuation consultir
services based on procedures that the Board otnehas identified and may ask them to perforomftime to time on all or a selectior
private investments as determined by the Boardidibrs. The multstep valuation process is specific to the levedssfurance that the Bo.
of Directors requests from the independent valudfiton. For positive assurance, the process iok®as:

e The independent valuation firm prepares the prelami valuations and the supporting analysis. Atr&aty 28, 2011, the independ
valuation firm performed positive assurance vabraprocedures on five portfolio companies compgsapproximately 99.6 percent
the total fair value of restricted investments;

e The investment professionals of the Adviser revibe preliminary valuations and supporting analysesl consider and assess
appropriate, any changes that may be requirecetpr&liminary valuations;

e The Investment Committee of the Adviser reviews pheliminary valuations and supporting analyses], eonsiders and assesse:
appropriate, any changes that may be requirecetpréliminary valuations;

e The Board of Directors assesses the valuationsibindately determines the fair value of each inestt in the Compang’portfolio ir
good faith.

C. Interest and Fee Income- Interest income is recorded on the accrual basthagcextent that such amounts are expected to lecizml
When investing in instruments with an original isgliscount or payment-in-kind interest (in whiclseghe Company chooses paymenkiimd
in lieu of cash), the Company will accrue interestome during the life of the investment, even titothe Company will not necessarily
receiving cash as the interest is accrued. Feamacwill include fees, if any, for due diligencerusturing, commitment and facility fe
transaction services, consulting services and memnegt services rendered to portfolio companiesahdr third parties. Commitment ¢
facility fees generally are recognized as incomerdhe life of the underlying loan, whereas duégditce, structuring, transaction serv
consulting and management service fees generallyemognized as income when services are rendeoedhe three months ended Febr
28, 2011 and February 28, 2010, the Company redéi@eand $10,392 in fee income, respectively.

D. Security Transactions and Investment Inc— Security transactions are accounted for on the tateecurities are purchased or sold (i
date). Realized gains and losses are reported ddeatified cost basis. Distributions received frdne Companys investments in limite
partnerships and limited liability companies gefigrare comprised of ordinary income, capital gaarsd return of capital. The Comp:
records investment income, capital gains and retfinapital based on estimates made at the timke digtributions are received. Such estim
are based on information available from each com@ard/or other industry sources. These estimatgs subsequently be revised baset
information received from the entities after thiaix reporting periods are concluded, as the actuatacter of these distributions is not kn
until after the fiscal year end of the Company.

For the period from December 1, 2010 through Felyr@&, 2011, the Company estimated the allocatioimaestment income and return
capital for the distributions received from its ffolio companies within the Statement of OperatioRer this period, the Company |
estimated approximately 58 percent as investmeohnie and approximately 42 percent as return otalapi

E. Distributions to Stockholde— The amount of any quarterly distributions will betermined by the Board of Directors. Distributido
stockholders are recorded on thedixidend date. If the Company has outstanding kyey it may not declare or pay distributions tt
common stockholders if it does not meet asset emeeratios required under the 1940 Act. The charaftdistributions made during the y
may differ from their ultimate characterization fiederal income tax purposes. For the year endeciber 30, 2010 and the period er
February 28, 2011, the Compasydistributions for book purposes were comprisedl@® percent return of capital. For the year e
November 30, 2010, the Compi's distributions for tax purposes were comprisedl@d percent return of capital. The tax charactt
distributions paid to common stockholders in theent year will be determined subsequent to Nover8be2011.

F. Federal and State Income Taxat— The Company, as a corporation, is obligated tofpdgral and state income tax on its taxable inc
Currently, the highest regular marginal federabime tax rate for a corporation is 35 percent; h@xethe Company anticipates a marg
effective tax rate of 34 percent due to expectatiminthe level of taxable income relative to théeial graduated tax rates, including the tax
anticipated when temporary differences reverse. Company may be subject to a 20 percent federatrative minimum tax on its fede
alternative minimum taxable income to the exteat its alternative minimum tax exceeds its regfdderal income tax.
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The Company invests its assets primarily in limipadtnerships or limited liability companies whiate treated as partnerships for federal
state income tax purposes. As a limited partnerGbmpany reports its allocable share of taxalderire in computing its own taxable inco
The Companys tax expense or benefit is included in the StateroEOperations based on the component of incongams (losses) to whi
such expense or benefit relates. Deferred incomesteeflect the net tax effects of temporary dédferes between the carrying amounts of a
and liabilities for financial reporting purposesdaihe amounts used for income tax purposes. A tialuallowance is recognized, if basec
the weight of available evidence, it is more likétan not that some portion or all of the defeiiremme tax asset will not be realized.

G. Offering Costs— Offering costs related to the issuance of comstonk are charged to additional paid-in capital avtiee stock is issued.

H. Indemnifications— Under the Companyg’ organizational documents, its officers and doectare indemnified against certain liabili
arising out of the performance of their duties te Company. In addition, in the normal course ddiess, the Company may enter
contracts that provide general indemnification ttoeo parties. The Compargymaximum exposure under these arrangements iwnkas thi
would involve future claims that may be made agdims Company that have not yet occurred, and noayccur. However, the Company
not had prior claims or losses pursuant to thesé&racts and expects the risk of loss to be remote.

3. Concentration of Risk

The Company invests primarily in privately-held amétro-cap public companies in the U.S. energy infrastmgcsector. The Company m
for defensive purposes, temporarily invest all @ignificant portion of its assets in investmeradg securities, shortrm debt securities a
cash or cash equivalents. To the extent the Compsey this strategy it may not achieve its investrobjective.

4. Agreements

The Company has entered into an Investment Adviggmeement with Tortoise Capital Advisors, L.L.Cndlér the terms of the Investm
Advisory Agreement, the Adviser is paid a fee cstisg of a base management fee and an incentivelfes= base management fee is 0
percent (1.5 percent annualized) of the Compmayerage monthly Managed Assets, calculated aiddgparterly in arrears within thirty de
of the end of each fiscal quarter. The term “Mambgesets’as used in the calculation of the management femamotal assets (including ¢
assets purchased with or attributable to borrowedi$ but excluding any net deferred tax asset) snaucrued liabilities other than (1)
deferred tax liabilities, (2) debt entered into floe purpose of leverage and (3) the aggregatelttion preference of any outstanding prefe
shares. The base management fee for any partietkgigmappropriately prorated.

On November 11, 2008, the Company entered intoxgreise Reimbursement Agreement with the Advisemttch the Adviser reimburs
the Company for certain expenses incurred begindémyary 1, 2009 and ending December 31, 2009 emsunt equal to an annual rat
0.25 percent of the Compamyaverage monthly Managed Assets. On FebruaryQln,2he Company entered into an Expense Reimbers
Agreement with the Adviser under which the Adviseimbursed the Company for certain expenses indureginning January 1, 2010
ending December 31, 2010 in an amount equal tovana rate of 0.25 percent of the Compargverage monthly Managed Assets. On Al
9, 2010, the Company entered into an Amended ExpResnbursement Agreement with the Adviser undechkvthe Adviser reimbursed t
Company for certain expenses incurred beginning Jyr2010 and ending December 31, 2010 in an amequdl to an annual rate of O
percent of the Company’average monthly Managed Assets. On November B),26e Company entered into an Expense Reimburg
Agreement with the Adviser under which the Adviealf reimburse the Company for certain expensesiired beginning January 1, 2011
ending December 31, 2011 in an amount equal tonana rate of 0.50 percent of the CompangVerage monthly Managed Assets. Durin
three months ended February 28, 2011 and Febr@u30240, the Adviser reimbursed the Company $117z8% $51,654, respectively.

The incentive fee consists of two parts. The fiatt, the investment income fee, is equal to 15erof the excess, if any, of the Company’
Net Investment Income for the fiscal quarter oveuarterly hurdle rate equal to 2 percent (8 peraanualized), and multiplied, in either c:
by the Company’s average monthly Net Assets fogueeter. “Net Assetstheans the Managed Assets less deferred taxeseleed into fc
the purposes of leverage and the aggregate liqoidateference of any outstanding preferred shdhst Investment Incomefneans intere
income (including accrued interest that we have yaitreceived in cash), dividend and distributiomome from equity investments (
excluding that portion of cash distributions thet teated as a return of capital), and any oth@me (including any fees such as commitn
origination, syndication, structuring, diligencepmitoring, and consulting fees or other fees tl@t Company is entitled to receive fr
portfolio companies) accrued during the fiscal tgrarminus the Company’ operating expenses for such quarter (includirey s
management fee, expense reimbursements payablgaptite the Investment Advisory Agreement, anyrggeexpense, any accrued inct
taxes related to net investment income, and digtdhs paid on issued and outstanding preferrecksibany, but excluding the incentive
payable). Net Investment Income also includeshéndase of investments with a deferred interestamme feature (such as
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original issue discount, debt or equity instrumewith a payment-irkind feature, and zero coupon securities), accrimedme that th
Company has not yet received in cash. Net Invedtitneome does not include any realized capital gjaiealized capital losses, or unreal
capital appreciation or depreciation. The investnirecome fee is calculated and payable quarterbrigars within thirty (30) days of the enc
each fiscal quarter. The investment income feeuwtation is adjusted appropriately on the basiefriumber of calendar days in the first fi
quarter the fee accrues or the fiscal quarter dunhich the Agreement is in effect in the eventaymination of the Agreement during
fiscal quarter. During the three months ended Falyr@8, 2011 and February 28, 2010, the Companyeadao investment income fees.

The second part of the incentive fee payable toAtheser, the capital gain incentive fee, is equal(A) 15 percent of (i) the Comparsyhe
realized capital gains (realized capital gains tesdized capital losses) on a cumulative basis fimception to the end of each fiscal year,
(ii) any unrealized capital depreciation at the ehduch fiscal year, less (B) the aggregate amofiatl capital gain fees paid to the Advise
prior fiscal years. The capital gain incentive feealculated and payable annually within thirt@)8lays of the end of each fiscal year. Ir
event the Investment Advisory Agreement is tern@dathe capital gain incentive fee calculation Ishalundertaken as of, and any resu
capital gain incentive fee shall be paid withirrthi(30) days of the date of termination. The Advimay, from time to time, waive or defer
or any part of the compensation described in thedtment Advisory Agreement.

The calculation of the capital gain incentive femesl not include any capital gains that result fithiat portion of any scheduled peric
distributions made possible by the normally reagrcash flow from the operations of portfolio comies (“Expected Distributions’that ar
characterized by the Company as return of capiraUtS. generally accepted accounting principlepgses. In that regard, any such retul
capital will not be treated as a decrease in tist loasis of an investment for purposes of calaugatthe capital gain incentive fee. This does
apply to any portion of any distribution from a fiolio company that is not an Expected Distributi®ealized capital gains on a security
be calculated as the excess of the net amountkzeeafiom the sale or other disposition of such ggcover the adjusted cost basis for
security. Realized capital losses on a security bel calculated as the amount by which the net anoealized from the sale or otl
disposition of such security is less than the adplisost basis of such security. Unrealized cag#greciation on a security will be calculate
the amount by which the Company’s adjusted cosslidsuch security exceeds the fair value of sexturity at the end of a fiscal year.

The payable for capital gain incentive fees issulteof the increase or decrease in the fair vafuavestments and realized gains or losses
investments. For the three months ended Februan2@8Bl and February 28, 2010, the Company accreedapital gain incentive fet
Pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreementctigtal gain incentive fee is paid annually onlyhiére are realization events and only i
calculation defined in the agreement results inaarount due. No capital gain incentive fees havenljgd since the commencemen
operations.

U.S. Bancorp Fund Services, LLC serves as the Comipdund accounting services provider. The Comparnys plae provider a monthly f
computed at an annual rate of $24,000 on the $56t000,000 of the ComparsyNet Assets, 0.0125 percent on the next $200,000 Ne
Assets, 0.0075 percent on the next $250,000,008:bAssets and 0.0025 percent on the balance a@dnepany’s Net Assets.

The Adviser serves as the Compangdministrator. The Company paid the administratdee equal to an annual rate of 0.07 perce
aggregate average daily Managed Assets up to ahdling $150,000,000, 0.06 percent of aggregateageedaily Managed Assets on the |
$100,000,000, 0.05 percent of aggregate averadg Minaged Assets on the next $250,000,000, and Pe¥cent on the balance t
November 30, 2010. On December 1, 2010, the Compatgred into an Amended Administration Agreemeith whe administrator th
decreased the fee to an amount equal to an arateadfr0.04 percent of aggregate average daily Mechdssets, with a minimum annual fe
$30,000. This fee is calculated and accrued daitygaid quarterly in arrears.

Computershare Trust Company, N.A. serves as thep@ow's transfer agent and registrar and Computezsime. serves as the Company’
dividend paying agent and agent for the automaticleind reinvestment plan.

U.S. Bank, N.A. serves as the Compangustodian. The Company pays the custodian a riyofed computed at an annual rate of 0
percent of the Company’s portfolio assets, plusfplo transaction fees.
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5. Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effectemfiporary differences between the carrying amatirdssets and liabilities for financ
reporting and tax purposes. Components of the Caoyipaleferred tax assets and liabilities as of Felgra@r 2011 and November 30, 2010

as follows:

February 28, 2011

November 30, 2010

Deferred tax assets:

Organization costs $ (20,700 $ (21,239
Capital loss carryforwards (4,134,62) (4,268,52)
Net operating loss carryforwards (6,632,06) (6,343,98)
AMT and State of Kansas credit (5,039 (5,039
Valuation allowance — 558,53:
(10,792,43) (10,080,25)

Deferred tax liabilities:
Basis reduction of investment in partnership 1,124,20! 783,15¢
Net unrealized gain on investment securities 8,749,22 8,640,35!
9,873,42! 9,423,51.
Total net deferred tax asset $ (919,00) $ (656,74

At February 28, 2011, a valuation allowance on detetax assets was not deemed necessary becauSentpany believes it is more lik
than not that there is an ability to realize itfedeed tax assets through future taxable incomih@fappropriate character. Any adjustmen
such estimates will be made in the period suchrchétation is made. The Compasypolicy is to record interest and penalties oreutain ta:
positions as part of tax expense. As of Februan20&1, the Company had no uncertain tax positmtsno interest or penalties were accr
Tax years subsequent to the year ending Novemb&0B® remain open to examination by federal aatégbx authorities.

Total income tax expense (benefit) differs from #mount computed by applying the federal statutbcpme tax rate of 34 percent to
investment income and realized and unrealized gairiavestments before taxes as follows:

For the three

months ended

February 28, 2011

For the three
months ended

February 28, 2010

Application of statutory income tax rate $ 289,34: $ 1,612,67
State income taxes, net of federal taxes 15,48¢ 166,48!
Other (8,560) -
Change in deferred tax valuation allowance (558,53) (1,053,51)
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ (262,267  $ 725,65:

The provision for income taxes is computed by aioglythe federal statutory rate plus a blended stateme tax rate. The component:

income tax include the following for the periodegented:

For the three
months ended

February 28, 2011

For the three
months ended

February 28, 2010

Deferred tax expense (benefit)

Federal $ (248,93) $ 657,74¢
State (13,325) 67,90:
Total deferred expense (benefit) $ (262,269 % 725,65:

The deferred income tax expense (benefit) for treet months ended February 28, 2011 and Februarg@® includes the impact of -

change in valuation allowance for such respectangopls.

As of November 30, 2010, the Company had a netatiper loss for federal income tax purposes of axprately $17,798,000. The 1
operating loss may be carried forward for 20 yeHrsot utilized, this net operating loss will exgias follows: $3,911,000, $3,381,C
$7,119,000 and $3,387,000 in the years 2027, 220289, and 2030, respectively. As of November 30,02@he Company had a capital |
carryforward of approximately $12,000,000 which nisey carried forward for 5 years. If not utilizetijst capital loss will expire in the ye
ending November 30, 2014. The amount of the deddar asset for these itemsFebruary 28, 2011 also includes amounts for thmgdrom



December 1, 2010 through February 28, 2011. Fquorations, capital losses can only be used to bfapital gains and cannot be use
offset ordinary income. As of November 30, 2010,adternative minimum tax credit of $3,109 was aafsli¢, which may be credited in
future against regular income tax. This credit rhaycarried forward indefinitely.

13




The aggregate cost of securities for federal inctargurposes and securities with unrealized ajgtien and depreciation, were as follows:

February 28, 2011 November 30, 2010

Aggregate cost for federal income tax purposes $ 68,541,36 $ 68,894,46
Gross unrealized appreciation 29,901,88 32,072,97
Gross unrealized depreciation (2,337,87) (5,765,01)
Net unrealized appreciatic $ 27,564,00 $ 26,307,96

6. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Various inputs are used in determining the faiueadf the Compang’investments. These inputs are summarized irhtiee broad levels list
below:

e Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for ideaitinvestments
e Level 2 — other significant observable inputs (itthg quoted prices for similar investments, madatoborated inputs, etc.)

e Level 3 — significant unobservable inputs (incluglthe Company’s own assumptions in determininddirevalue of investments)

Valuation Techniques
In general, and where applicable, the Company wsagdily available market quotations based uponldlse updated sales price from
principal market to determine fair value. This prgcmethodology applies to the Company’s Level\viesiments.

An equity security of a publicly traded company @icgd in a private placement transaction withoglisgation under the Securities Act
1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”), is subject girigtions on resale that can affect the secwgifgir value. If such a security is convert
into publiclytraded common shares, the security generally wilvdlued at the common share market price adjusteal percentage discol
due to the restrictions. This pricing methodologplés to the Company’s Level 2 investments.

For private company investments, value is oftetized through a liquidity event of the entire compaTherefore, the value of the compan
a whole (enterprise value) at the reporting datenoprovides the best evidence of the value ofrthestment and is the initial step for valu
the Companyg privately issued securities. For any one companigrprise value may best be expressed as a odrfigie values, from which
single estimate of fair value will be derived. Ieteérmining the enterprise value of a portfolio camy the Company prepares an ana
consisting of traditional valuation methodologiesluding market and income approaches. The Compangiders some or all of the traditic
valuation methods based on the individual circuntsta of the portfolio company in order to derivedstimate of enterprise value. This prit
methodology applies to the Company’s Level 3 inwestts.

The inputs or methodology used for valuing secesitire not necessarily an indication of the rigoaiated with investing in those securit

The following tables provide the fair value measoeats of applicable Company assets and liabiliiiekevel within the fair value hierarchy
of February 28, 2011 and November 30, 2010. Thesetsiare measured on a recurring basis.

February 28, 2011

Fair Value at
Description February 28, 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Equity Investments $ 90,106,70 $ 21,80588 $ — $ 68,300,81
Debt Investments 3,800,00! — — 3,800,00!
Short-Term Investments 2,198,66! 2,198,66! — —
Total Investments $ 96,10537 $ 24,00455 $ — $ 72,100,81
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November 30, 2010

Fair Value at
Description November 30, 201 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Equity Investments $ 89,936,23 $ 20,806,82 $ $ 69,129,40
Debt Investments 3,800,00! — 3,800,00!
Short-Term Investments 1,466,19: 1,466,19: —
Total Investments $ 9520242 $ 2227301 $ $ 72,929,40

The changes for all Level 3 assets measured avdiie on a recurring basis using significant ueobsble inputs for the three months er

February 28, 2011 and February 28, 2010, are ksl

Three months ended

February 28, 2011

Three months ended

February 28, 2010

Fair value beginning balance $  72,929,40 $  77,146,52
Total realized and unrealized gains (losses) iredud net increase (decrease)

in net assets applicable to common stocldreld (744,58 3,998,84
Purchases 400,00( 750,00(
Sales (400,000 (9,839,19)
Return of capital adjustments impacting cost bakgecurities (84,009 (974,810
Fair value ending balance $ 72,100,81 $ 71,081,35
The amount of total gains (losses) for the penauded in net increase (decrease)

in net assets applicable to common stocldrsldttributable to the change in

unrealized gains (losses) relating to assétdeld at the reporting date $ (744,58 $ 3,981,48.

There were no transfers between levels for theethmenths ended February 28, 2011 and February02®, 2espectively.
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7. Restricted Securities

Certain of the Company’investments are restricted and are valued asntieed in accordance with procedures establishethéyBoard ¢
Directors and more fully described in Note 2. Thlolwing tables show the equity interest, numbeumits or principal amount, the acquisit
date(s), acquisition cost (excluding return of tapadjustments), fair value, fair value per urisoch securities and fair value as percent c
assets applicable to common stockholders as olilBepP8, 2011 and November 30, 2010.

February 28, 2011

Equity Interest, Fair Fair Value as
Units or Acquisition Acquisition Fair Value Percent of
Investment Security Principal Amount Date(s) Cost Value Per Unit Net Assets
High Sierra Energy, LP Common Units 1,042,68! 11/2/06 $24,828,83 $20,520,03 $ 19.6¢ 21.5%
11/15/0¢
High Sierra Energy GP, LL Equity Interest 2.31% 11/2/06- 2,015,96! 53,48¢ N/A 0.1
5/1/07
International Resource Class A Units 500,00( 6/12/07 10,000,000 30,455,00 60.91 31.¢
Partners LP
LONESTAR Midstream Class A Units 1,327,900 7/27/07-  2,149,26! 216,00( 0.1€ 0.2
Partners, LI 4/2/0¢
LSMP GP, LPY) GP LP Units 18C  7/27/07 120,04¢ 39,00 216.6 0.C
4/2/0¢
Mowood, LLC Equity Interest 10(% 6/5/06- 1,000,000 4,936,336 N/A 5.2
8/4/0¢
Subordinated Debt $ 3,800,001 7/28/1( 3,800,00! 3,800,00! N/A 4.C
VantaCore Partners LP Common Units 933,43( 5/21/07- 17,911,08 11,639,87 12.43 12.2
8/4/0¢
Preferred Units 23,18¢ 2/25/11 359,36° 405,73 17.5C 0.4
Incentive Distributio 98¢  5/21/07- 143,93¢ 35,32: 35.7¢ 0.C
Rights 8/4/0¢
$62,328,50 $72,100,81 75.4%
1) See Note — Investment Transactions for additional informati
November 30, 2010
Equity Interest, Fair Fair Value as
Units or Acquisition Acquisition Fair Value Percent of
Investment Security Principal Amount Date(s) Cost Value Per Unit Net Assets
High Sierra Energy, LP Common Units 1,042,68! 11/2/06- $24,828,83 $20,666,00 $ 19.82 21.€%
11/15/0¢
High Sierra Energy GP, LL Equity Interest 2.3% 11/2/06- 2,015,96! 602,83: N/A 0.€
5/1/07
International Resource Class A Units 500,00( 6/12/07 10,000,000 28,155,00 56.31 29.k
Partners LP
LONESTAR Midstream Class A Units 1,327,901 7/127/07-  2,149,26! 208,00( 0.1€ 0.2
Partners, LI 4/2/0¢
LSMP GP, LP®) GP LP Units 18C 7127/07 120,04¢ 37,00 205.5¢ 0.1
4/2/0¢
Mowood, LLC Equity Interest 10%  6/5/06- 1,000,001 5,492,24 N/A 5.8
8/4/0¢
Subordinated Debt $ 3,800,001 7128/1( 3,800,00! 3,800,00! N/A 4.C
VantaCore Partners LP Common Units 933,43( 5/21/07- 18,270,44 13,814,76 14.8( 14.5
8/4/0¢
Incentive Distributiol 98¢ 5/21/07 143,93¢ 153,55¢ 155.47 0.1
Rights 8/4/0¢




$62,328,50 $72,929,40 76.4%

1) See Note — Investment Transactions for additional informati
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8. Investments in Affiliates and Control Entities

Investments representing 5 percent or more of thstanding voting securities of a portfolio compaggult in that company being conside
an affiliated company, as defined in the 1940 Avtestments representing 25 percent or more obthstanding voting securities of a portft
company result in that company being consideredrdral company, as defined in the 1940 Act. Theregate fair value of all securities
affiliates and controlled entities held by the Camyp as of February 28, 2011 amounted to $72,0471@pdesenting 75.3 percent of net as
applicable to common stockholders. The aggregatevédue of all securities of affiliates and coriked entities held by the Company a:
November 30, 2010 amounted to $72,326,575, reptiageid5.7 percent of net assets applicable to comstockholders. A summary
affiliated transactions for each company whichrisvas an affiliate or controlled entity at Febru@8, 2011 or during the three months 1
ended and at November 30, 2010 or during the ywar énded is as follows:

February 28, 2011

Units/ Units/
Equity Interest/ Gross Equity Interest/
Principal Distributions Principal
Balance Gross Gross Realized Gair  or Interest Balance Fair Value
11/30/10 Additions Reductions (Loss) Received 2/28/11 2/28/11
High Sierra Energy, LE) 1,042,68 $ — $ — $ — $ — 1,042,68" $20,520,03
International Resource Partners LP 500,00( — — — 300,00( 500,00( 30,455,00
LONESTAR Midstream Partners, LP®) 1,327,901 — — — — 1,327,90 216,00(
LSMP GP, LPD@ 18C — — — — 18C 39,00(
Mowood, LLC Subordinated Debt $3,800,00! 400,00( (400,000 —  135,33( $3,800,00t 3,800,00!
Mowood, LLC Equity Interest 10C% — — — 70,16¢ 10C% 4,936,36'
VantaCore Partners LP Common Units 933,43( — (359,36 — 84,00¢ 933,43( 11,639,87
VantaCore Partners LP Preferred Ufiits — 359,36° — — — 23,18¢ 405,73
VantaCore Partners LP Incentive 98¢ — — — — 98¢ 35,32:
Distribution Right$V)
$759,36" $(759,36") $ — $ 589,50 $72,047,33
1) Currently nor-income producing
2) See Note — Investment Transactions for additional informati
November 30, 2010
Units/ Units/
Equity Interest/ Gross Equity Interest/
Principal Distributions Principal
Balance Gross Gross Realized Gain or Interest Balance Fair Value
11/30/09 Additions Reductions (Loss) Received 11/30/10 11/30/10
High Sierra Energy, LV 1,042,68 $ — $ — $ — $ 656,89. 1,042,68 $20,666,00
International Resource Partners LP 500,00( — — — 950,00( 500,00( 28,155,00
LONESTAR Midstream Partners, L(P() 1,327,901 — (890,947) 87,58t — 1,327,901 208,00(
LSMP GP, LPD(@) 18C — (17,25/) (1,221) — 18C 37,00(
Mowood, LLC Subordinated Debt $ 8,800,001 750,00  (5,750,00) — 720,32 $3,800,00! 3,800,00!
Mowood, LLC Equity Interest 99.5% — (5,528,40) 2,356,40 248,42¢ 10C% 5,492,24
Quest Midstream Partners, L.P. 1,216,88. — (9,915,45) (9,607,11) — — —
VantaCore Partners LP Common Units 933,43l — — — 1,773,551 933,43( 13,814,76
VantaCore Partners LP Incentive 98¢ — — — — 98¢ 153,55!
Distribution Right$b
$750,00( $(22,102,05) $(7,164,34) $4,349,15 $72,326,57

1) Currently nor-income producing
) See Note — Investment Transactions for additional informati

9. Investment Transactions

For the three months ended February 28, 2011, timep@ny purchased (at cost) securities in the amofu$iz,970,756 and sold securities
proceeds) in the amount of $8,172,306 (excludingrtdierm debt securities). For the three months enddafuary 28, 2010, the Comp:
purchased (at cost) securities in the amount cO®® and sold securities (at proceeds) in the atnafu$9,839,190 (excluding sh-term dek



securities).

On July 17, 2008, LONESTAR Midstream Partners LPQNESTAR”) closed a transaction with Penn Virginia Resourcen@ss, L.F
(NYSE: PVR) for the sale of its gas gathering arahdportation assets. LONESTAR distributed subistiiyall of the initial sales proceeds
its limited partners but did not redeem partnershiprests. The Company received a distributio®1dd,476,511 in cash, 468,001 newly iss
unregistered common units of PVR, and 59,503 ustegid common units of Penn Virginia GP Holding®.(NYSE: PVG). On February
2009, the Company received a distribution of 37,888Bly tradable common units of PVR and 4,743lfréadable common units of PVG.
July 17, 2009, the Company received an additional
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distribution of 37,304 freely tradable common urgfsPVR and 4,744 freely tradable common units WGP On December 31, 2009, -
Company received a cash distribution from LONEST#R804,387. For purposes of the capital gain itigcerfee, the realized gain tot
$1,756,189. Pursuant to the Investment Advisorye&grent, the capital gain incentive fee is paid aliywnly if there are realization eve
and only if the calculation defined in the agreemessults in an amount due. No capital gain ineenfiees have been paid since
commencement of operations. There are also twonpatefuture contingent payments due from LONESTARIch are based on t
achievement of specific revenue targets by or leefaine 30, 2013. No payments are due if these ueviamgets are not achieved. If recei
the Company’s expected portion would total apprataty $9,638,829, payable in cash or common urfiBuR (at PVRS election). The fa
value of the LONESTAR and LSMP GP, LP units, whictals $255,000 as of February 28, 2011, is basaghobservable inputs related to
potential receipt of these future payments relativihe sales transaction.

10. Common Stock
The Company has 100,000,000 shares authorized,246,906 shares outstanding at February 28, 20d Namember 30, 2010.

11. Warrants

At February 28, 2011 and November 30, 2010, the gizom had 945,594 warrants issued and outstandimgwhrrants became exercisabli
February 7, 2007 (the closing date of the Compamjtigl public offering of common shares), subjéata lockup period with respect to t
underlying common shares. Each warrant entitleshtiider to purchase one common share at the egepdise of $15.00 per common sh
Warrants were issued as separate instruments fnencammon shares and are permitted to be trandfardependently from the comnr
shares. The warrants have no voting rights andcctimemon shares underlying the unexercised warraithawve no voting rights until sus
common shares are received upon exercise of thamar All warrants will currently expire on Febry®, 2013.

12. Earnings Per Share
The following table sets forth the computation asie and diluted earnings per share:

For the three For the three
months ended months ended

February 28, 201: February 28, 201(

Net increase in net assets applicable to commakistdders

resulting from operations $ 1,113271 $ 4,017,52
Basic and diluted weighted average shédes 9,146,501 9,078,091
Basic and diluted net increase in net assets atyéic

to common stockholders resulting from operet

per common share $ 01z $ 0.4

1) Warrants to purchase shares of common stock aO$lger share were outstanding during the periodecged in the table above, but were not includethe computation of dilut
earnings per share because the warr’ exercise price was greater than the average mariiete of the common shares and, therefore, theteffeuld be an-dilutive.

13. Subsequent Events
On March 1, 2011, the Company paid a distributiothe amount of $0.10 per common share, for a &6t&#014,654. Of this total, the divide
reinvestment amounted to $88,196.

The Company performed an evaluation of subsequesnite through the date the financial statementsvigsued and determined that
additional items require recognition or disclosure.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  (Unaudited)

Director and Officer Compensation

The Company does not compensate any of its direethp are “interested personsis(defined in Section 2 (a) (19) of the 1940 Actaoy o
its officers. For the three months ended Febru&y2P11, the aggregate compensation paid by thep@oynto the independent directors
$21,000. The Company did not pay any special cosgtem to any of its directors or officers.

Forward-Looking Statements
This report contains “forward-looking statementBYy their nature, all forwardboking statements involve risk and uncertaintiesg actu:
results could differ materially from those conteatpt by the forward-looking statements.

Certifications
The Companys Chief Executive Officer submitted to the New Ydkock Exchange the annual CEO certification asiired by Sectio
303A.12(a) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual.

The Company has filed with the SEC the certificatid its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finarla@fficer required by Section 302 of 1
Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Proxy Voting Policies

A description of the policies and procedures that€ompany uses to determine how to vote proxlasing to portfolio securities owned by
Company is available to stockholders (i) withouaige, upon request by calling the Company at (983)1020 or toll-free at (866) 362331
and on the Company’s Web site at www.tortoiseadsisom/tto.cfm; and (ii) on the SEC’s Web site atwvsec.gov.

Privacy Policy

The Company is committed to maintaining the privatits stockholders and safeguarding their pablic personal information. The followi
information is provided to help you understand wpettsonal information the Company collects, how @wnpany protects that informat
and why, in certain cases, the Company may shéramation with select other parties.

Generally, the Company does not receive any notligopbrsonal information relating to its stockhaiglealthough certain nopublic person:
information of its stockholders may become avadata the Company. The Company does not disclosenanypublic personal informatic
about its stockholders or a former stockholderrtgoae, except as required by law or as is hecessargder to service stockholder accol
(for example, to a transfer agent).

The Company restricts access to mpaidlic personal information about its stockholdergmployees of its Adviser with a legitimate buesi
need for the information. The Company maintainssidal, electronic and procedural safeguards dedigngrotect the nopublic person:
information of its stockholders.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT ’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Statements contained herein, other than historiaats, may constitute “forward-looking statement$liese statements may relate to, an
other things, future events or our future perforaror financial condition. In some cases, you adentify forwardlooking statements
terminology such as “may,” “might,” “believe,” “wil,” “provided,” “anticipate,” “future,” “could,” “g rowth,” “plan,” “intend,” “expect,”
“should,” “would,” “if,” “seek,” “possible,” “poten tial,” “likely” or the negative of such terms or eoparable terminology. These forward-
looking statements involve known and unknown rigksgertainties and other factors that may cause actual results, levels of activi
performance or achievements to be materially déffierfrom any anticipated results, levels of acfivigerformance or achievements expre

or implied by such forward-looking statements. Rodiscussion of factors that could cause our acteslilts to differ from forwardboking
statements contained herein, please see the disoussder the heading “Risk Factorsh Part I, Item 1A. of our most recent Annual Re
filed on Form 1-K.

We may experience fluctuations in our operatingitssdue to a number of factors, including the retan our equity investments, the inte
rates payable on our debt investments, the defat#ts on such investments, the level of our exgengegiations in and the timing of 1
recognition of realized and unrealized gains orsles, the degree to which we encounter competitioour markets and general econo
conditions. As a result of these factors, resutsahy period should not be relied upon as beirdjdative of performance in future periods.

Overview

We have elected to be regulated as a BDC and welassified as a non-diversified closedd management investment company unde
1940 Act. As a BDC, we are subject to numerous legiguns and restrictions. Unlike most investmentnpanies, we are taxed as a ger
business corporation under the Code.

We have invested primarily in privately-held andcrmicap public companies operating in the U.S. enerdsastructure sector. We he
invested in companies in the energy infrastructgetor that we expect to produce stable cash fasas result of their feleased revenues &
proactive hedging programs, which help to limiedircommodity price risk.

Performance Review and Investment Outlook

Our net asset value was $10.46 as of February@8,,Zompared to $10.44 at November 30, 2010. Tioéastment return, based on net ¢
value and assuming reinvestment of distributiores approximately 1.4 percent for the three montiteéFebruary 28, 2011. Our stock pi
also increased this quarter, closing at $8.50 dwlgey 28, 2011 compared to $7.28 on November B002Total investment return basec
market value and assuming reinvestment of disiobst was approximately 18.1 percent for the thmemths ended February 28, 2011.
fair value of our investment portfolio, excludingnastterm investments at February 28, 2011, was appmteiy $93.9 million, wit
approximately 77 percent of the portfolio in prigainvestments totaling $72.1 million and approxiehat23 percent in publiclyradec
investments totaling $21.8 million. Our portfolis diversified among approximately 51 percent metsin and downstream investment
percent upstream, and 45 percent in aggregatescahd

This quarters distribution of $0.10 per share was in excessuofDCF for the quarter. Assuming the sale of miipnal Resource Partners
(“IRP”) closes in the expected timeframe, we anticipaténgag distribution of not less than $0.10 per shpex quarter, for the remaindel
fiscal 2011. In order to sustain this distributi@vel for 2011, we may elect to include a smalltipor of the proceeds from the IRP s
depending on the operating performance of selgmetfiolio companies and their ability to returnnear historic distribution levels.

On January 31, 2011, we filed a proxy statement wWie SEC with respect to our annual meeting. beduwithin the proxy is a propo
unanimously approved by our Board of Directors tthdraw our election to be treated as a BDC aqéedfin the 1940 Act.

International Resource Partners LPIRP”)
IRP, headquartered in Charleston, West Virginiaa ifully integrated coal company, controlling assatross the value chain, incluc
production, logistics and marketing assets. We bolard of director’s observation rights for IRP.

The fair value of IRP increased approximately $RiBion this quarter. IRP increased its quarterigtdbution this quarter, from $0.55 per
last quarter to $0.60 per unit this quarter. On dfiaB, 2011, IRP entered into a definitive agreentergell its partnership interests to Ja
River Coal Company (NASDAQ: JRCC). This transaci®mexpected to close in the first half of 2011jsubto completion of various closi
conditions. Our portion of the initial sales prodeés expected to be approximately $31.1 milliocash, with an additional $2.1 million helc
escrow for a period of up to 14 months. The releafsescrow funds is contingent upon a number ofofag including coal reserves ¢
resolution of outstanding regulatory items. We @péte
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investing the proceeds of the sale of IRP in plipliaded MLPs and cash equivalents, pending bdemoyed in new qualifying investme
and subject to limitations on publicly traded inweents in the BDC structure.

Mowood, LLC (Mowood”)

Mowood is the holding company of Omega PipelineCL{:Omega”).Omega is a natural gas local distribution compammated on the Fc
Leonard Wood military installation in soutentral Missouri. Omega serves the natural gassneeHort Leonard Wood and other custome
the surrounding area. We hold 100 percent of thitemterests in Mowood and hold a seat on itsrbad directors.

The fair value of Mowood decreased approximatelys $fillion this quarter, generally due to a deceeisthe probability of receiving futt
contingent payments related to the Timberline Enekd)C sale. We provide a revolving line of cretbt Mowood with a maximum princig
balance of $5.3 million. The line of credit providlowood flexibility related to seasonal fluctuatioin working capital. At February 28, 20
the principal balance outstanding was $3.8 milliblawood’s subsidiary, Omega, continues to perform at budgetDecember 31, 2010
tornado touched down on Fort Leonard Wood, desigpgver 30 houses. Omeggiipeline system was relatively undamaged by dheatic
and the financial effects of the tornado are nqgieeted to be significant. Fort Leonard Wood corgstio grow, and Omega expects
construction revenues will bolster its performaimc2011.

VantaCore Partners LP (“VantaCore”)
VantaCore was formed to acquire companies in tlyeeggte industry and currently owns a quarry amthas plant in Clarksville, Tennes:
and sand and gravel operations located near BatagdR Louisiana. We hold a seat on VantaCore’schofdirectors.

The fair value of VantaCore decreased approxima$ly® million this quarter. VantaCore was unablemeet its minimum quartel
distribution (“MQD") of $0.475 per unit for its quarter ended Decemler2010. Common and preferred unitholders eleaiedeive the
distributions as a combination of $0.09 in cash #wedremainder in newly issued preferred units.rééeived 23,185 preferred units in addi
to the $0.09 in cash per common unit. VantaCorented year-tadate EBITDA through December 31, 2010 below budgee Souther
Aggregates property in Louisiana continues toghbirt of budget but VantaCore is optimistic thghsiof improvement in the building indus
in the area, along with costitting measures imposed by management, will lnefirave their performance in 2011. Results from apens ir
Clarksville, Tennessee were strong, but 2011 margie expected to come under pressure as new dtorpéas entered the market |
several larger construction projects are nearimgpetion.

High Sierra Energy, LP *High Sierra”)

High Sierra is a holding company with diversifieddsiream energy assets focused on the transportastorage, and marketing
hydrocarbons and the processing of oilfield wal&e companys businesses include a natural gas liquids logistiansportation and market
business operating throughout the lower 48 statestural gas storage facility in Mississippi, dha@ol terminal in Nevada, crude oil
natural gas liquids trucking businesses in KansasGolorado, crude oil gathering, transportatiod ararketing services, primarily focusec
the Mid-Continent, Western and Gulf Coast regions, wattinent, transportation and disposal businessesgesil and gas producers
Wyoming and Oklahoma, and two asphalt processiagkagging and distribution terminals in Florida. Wed board of directorsdbservatio
rights for High Sierra.

The fair value of High Sierra decreased slightlyiniy the quarter. High Sierra has not made cagtilalisions to its LP and GP unit holders
the last four consecutive quarters. On March 16,1268ligh Sierra closed on a new $215 milliorye&r committed senior secured credit fac
led by BNP Paribas. The new credit facility is estee to provide a level of stability and flexibflito meet the needs of the partnership’
existing operations and provide a base of workiagjtal to take advantage of market opportunitié¢se fiew facility also financed the buyou
High Sierras minority partners at Anticline Disposal, resudtim High Sierra owning 100 percent of the membigrgtiterests of that busine
The closing represents a very positive event fergértnership and we believe this, along with imprboperations, should allow High Sierr.
return to paying cash distributions.

Recent Developments
On March 1, 2011, the Company paid a distributiothe amount of $0.10 per common share, for a &té014,654. Of this total, the divide
reinvestment amounted to $88,196.

Portfolio Company Monitoring

Our Adviser monitors each portfolio company to defi@ee progress relative to meeting the companyusiness plan and to assess
companys strategic and tactical courses of action. Thigitoang may be accomplished by attendance at boadirectors meetings, ad f
communications with company management, the reweperiodic operating and financial reports, anlgsia of relevant reserve informati
and capital expenditure plans, and periodic coasiafis with engineers, geologists, and other egp@&tte performance of each private port
company is also periodically compared to perforneainé similarly sized companies with comparable @ssnd businesses to as:
performance relative to peers. Our Advisemonitoring activities are expected to providevith information that will enable us to moni
compliance with existing covenants, to enhanceadility to
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make qualified valuation decisions, and to assistevaluation of the nature of the risks involvedeiach individual investment. In additi
these monitoring activities should enable our Advi® diagnose and manage the common risk factddstly our total portfolio, such as se«
concentration, exposure to a single financial spora sensitivity to a particular geography.

As part of the monitoring process, our Adviser aunlly assesses the risk profile of each of ourgte investments. We intend to disclose
appropriate, those risk factors that we deem nasvvant in assessing the risk of any particulaegiment. Such factors may include, but
not limited to, the investmerst’current cash distribution status, compliance Vai#im covenants, operating and financial perforrmanbanges
the regulatory environment or other factors thatekeve are useful in determining overall investimisk.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months Ended February 2812 and February 28, 2010

Investment Incomelnvestment income totaled $561,786 for the threathmended February 28, 2011. This representsraater of $130,3°
as compared to the three months ended Februarg@&). The decrease in investment income is prignatile to a decrease in the t
distributions from investments, offset by a decegasthe amount of such distributions characteredeturn of capital.

Net ExpensesNet expenses totaled $388,523 for the three maitled February 28, 2011. This represents a decoé&§89,932 as compar
to the three months ended February 28, 2010. Theedse is primarily related to an increase in tigeese reimbursement from the Adv
and a decrease in interest expense resulting fiersltmination of our outstanding leverage.

Distributable Cash FlowOur portfolio generates cash flow to us from whigh pay distributions to stockholders. When our BaafrDirector:
determines the amount of any distribution we expeqiay our stockholders, it reviews distributabéesh flow (“DCF”).DCF is distribution
received from investments less our total experiBls.total distributions received from our investiseimclude the amount received by u
cash distributions from equity investments, paiddimd distributions, and dividend and interest pagitee Total expenses include curren
anticipated operating expenses, leverage costswanent income taxes on our operating income. Tatpkenses do not include deferred inc
taxes or accrued capital gain incentive fees. Waatanclude in DCF the value of distributions reegl from portfolio companies which
paid in stock as a result of credit constraintstkatadislocation or other similar issues.

We disclose DCF in order to provide supplementébrmation regarding our results of operations amdemhhance our investorsveral
understanding of our core financial performance @mdprospects for the future. We believe thatinuestors benefit from seeing the result
DCF in addition to GAAP information. This non-GAARformation facilitates managemesttomparison of current results with histor
results of our operations and with those of ourge€his information is not in accordance with,aor alternative to, GAAP and may not
comparable to similarly titted measures reporteather companies.
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The following table represents DCF for the threethe ended February 28, 2011 as compared to the thonths ended February 28, 2010:

Three Three
Months Ended Months Ended
Distributable Cash Flow February 28, 2011 February 28, 2010
Total from Investments
Distributions from investments $ 731,99 $ 1,488,75
Distributions paid in stock 23,361 —
Interest income from investments 135,33( 191,43:
Dividends from money market mutual funds 19C 217
Other income — 10,39:
Total from Investments 890,87 1,690,791
Operating Expenses Before Leverage Costs
Advisory fees (net of expense reimburserbgridviser) 234,68( 258,26¢
Other operating expenses 153,84¢ 174,56¢
Total Operating Expenses, before kage Costs 388,52 432,83¢
Distributable cash flow before leverage sost 502,35« 1,257,96!
Leverage Costs — 45,61¢
Distributable Cash Flow $ 502,35: $ 1,212,34
Distributions paid on common stock $ 914,65: $ 1,180,15:
Payout percentage for period® 182% 97%
DCF/GAAP Reconciliation
Distributable Cash Flow $ 502,35: $ 1,212,34
Adjustments to reconcile to Net Investmertioime, before Income Tax
Distributions paid in sto€k (23,367 —
Return of capital on distributionsee/ed from
equity investments (305,729 (998,64()
Net Investment Income, before Income Taxes $ 173,26! $ 213,70

1) Distributions paid as a percentage of Distribuiash Flow
2) Distributions paid in stock for the three monthsled February 28, 2011 were paid as part of nornp@rations and are included in DC

Distributions: The following table sets forth distributions foetthree months ended February 28, 2011 as compathd three months enc
February 28, 2010.

Record Date Payment Date Amount
February 18, 2011 March 1,201  $0.10
February 19, 2010 March 1,201  $0.13

Net Investment IncomNet investment income after deferred taxes forttinee months ended February 28, 2011 was $112948rapared 1
$181,007 for the three months ended February 2B).ZDhe variance in net investment income is prilpaelated to decreases in investrr
income which were offset by decreases in net exgsedaring the current fiscal periods as descrileda

Net Realized and Unrealized GaWe had net unrealized appreciation (before deferares) of $303,923 for the three months endeduzgey
28, 2011 as compared to $2,941,305 for the threettmoended February 28, 2010. We had net realizénus gbefore deferred taxes)
$373,822 for the three months ended February 2B],28s compared to net realized gains (before @efeaxes) of $1,588,168 for the tt
months ended February 28, 2010. Net realized daimnthe three months ended February 28, 2011 wigniblded to a realized gain on the ¢
of Abraxas Petroleum Corporation shares partidfiyed by a realized loss on the sale of PostRoak@nCorporation shares.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We may raise additional capital to support our fiatgrowth through equity offerings, rights offerip@gnd issuances of senior securities t
extent permitted by the 1940 Act and subject tokeiaconditions. We generally may not issue additi@mommon shares at a price below
net asset value (net of any sales load (undengrdiacount)) without first obtaining approval ofr@iockholders and Board of Directors.
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Contractual Obligations
We do not have any significant contractual paynodatigations as of February 28, 2011.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any offalance sheet arrangements that have or are rédgdikely to have a current or future effect onrdinancia
condition, changes in financial condition, revenaegsxpenses, results of operations, liquidity itedexpenditures, or capital resources.

Borrowings
The Company did not have any borrowings outstandimgng the three months ended February 28, 2011.

Critical Accounting Policies

The financial statements included in this repod Based on the selection and application of clittgaounting policies, which requ
management to make significant estimates and agsmapCritical accounting policies are those thie both important to the presentatio
our financial condition and results of operationsl aequire managemeatmost difficult, complex or subjective judgmentéhile our critica
accounting policies are discussed below, NotethénNotes to Financial Statements included in riyrt provides more detailed disclosur
all of our significant accounting policies.

Valuation of Portfolio Investments

We invest primarily in illiquid securities includindebt and equity securities of privatélgld companies. These investments generall
subject to restrictions on resale, have no estadadigrading market and are fair valued on a qusrbesis. Because of the inherent uncert:
of valuation, the fair values of such investmenmtsich are determined in accordance with procedapgsoved by our Board of Directors, n
differ materially from the values that would haweeh used had a ready market existed for the inesdtm

Securities Transactions and Investment Income Regibtign

Securities transactions are accounted for on tteettla securities are purchased or sold (tradg.d@¢alized gains and losses are reported
identified cost basis. Distributions received froor equity investments generally are comprisedrdinary income, capital gains and retur
capital from the portfolio company. We record invesnt income and returns of capital based on egtgnaade at the time such distributi
are received. Such estimates are based on infamatiailable from each portfolio company and/oreotindustry sources. These estimates
subsequently be revised based on information redeiom the portfolio companies after their taxaeimg periods are concluded, as the a
character of these distributions are not knownl @fiter our fiscal year end.

Federal and State Income Taxation

We, as a corporation, are obligated to pay fedanal state income tax on our taxable income. Ourtgense or benefit is included in
Statement of Operations based on the componemicofrie or gains (losses) to which such expense refivgelates. Deferred income ta
reflect the net tax effects of temporary differenbetween the carrying amounts of assets anditiabifor financial reporting purposes and
amounts used for income tax purposes.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES AB OUT MARKET RISK

Our business activities contain elements of marik&t We consider fluctuations in the value of equity securities to beur principal marke
risk. There were no material changes to our maigktexposure at February 28, 2011 as compareeéhouary 28, 2010.

We carry our investments at fair value, as deteedhioy our Board of Directors. The fair value ofs#ges is determined using readily availe
market quotations from the principal market if dable. The fair value of securities that are noblmly traded or whose market price is
readily available is determined in good faith by Board of Directors. Because there are no readigilable market quotations for many of
investments in our portfolio, we value a large ortof our portfolio investments at fair value astetmined in good faith by our Board
Directors under a valuation policy and a consisyesyplied valuation process. Due to the inhererteutainty of determining the fair value
investments that do not have readily available ®iagkiotations, the fair value of our investmenty miéfer significantly from the fair valut
that would have been used had a ready market duogtisted for such investments, and these difiezs could be material.

As of February 28, 2011, the fair value of our istweent portfolio (excluding shotérm investments) totaled $93,906,701. We estirfetethe
impact of a 10 percent increase or decrease ifiaih@alue of these investments, net of relatecedef] taxes, would increase or decreas
assets applicable to common stockholders by apmately $6,026,932.

Debt investments in our portfolio may be based loating or fixed rates. As of February 28, 2011, el no floating rate debt investme
outstanding.
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We consider the management of risk essential talwcting our businesses. Accordingly, our risk mamagnt systems and procedures
designed to identify and analyze our risks, toaggiropriate policies and limits and to continuatipnitor these risks and limits by mean
reliable administrative and information systems atiter policies and programs.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our management, with the participation of our Cliskecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, hagaluated the effectiveness of
disclosure controls and procedures (as defineduiledR13a-15(e) or 1515(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) ashefend of th
period covered by this report as required by palyr(b) of Rule 13a-15 or 156 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Basezhugucl
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chigfidcial Officer concluded that our disclosure colst and procedures were effective
provided reasonable assurance that informationinedjto be disclosed by us in the reports we filsimit under the Securities Exchange
of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized andtegpaithin the time periods specified in the SE&s and forms, and that such informa
is accumulated and communicated to our managermahiding our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Birtial Officer, as appropriate,
allow timely decisions regarding required discl@sur

There have been no changes in our internal coatrel financial reporting (identified in connectiaith the evaluation required by paragr
(d) of Rules 13a-15 or 15th of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) durimg fiscal quarter ended February 28, 2011, tha¢ maateriall’
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf, our internal control over financial reporting
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PART Il — OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are not currently subject to any material lggateeding, nor, to our knowledge, is any matéeigdl proceeding threatened against us.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
In addition to the other information set forth mstreport, you should carefully consider the festdiscussed in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors”
in our Annual Report on Form I0{or the fiscal year ended November 30, 2010, Wiiiculd materially affect our business, financiahditior
or operating results. The risks described in ounual Report on Form 1R-are not the only risks facing our Company. Adifil risks an
uncertainties not currently known to us or thatamerently deem to be immaterial also may materiatlyersely affect our business, finan
condition and/or operating results.
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
We did not sell any securities during the three theended February 28, 2011 that were not registander the Securities Act of 1933.
We did not repurchase any of our common sharesigltine three months ended February 28, 2011.
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None
ITEM 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED)
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
None

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit Description
10.1 Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 6, 2011,nbly between Lightfoot Capital Partners, LP, Inteoral Industries, Inc

International Resource Partners LP LLC, Kayne Asder Energy Development Company, and Tortoise Japtesource
Corporation, and James River Coal Company andratiemal Resource Partners GP LLC, as Agent,ésl filerewith

31.1 Certification by Chief Executive Officer pursuantExchange Act Rule 1-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of thea8a-
Oxley Act of 2002, is filed herewitt

31.2 Certification by Chief Financial Officer pursuantExchange Act Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted purdag®ection 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, is filed herewitl

32.1 Certification by Chief Executive Officer and ChiEfnancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section @,3&8s adopted pursuani
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002, is furnished herewi

All other exhibits for which provision is made ihet applicable regulations of the Securities andhBrge Commission are not required u
the related instruction or are inapplicable andefare have been omitted.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the registrant has duly causedréport to be signed on its behalf by
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

TORTOISE CAPITAL RESOURCES CORPORATION

Date: April 7, 2011 By: /s/ Terry Matlack
Terry Matlack
Authorized Officer and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 10.1

PURCHASE AGREEMENT

BY AND BETWEEN

LIGHTFOOT CAPITAL PARTNERS, LP
INTERNATIONAL INDUSTRIES, INC.
INTERNATIONAL RESOURCE PARTNERS GP LLC
KAYNE ANDERSON ENERGY DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
AND

TORTOISE CAPITAL RESOURCES CORPORATION

AND

JAMES RIVER COAL COMPANY
AND
INTERNATIONAL RESOURCE PARTNERS GP LLC

AS AGENT
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PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of March 6, 204Zntered into by and between LIGHTFOOT CAPITRARTNERS, LP,
Delaware limited partnership (“ Lightfod}, INTERNATIONAL INDUSTRIES, INC., a West Virginiaorporation (“International Industrie
"), INTERNATIONAL RESOURCE PARTNERS GP LLC, a Delave limited liability company (“ IRP_GP), KAYNE ANDERSON
ENERGY DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, a Maryland limited padrship (* KED "), and TORTOISE CAPITAL RESOURCI
CORPORATION, a Maryland corporation, (* Tortoiseand Lightfoot, International Industries, IRP GAd KED each, a “ Sellet anc
collectively “ Sellers’), JAMES RIVER COAL COMPANY, a Virginia corporatio(“ Buyer”), and IRP GP, solely to accept the duties hi
as “ Agent,” and in its individual capacity as a Seller.

WHEREAS, Lightfoot, International, IRP GP, KED afartoise own all the outstanding limited partngoshnits and gener
partnership units of International Resource Pasth&, a Delaware limited partnership (* Resourcereas”) as set forth on Schedule 3.3

WHEREAS, certain individuals own limitedrmership units of Resource Partners as set dortBchedule 3.3

WHEREAS, on or before the Closing Date, Seller aviin all of the outstanding limited partnershipits and general partners
units of Resource Partners;

WHEREAS, Resource Partners owns all of the issuretloutstanding membership interests of Internati®esources Holding:
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ Holdis 1”) through itself and IRP WV Corp., a Delaware amgtion (“ IRP WV");

WHEREAS, Holdings | owns all of the issued and tartding membership interests of International ResesiHoldings Il LLC,
Delaware limited liability company (“ Holdings ');

WHEREAS, Holdings Il owns all of the issued and stamding membership interests of International Rests, LLC, a We
Virginia limited liability company (“_Resourcey, and Resources in turn owns all of the issued artdtanding membership interests
Hampden Coal Company, LLC, a West Virginia limitéability company (*_Hampder), Rockhouse Creek Development, LLC, a V
Virginia limited liability company (* Rockhous®, Chafin Branch Coal Company, LLC, a West Virgidimited liability company (* Chafiri),
Snap Creek Mining, LLC, a West Virginia limited Bidity company (“_Snap CreeR, Logan & Kanawha Coal Co., LLC, a West Virgi
limited liability company (“ L&K ™), and IRP Kentucky LLC, a Kentucky limited lialtif company (“_IRP_Kentucky) and IRP Kentucky i
turn owns all of the issued and outstanding menhijgrimterests in each of Laurel Mountain Resourcke€, a Kentucky limited liabilit
company (“_LMR") and Buck Branch Resources LLC, a Kentucky limiteability company (“_Buck Branchi; Buck Branch together wi
Hampden, Rockhouse, Chafin, Snap Creek, L&K, IRRtKeky, and LMR, collectively, the “* Compani&sand the Companies together v
Resource Partners, IRP WV, Holdings I, Holdingarltl Resources, collectively, the “ Acquired Compaly);
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WHEREAS, Resource Partners through the Acquirechfizmies, owns certain coal mining assets inclugemnits, coal leases, 1
mineral properties, equipment, buildings, preparafacilities, mine areas and complexes, fixtuned ather assets related to the busine

coal mining (“_Mining Asset$); and
WHEREAS, Sellers desire to sell and Buwesires to purchase all of the Partnership Interastdefined herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises @he representations, warranties, covenants gneements here
contained and intending to be legally bound her#i® parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS

1.1 Certain Defined Term#s used in this Agreement, the following termalkhave the following meanings:

“ Acquired Compani€sshas the meaning set forth in the recitals to Agseement.

“ Accounting Principleshas the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a).

“ Additional Reserveshas the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(b)(i).

“ Adjustment Paymerfithas the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(f).

“ Affiliate " means, with respect to any specified Person, ahgroPerson that directly, or indirectly through ome more
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or islar common control with, such specified Person.

“ Affiliated Group’ means any affiliated group within the meaning oft®® 1504(a) of the Code or any similar group edi unde
a similar provision of state, local or foreign taw.

“ Agent’ has the meaning set forth in Section 11.1

“ Agreement means this Purchase Agreement (including the Etehibid Schedules), as amended, modified or supptechéron
time to time.

“ Alternative Financin§has the meaning set forth in Section 6.6(d).

“ Antitrust Authority” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.14(a).

“ Antitrust Laws’ has the meaning set forth in Section 6.14(a).
“ Applicable Raté has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(f).
“ Applications’ has the meaning set forth in Section 3.8(c).

2




“ Auditor” means Deloitte LLP, or such other accounting famthe parties shall mutually agree to select.

“ Audited Financial% has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4(a).

“ Benefit Plari has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(a).
“ Bonuses$ has the meaning set forth in Section 6.8(b).
“ Buck Branchi has the meaning set forth in the recitals to Agseement.

“ Business Day means any day that is not a Saturday, a Sundagher day on which banks are required or authorimetaw to bt
closed in the City of Charleston, West Virginia ahd City of New York, New York.

“ Buyer” has the meaning set forth in the first senterfdhie Agreement.

“ Buyer Indemnified Taxe% means any and all Taxes together with any costsereses or damages (including court
administrative costs and reasonable legal feeseapenses incurred in investigating and preparingfiy audit, examination, litigation or ot|
judicial or administrative proceeding) arising @fitin connection with or incident to the deterntion, assessment or collection of such T.
(a) imposed on any Acquired Company, or for whicmay otherwise be liable, with respect to (i) &ax period ending on or prior to
Closing Date or (ii) the portion of any StraddleiBé (determined in accordance with Section 6.0)2¢aying on the Closing Date, (b) aris
out of, in connection with, or related to, a breafhany representation or warranty set forth int®ac3.11 or covenants set forth in Sec
6.12, (c) of any member of an affiliated, consdidia combined or unitary group of which any Acqdi@ompany (or any predecessor thel
is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Oteeason of Treasury Regulation Section 1.16@)-or any analogous or similar stat
local law or (d) of any other Person for which akgquired Company is or has been liable as a tramsfer successor, by contract or otherv
provided, however, that any such Tax shall not Bager Indemnified Tax to the extent such Tax waduded as a liability in the calculati
of the Closing Date Net Working Capital.

“ Buyer Indemniteéshas the meaning set forth in Section 10.1(a).

“ Buyer Objection Noticehas the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(b).

“ Buyer Released Partiehas the meaning set forth in Section 6.17(a).

“ Buyer Review Periothas the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(b).

“ Buyets Advisors’ has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3.

“ CasH has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

“ Cash Portion of Purchase Prideas the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).
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“ Chafin” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to Agseement.

“ Change of Control Paymeriteas the meaning set forth in 6.8(b).

“ Claim Amount has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(a) below
“ Claim Notic€' has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(a) below
“ Closing’ has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

“ Closing Cash Consideratidhas the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

“ Closing Daté has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

“ Closing Date Net Working Capitahas the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a).

“ Closing Date Net Working Capital Staterhthas the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a).

“ Closing Statemerithas the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a).
“ COBRA” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(d).
“ Codée’ means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as aatend

“ Commitment Lettet has the meaning set forth in Section 6.6(a).

“ Companies has the meaning set forth in the recitals to Agseement.

“ Company Employeédsas the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(a).

“ Confidentiality Agreemerithas the meaning set forth in Section 6.11.

“ Consent means any consent, approval, waiver or other aizétayn of, with or to any Person, or the expiratir termination ¢
the waiting period under any Law that is designedntended to prohibit, restrict or regulate awist; monopolization, restraint of trade
competition, in each case required to permit thesasmmation of any of the Contemplated Transactions.

“ Consent Fedshas the meaning set forth in Section 6.8(b)

“ Contemplated Transactiohmeans all transactions contemplated by this Ageg.

“ Contingency Obligatiorishas the meaning set forth in Section 6.2.

“ Continuing Employeéshas the meaning set forth in Section 6.13.
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“ Control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “undeoramon control with”),with respect to the relationship betweel
among two or more Persons, means the possessiattlylior indirectly, of the power to direct or cguthe direction of the affairs
management of a Person, whether through the owipeo$h/oting securities, by contract or otherwigg;luding the ownership, directly
indirectly, of securities having the power to elaehajority of the board of directors or similardyayoverning the affairs of such Person.

“ Current Assetshas the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(d).

“ Current Liabilities has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(e).

“ Drop Dead Datéhas the meaning set forth in Section 9.1(d).

“ Encumbrancé means any security interest, pledge, mortgage, tiearge, lease, conditional sales agreement, clastriction
covenant, easement, right of way, encroachmentjtsde, right of first option, right of first refag hypothecation, adverse claim of
restriction on ownership, voting, transfer, receipincome or use, or other encumbrance of any.kind

“ Environmental Claini means any written notice or Proceeding by any Peafleging Liability or potential Liability (incluicig
Liability or potential Liability for investigatorgosts, cleanup costs, governmental response cadtgal resource damages, fines or pena
relating to any Environmental Losses or in respéetiny Environmental Laws.

“ Environmental Laww means any applicable Law relating to remediatiestaration or protection of the environment or rel
resources, the storage, treatment, managementragiene transportation, or disposal of any toxictemals or waste material, whet
hazardous or not, the conservation of natural messuand resource allocation (including any Lawtied to development or exploitation of i
natural resource) or exposure of persons or prppertHazardous Materials, including applicable Goweental Approvals pursuant
Environmental Laws and including the Clean Air Ad2 U.S.C. Section 7401 et seq., the Comprehensiwdronmental Respon:
Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. Secti@®9® et seq. (“CERCLA”")the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. Section &b3&q., th
Federal Land Policy and Management Act, 43 U.Se&ctiBn 1701 et seq., the Federal Water Pollutiont@b Act, 33 U.S.C. Section 1251
seq., the Resource Conservation and Recovery 2dt.8.C. Section 6901 et seq., the Surface Miniogt@l and Reclamation Act, 30 U.S
Section 1201 et seq. (“SMCRA"and the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.Cti@@@601 et seq., each as amended, and any sistuliz
Law.

“ Environmental Lossé'smeans Losses arising from a Release of Hazardowsrisla or noncompliance with any Environme
Law or Permits required pursuant to any Environmaleloaw.

“ Equipment Leasédas the meaning set forth in Section 3.18(c).

“ ERISA" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(a).
“ ERISA Affiliate” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(a).
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“ Escrow Agreemerithas the meaning set forth in Section 2.7 below.

“ Escrow Amount has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7.
“ Escrow Fund has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7 below.

“ Escrow Release Ddtdas the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(a) below

“ Estimated Adjustment Amouhhas the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(f).

“ Estimated Net Working Capitaas the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a).

“ Estimated Net Working Capital Statem&has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a).

“ Final Purchase Pri¢éhas the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(e).

“ Financind' has the meaning set forth in Section 6.6(a).
“FMLA " has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(d).
“ GAAP” means United States generally accepted accouptingiples as in effect from time to time.

“ General Escrow Amouhhas the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(i).

“ Governmental Approvdlmeans any Consent of, with or to any Governmefitahority.

“ Governmental Authority means any United States or other federal, staltgcat government or other political subdivision reef,
any entity, authority, tribunal, agency or body rexgng executive, legislative, judicial, regulatpfiscal or administrative functions of any s
government or political subdivision, and any suptaomal organization of sovereign states exercisingh functions for such sovereign states.

“ Governmental Authorizatichmeans permits, licenses, approvals or other auoons issued, granted, given or otherwise 1
available by a Governmental Authority.

“ Governmental Ordér means, with respect to any Person, any judgmedgrowrit, injunction, decree, stipulation, agreei,
determination or award entered or issued by or aiith Governmental Authority and binding on suchsBer

“ Hampderi has the meaning set forth in the recitals to gseement.
“ Hazardous Materialsmeans any material or substance defined as aaftams substance,” “toxic substance,” “hazardousteya
“solid waste,” “pollutant,” “hazardous” or “contamant” or any other term of similar import under any Epwimental Law or any oth
materials which are regulated or give rise to Uigbunder Environmental Laws.
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“ Holdings I has the meaning set forth in the first senterfdie Agreement.

“ Holdings II” has the meaning set forth in the first senterfaie Agreement

“ HSR Act” means the Hart-ScoRodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as anehdand the rules and regulati
promulgated under the Hart-Scé&bdino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as anehdand any successor to such statute, rul

regulation.

“ Income TaX means any Tax based upon, measured by, or caldulte respect to net income or profits (includifmit no
limited to, any capital gains or similar Tax).

“Income Tax Returhhmeans any Tax Return relating to Income Taxesudicfy any Schedule or attachment thereto, and diivog
any amendment thereof.

“ Indebtednessmeans all “indebtednesd$br borrowed money of the Acquired Companies, idiolg any notes payable, revolv
credit lines, obligations in respect of letterscoddit, capital lease obligations, indebtednesanother Person which is guaranteed and any
debt (other than trade accounts payable that aree@uLiabilities of the Acquired Companies arisiitgthe ordinary course of busin
consistent with past practices, except to the éxtext such amounts have not been paid when cudiding all interest accrued thereon.

“ Indemnity Termination Datehas the meaning set forth in Section 10.1(c).

“ Industry’ shall mean the steel or coal industry.

“ Intellectual Property means all (i) patents, (ii) inventions, discoveripsocesses, formulae, designs, models, industesigns
know-how, confidential information, proprietary inforn@at and trade secrets, whether or not patentecatangable, (iii) trademarks, serv
marks, trade names, brand names, trade dressns|oggos and internet domain names, (iv) copysigirtd other copyrightable works i
works in progress, databases and software, (Wthér intellectual property rights and foreign elént or counterpart rights and forms
protection of a similar or analogous nature or hgwsimilar effect in any jurisdiction throughoutetiworld, (vi) any renewals, extensic
continuations, divisionals, reexaminations or neéssor equivalent or counterpart of any of the doneg in any jurisdiction throughout t
world, and (vii) all registrations and applicatidios registration of any of the foregoing.

“ International Industri€'shas the meaning set forth in the recitals to fkgseement.

“ International Resource Partnéfgs the meaning set forth in the recitals to Agseement.

“ IRP_Administrativeé has the meaning set forth in Section 6.18.

“IRP GP' has the meaning set forth in the recitals to fkgseement.
“ IRP Kentucky has the meaning set forth in the recitals to Agseement.
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“ IRP WV” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to &gseement.
“ KED” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to gseement.

“ Knowledg€' means facts or matters that such Person is actaxtye of, provided such Person shall have madmmnadle inquir
of those Persons who would ordinarily be expeabeubive knowledge of the matters represented.

“ Knowledge of Buyet means facts or matters that any of the Persatesdion Schedule 1.1(aje actually aware of, provided t
such Persons shall have made reasonable inquithosie Persons who would ordinarily be expected aeehknowledge of the matt
represented.

“ Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Pastheneans facts or matters that any of the Persatexlion Schedule 1.1(bje actuall
aware of, provided that such Persons shall haveermeakonable inquiry of those Persons who wouldharily be expected to have knowle:
of the matters represented.

“ Latest Balance Sheehas the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.

“ Law” means any applicable Governmental Order or anyicgippe provision of any constitution, law (includimprinciples of th
common law), legally binding directive, treaty,tsta, rule, regulation or order of any Governmenatathority.

“ Leased Real Propertyas the meaning set forth in Section 3.19(a).

“ Lenders has the meaning set forth in Section 6.6(a).
“ Liabilities” means any and all debts, claims, commitments, ¢asgingencies, liabilities and obligations of evedind anc

description whatsoever, whether direct or indir&apwn or unknown, disclosed or undisclosed, matureunmatured, accrued or unaccr
absolute or conditional, asserted or unassertedingent or otherwise.

“ Lightfoot” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to fkdseement.
“L&K " has the meaning set forth in the recitals to fgseement.

“LMR" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to fgseement.

“ Losses means any and all claims, losses, damages, fpasalties and costs (in each case including redserout-ofpocke
expenses (including reasonable attorneys’, accatsitdechnical consultants’, engineers’ and exgidees and expenses)).

“ Marshall Miller” means Marshall Miller and Associates, Inc.

“ Marshall Miller Report means the February 17, 2011, Evaluation of Pragse@iontrolled by International Resource Partnel
as of December 31, 2010, by Marshall Miller.




“ Material Adverse Effector “ Material Adverse Changé means, in the case of the definition of PermitteduEnbrances, Artic
[Il and Article VIII, any effect or change that,dividually or together with any other effect or dlge, is or would reasonably be expected !
materially adverse to the business operations,qutigs, assets, liabilities, results of operatiarsthe condition (financial or otherwise) of
Acquired Companies, taken as a whole; provided rtbae of the following shall be deemed to constita@ind none of the following shall
taken into account in determining whether therebeen, a Material Adverse Effect or Material Adee@hange: (a) any adverse change, €
development, or effect arising from or relating(1) general business or economic conditions; (8)Ittdustry generally, including, withc
limitation, a decline in prices or demand for coabteel, increases in costs of transportationrandmaterials, and labor shortages; (3) nat
or international political or social conditions,cinding the engagement by the United States inillliest, whether or not pursuant to
declaration of a national emergency or war, ordbeurrence of any military or terrorist attack ugbe United States, or any of its territor
possessions, or diplomatic or consular offices poruany military installation, equipment or persehof the United States; (4) financ
banking, or securities markets (including any ditian thereof and any decline in the price of aegwsity or any market index); (5) change
United States generally accepted accounting phesig6) changes in Laws, orders or other bindimgatives issued by any Governme
Authority, including, without limitation, changes Environmental Laws or Occupational Health ande§ataws (in each of (1) through (
only to the extent that such factor does not maligrdisproportionately affect any of the Acquir€dmpanies relative to their competitor:
the Industry); or (7) the taking of any action @mplated by this Agreement and the other Trangaddiocuments; (b) any existing eve
occurrence or circumstances with respect to whialieB has been provided information or knew or sthdwidve known; and (c) any adve
change in or effect on the business of the Acquethpanies that is cured before the earlier ath@) Closing Date and (ii) the date on wt
this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Sectidnh@reof; provided that any failure to meet anwafiicial or other projection or forecast
any period shall not, in and of itself, constitat®aterial Adverse Effect or Material Adverse ChangMaterial Adverse Effector “ Materia
Adverse Changein the case of Article IV and Article VIl means aeffect or change that would prevent Buyer fromstonmating in a time
manner the Contemplated Transactions.

“ Material ContractShas the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(a).

“ Material Personal Propeftyas the meaning set forth in Section 3.18(a).

“ Membership Interests means all of the issued and outstanding membeitigkdpests of Holdings |, Holdings II, IRP W
Resources, Hampden, Snap Creek, Chafin, L&K, RogkbpoIRP Kentucky, LMR and Buck Branch.

“ Mining Asset$ has the meaning set forth in the recitals to Agseement.
“ MSHA” means the U.S. Mine Health and Safety Adminigtrat

“ Net Working Capitdl has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(c).

“ New Commitment Lettérhas the meaning set forth in Section 6.6(c).
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“ Occupational Health and Safety L awneans any Law designed to provide safe and hehltidtking conditions and to redu
occupational safety and health hazards, and angrgmy whether governmental or private (includingsta promulgated or sponsored
industry associations and insurance companiesigrks to provide safe and healthful working comig, including the Federal Mine Sai
and Health Act of 1977, the Mine Improvement andvNEmergency Response Act of 2006, the Supplemé#itad Improvement and Ne
Emergency Response Act, the Black Lung BenefitseReg Act of 1977, the Black Lung Benefits Reformt A€ 1977, and similar We
Virginia state Laws, as amended.

“ Ordinary Course of Businesmeans, the usual, regular and ordinary coursetmisiness consistent with the past practice thereo

“ Organizational Documeitmeans, as to any Person, its constitution, ceatdi@articles of incorporation or articles of orgaation
its regulations, by-laws or operating agreemenamy equivalent documents under the Law of suchdh&rgurisdiction of incorporation
organization.

“ Owned Real Propertyhas the meaning set forth in Section 3.19(b).

“ Partnership Interestsmeans all of the issued and outstanding limitedngaship units and general partnership units ofoRes
Partners.

“ PBGC’ has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(c).

“ Permit” means any consent, approval, permit, license,ficaté, exemption or other authorization which tlev requires ar
Acquired Company to hold in order to develop ancrafe its respective assets and conduct its régeeltisiness (including, withc
limitation, application, any authorization or petmelating to coal mining, preparation, load out@eclamation operations).

“ Permits Transfer Peridchas the meaning set forth in Section 6.10(c).

“ Permitted Encumbranéemeans (a) statutory liens securing payments notyetarising in the Ordinary Course of Busines
amounts not yet due (b) encroachments, such inmg@nfs or irregularities of title, nomonetary claims, and rights of way, easem
reservations, covenants, oil and gas leases aed ctistomary restrictions or nonenetary encumbrances, as would not, individuallindhe
aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Madehiarse Effect, (c) liens for Taxes not yet dunel gpayable or that are being conteste
good faith by appropriate proceedings, (d) any ottom-monetary liens that would not, individually or imetaggregate, reasonably be expe
to have a Material Adverse Effect, (e) mechanicgferialmers or other like liens arising or incurred in thed@eary Course of Business or
operation of Law but only to the extent that sueh has not been filed of record or, to the Knowkedf Sellers, been threatened to be file
pledges and deposits to secure the performancegftoade contracts, leases, surety and appedsbperformance bonds and other obligas
of a similar nature, in each case in the OrdinapyirSe of Business of any Acquired Company, (g)sliassociated with the Indebtedness,
(h) the terms, covenants, conditions and resemstiontained in (1) each deed conveying the Owresd Rroperty to the applicable Acqui
Company, and (2) each Real Property Lease; providat none of such Encumbrances will individually io the aggregate prevent
materially interfere with the operation of any Aaga Company’s business in the Ordinary CourseudiBess.
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“ Persori means any individual, partnership, firm, corponatiassociation, trust, unincorporated organizaijoint venture, limite
liability company, Governmental Authority or othemtity.

“ PostSigning Event Updatéhas the meaning set forth in Section 6.16.

“ PreSigning Event Updat&has the meaning set forth in Section 6.16.

“ PreTransaction Notification Rulgshas the meaning set forth in Section 6.14(a).

“ Proceedin§ means any action, claim, demand, suit, proceedirigtration, citation, summons, subpoena, inquiryngestigatiol
of any nature, civil, criminal, regulatory or othése, in law or in equity, by or before any Goveental Authority.

“ Purchase Pricehas the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

“ Purchase Price Deductidhnisas the meaning set forth in Section 6.8(a).
“ Real Property has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19(b).

“ Real Property Leasé$as the meaning set forth in Section 3.19(a).

“ Redeemed Partnérbas the meaning set forth in Section 6.2.

“ Redemptiori has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2.

“ Reference Net Working Capitahas the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(b).

“ Related Persoh means, with respect to a specific Person, any effidirector, employee, agent, shareholder, reptatee
successor or assign of such Person.

“ Releasé means any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, &mdt, emptying, discharging, injecting, escapireadhing, dumpin
or disposing of Hazardous Materials into or upam éhvironment, including, surface water, groundewa drinking water supply, land surf
or subsurface strata or ambient air (includingahandonment or discarding of barrels, containerd,aher closed receptacles containing
Hazardous Material).

“ Reserve Disputehas the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(b)(iii).

“ Resource Partnéetdias the meaning set forth in the recitals to fgseement.

“ Resourceshas the meaning set forth in the recitals to Agseement.
“ Rockhouseé has the meaning set forth in the recitals to fgseement.
“ SEC’ means the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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“ Securities Act means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
“ Seller” has the meaning set forth in the first senterfdhis Agreement.
“ Sellers has the meaning set forth in the first senterfdhie Agreement.

“ Seller Bond$ means those deposits, letters of credit, trust$ubitl bonds, performance bonds, reclamation bandssuret
bonds (and all such similar undertakings) set forttSchedule 1.1(c)

“ Seller Guaranteésmeans those guarantees, indemnities, letters ditcletters of comfort and similar credit obligas set fort

on Schedule 1.1(d)

“ Seller Indemniteéshas the meaning set forth in Section 10.1(b).

“ Seller Released Clairhiias the meaning set forth in Section 6.17(a).

“ Sellers Claims and LosseBas the meaning set forth in Section 6.17(a).

“ Snap Creekhas the meaning set forth in the recitals to Kgseement.

“ Special Escrow Amoufithas the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(ii).

“ Special Indemnity Mattefshas the meaning set forth in Section 6.8(c).

“ Straddle Perioimeans any Tax period that begins on or beforeClosing Date and ends after the Closing Date.

“ Subsidiarie§ means any and all corporations, partnerships, dianiiability companies and other entities with espto which
company, directly or indirectly, owns securitiesving the power to elect a majority of the boarddafctors or similar body governing
affairs of such entity.

“ Tax” or “ Taxes” means (a) any taxes of any kind, including, witHouttation, those measured on, measured by ornedeto as
income, alternative or adolh minimum, gross receipts, escheat, capital, abg#tins, sales, use, ad valorem, franchise, prdiiense, privileg
transfer, withholding, payroll, employment, socsacurity, excise, severance, stamp, occupatiomipre, value added, goods and servi
property, environmental or windfall profits taxesistoms, duties or similar fees, assessments ogehaf any kind whatsoever, including
interest, penalty or addition thereto, whether dtied or not, and (b) any Liability for the paymefiany amounts of the type described in cl:
(a) of this definition as a result of being a memtfean affiliated, consolidated, combined or unjitgroup for any period, as a result of any
sharing, tax indemnity or tax allocation agreemantangement or understanding, or as a result iofjdable for another Persataxes as
transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise.

“ Tax Returri means any return, report, declaration, form, edecketter, statement or other information or docnnrequired to k
or prepared by a Person, filed with any Governmieghtighority with respect to Taxes, including, bugtdimited to, any schedule or attachr
thereto or amendment thereof.
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“ Tortois€' has the meaning set forth in the recitals to Agseement.

“ Transaction Documentameans, collectively, the Agreement and all cedifés and other documents executed and delivertbd

Closing.

“ Transfer Application$has the meaning set forth in Section 6.10(a).

“ Transfer Taxeshas the meaning set forth in Section 6.12(b).

“ Unaudited Financialshas the meaning set forth in Section 3.4(a).

“ Unpaid Indebtedned$ias the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a).

“ Unpaid Transaction Expensdsas the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a).

“ Updat€ has the meaning set forth in Section 6.16.

“ WARN Act” means the federal Worker’Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, asearded, and any similar state
relating to plant closing or layoffs.

“ WVOMH&S " means the West Virginia Office of Mine Health aBdfety.

1.2 Other Interpretive Provisions

(a) The words “hereof,” “herein” antiereunder’and words of similar import when used in this Agneat refer to th
Agreement as a whole (including any Exhibits or éthes hereto) and not to any particular provisibrihis Agreement, and all Artic
Section, Schedule and Exhibit references are toAlreement unless otherwise specified. Exhibithe8ules, annexes or appendices tc
document shall be deemed incorporated by referensech document. The words “include,” “includesitdincluding” shall be deemed to
followed by the phrase “without limitationThe meanings given to terms defined herein shakdally applicable to both the singular
plural forms of such terms. Whenever the contexy memuire, any pronoun shall include the correspumnanasculine, feminine and net
forms. All references to “dollars” or “$” shall lieemed references to the lawful money of the Urftedes of America. Reference to “days”
shall mean calendar days, unless the term “BusiDags” is used.

(b) The disclosure of any matter on a Schedulé sbaabe deemed to be an admission or representas to the materiality
the matter so disclosed. Any matter disclosed &eleedule pursuant to any Section of this Agreerskall be deemed to have been discl
for purposes of another Section or Sections of Ageeement if the relevance or applicability of Butisclosure to the subject matter of ¢
other Section or Sections is reasonably apparetti®face of such disclosure.
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ARTICLE Il
PURCHASE AND SALE
2.1 Purchase Price

(a) On the terms and subject to the conditiondas#i in this Agreement, in exchange for the Panship Interests, Buyer st
pay to Sellers the aggregate purchase price (Bha¢hase Pric§ of (i) Four Hundred Seventy-Five Million Dollaf$475,000,000) (the Cast
Portion of the Purchase Pri€eminus (ii) the Purchase Price Deductiofifie Purchase Price shall be subject to adjustnteandh after th
Closing in accordance with Section 2.4 and SeQién At the Closing, Buyer shall pay to Sellers Fhechase Price increased or decreast
any Estimated Adjustment Amount pursuant to Sec®idif) and an amount reflecting the Acquired Conies! cash, in the aggregate, on
Closing Date as reflected on the consolidated loalaimeet of Resource Partners in cash (the “ Casid the Purchase Price, as increas
decreased by the Estimated Adjustment Amount aedQhsh, is referred to as the “ Closing Cash Censithn”). The Closing Cas
Consideration shall be payable at the Closing kevis:

(i) Buyer shall deliver the Escré&wmnount to the Escrow Agent pursuant to the terms@nditions of Section 2.7; and

(i) Buyer shall pay to Sellers the balance of @lesing Cash Consideration (being the Closing Gashsideration le:
the Escrow Amount) by wire transfer of immediatalsailable United States funds, in the percentageSpéier as set forth on Schedule 2.1(a)
(i) , to accounts designated by Agent for the benéfBallers in written instructions given to Buyerl@ast two (2) Business Days prior to
Closing. Prior to the payment to Sellers of theahaé of the Closing Cash Consideration, such GjoSimsh Consideration will additionally
reduced by the amounts estimated by Resource ParifR® GP and Agent necessary to pay fees andhsepeof Sellers including thc
incurred in connection with the transactions comtlted hereby, which amounts Agent shall certifywiriting to Buyer at least one |
Business Day prior to the Closing, and Buyer spajl such amounts by wire transfer of immediatelgilable United States funds to accol
designated by Agent for the benefit of Sellers.

(b) As promptly as practicable following the exéon and delivery of this Agreement, and in anyecpsior to the Closin
Buyer and Sellers shall use reasonable effortgyteeaupon the allocation of the Purchase Price &indther capitalizable costs) among
assets of the Acquired Companies, which the pasiied] adjust to reflect any adjustments made & Rhrchase Price in accordance
Section 2.5(f). Any such allocation shall be inteddo comply with the allocation method requiredSmction 1060 of the Code. The pai
shall cooperate in complying with all requiremenfsSection 1060 of the Code and the regulationsetheler, and the allocation shall
adjusted only if and to the extent necessary toptpwith such requirements. Buyer and Sellers agne¢ they will not take nor will the
permit any of their Affiliates or Related Persomstake, for income Tax purposes, any position istsiant with any such agreegbor
allocation, if any; provided, however, that (a) Buyg total cost for the assets of each Acquired Compaay differ from the total amot
allocated hereunder to reflect Buyettansaction costs other than the Purchase Rince(b) the amount realized by Sellers may diffenf the
total amount allocated hereunder to reflect Séeltemssaction costs that reduce the amount reafi@ethcome tax purposes.
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Under no circumstance shall Buyer be liable to Salfer or other Person for any action, omissiodalay of the Agent or al
other recipient in dealing with or distributing apgtyment or any portion of the Purchase Price @ngfother payment or performance mad
or on behalf of Buyer in accordance herewith or atier Transaction Document, to or as prescribethéyAgent. Nothing contained in Sect
2.1(a)(ii) providing for allocation of the PurchaBgce hereunder in accordance with Schedule Zil)(sahall be deemed to limit the foregoing.

2.2 The ClosingUnless this Agreement shall have been terminptiesiuant to Article 1X, subject to the satisfactmmwaiver of th
conditions set forth in Articles VII and VI, thelosing (the “ Closing) of the Contemplated Transactions shall take pladbeaoffices c
Jackson Kelly PLLC, 1600 Laidley Tower, Charlestdfest Virginia 25301, or at such other place as bmggreed upon by Agent and Bu
effective at 12:01 a.m. on the third Business Digraall of such conditions have been satisfiedvaived by the party or parties entitlec
waive the same, or at such other date and timeagshm agreed upon by Sellers and Buyer (the “ @¢pBiate”); provided that, if Buyer is
compliance with its obligations contained in Sect®6 but has not consummated financing to comgleteContemplated Transactions, 1
the Closing Date may be extended beyond the timenvelti conditions have been satisfied or waiveddmly up to and including June 1, 2C
unless mutually extended in writing by Buyer andeAg

2.3 Deliveries at the Closing

(a) At the Closing, Agent shall defive cause to be delivered, as applicable, to Bthefollowing:

() an instrument of assignment evidencing thedfar of the Partnership Interests in a form reabbnacceptable
Buyer;

(ii) copies of the resolutions of Lightfoot, Intetional Industries and IRP GP, authorizing and@gpg this Agreemer
the other Transaction Documents and the ContentplEi@nsactions, certified by an officer of Sellayde true and complete and in full fc
and effect and unmodified as of the Closing Date;

(iii) the officer’s certificate gelired by Section 8.3;

(iv) a copy of the certificate of existence, aplagable, of each Acquired Company certified a®tand correct by tl
Secretary of State of the State of West Virgirie, $tate of Delaware and the Commonwealth of Kémt(as the case may be);

(v) resignations, effective as of the Closingeath member of the board of directors or board arfiagers, as applicak
and of each officer, of each of the Acquired Conigsin
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(vi) all minute books and membeénsérest or stock records of the Acquired Compsinie

(vii) with respect to each Seller, an opinion meljag authority from outside counsel for such Seilheform and substan
reasonably acceptable to Buyer; and

(vii) all other documents, instruments and writimgquired to be delivered by Buyer at or prioth® Closing pursuant
this Agreement or otherwise required in conneckierewith.

(b) At the Closing, Buyer shall exexand deliver or cause to be executed and delivesedpplicable, to Agent the following:

(i) the Closing Cash Consideration, less the Bgdkmount, by wire transfer of immediately availalilends as specifie
in Section 2.1(a)(ii);

(ii) copies of the resolutions of Buyer authoriziand approving this Agreement, the Transactionub@nts and tt
Contemplated Transactions certified by an offideBoyer to be true and complete and in full foroel &ffect and unmodified as of the Clos
Date;

(iii) the officer’s certificate geired by Section 7.3;

(iv) a certificate (dated not less than five (8)siess Days prior to the Closing) of the Secretdr$tate of the State
Virginia as to the good standing of Buyer; and

(v) all other documents, instruments and writingguired to be delivered by Agent at or prior te @losing pursuant
this Agreement or otherwise required in conneckierewith.

2.4 Estimated Closing Adjustments

(a) No later than the fifth ) Business Day prior to the Closing Date, Agentlistaliver to Buyer a statement (the “
Estimated Net Working Capital Statemé&hnsetting forth Agents good faith estimate of Net Working Capital of thequired Companies as
the Closing Date (* Estimated Net Working Capfjahand Agents calculation thereof in reasonable detail, catedlan accordance with GA/
consistently applied, except as described in Sdbetld(a)(the “ Accounting Principle¥)

(b) “ Reference Net Working Capitaheans an amount equal to $18,500,000.

(c) “ Net Working Capitdl means the amount, if any, by which Current Asséth® Acquired Companies are greater or
than Current Liabilities of the Acquired Companéesscalculated pursuant to the Accounting Principles
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(d) “ Current Assetsmeans with respect to the Acquired Companies, #aounts receivable, coal ready for shipmentg
and supplies inventories, deposits, prepaid exgeasd other current assets calculated on a coasetidbasis and in accordance with
Accounting PrinciplesCash, cash equivalents, returned bond depositsl@idof any kind due from Affiliates will be excled from Currer
Assets.

(e) “ Current Liabilities means, with respect to the Acquired Companiest #Hmiounts payable, accrued expenses and
current liabilities calculated on a consolidatedibaand in accordance with the Accounting Prinaipl@urrent Liabilities shall not inclu
current maturities of Indebtedness, accrued intengsense or accrued expenses related to deriviaStrements.

(f) “ Estimated Adjustment Amouhtmeans the amount by which the Estimated Net Workiagital exceeds the Refere
Net Working Capital, or the amount by which the &efce Net Working Capital exceeds the EstimatadAeking Capital

2.5 Closing Adjustments

(a) Closing Date Net Working CapitdVithin sixty (60) days after the Closing Date,efg shall deliver to Buyer a statenr
(the “ Closing Date Net Workin@apital Statemerif) setting forth Agents calculation of Net Working Capital as of and udthg the Closin
Date (the “ Closing Date Net Working Capitaltogether with an audit report of Resource Perdhindependent accountants certifying as tc
accuracy of Agent’s calculations. The Closing Didtst Working Capital Statement is the “ Closing 8taént”. The Closing Statement st
also include a description of (i) all Indebtednegshe Acquired Companies as of and including thesi@g Date set forth on Schedule 2
not paid by Sellers pursuant to Section 2.6, exteghe extent included in Current Liabilities dfet Acquired Companies for purpose:
calculating Net Working Capital (* Unpaid Indebteds”), and (ii) all fees and expenses of Sellers and tbguked Companies not paid
Sellers pursuant to Section 11.2, except to thengxhcluded in Current Liabilities of the Acquir€bmpanies for purposes of calculating
Working Capital (*_Unpaid Transaction ExpensesThe Closing Statement shall be prepared and afahéations therein made in accorde
with the Accounting Principles and shall be comsiswith the manner in which the Reference Net WaylCapital Statement was prepared.

(b) Review of BuyerBuyer shall have thirty (30) days after the detivto Buyer of the Closing Statement (thBuyer Reviev
Period”) in which to notify Agent in writing (the “ Buye®bjection Notice) of any good faith disagreement with the Closinge3teent, settin
forth in reasonable detail (i) the items or amoumith which Buyer disagrees and the basis for alishgreement, and (ii) Buysrpropose
corrections to the Closing Statement. Notwithstagdhe timely delivery of a Buyer Objection Noti&yyer on the one hand, or Agent on
other hand, as applicable, shall make any andagingnts as to amounts not in dispute in accordantbeSection 2.5(f) prior to the resoluti
of the Buyer Objection Notice pursuant to Sectios(@. If Buyer does not deliver a Buyer Objectiatice within the Buyer Review Peric
Buyer shall be deemed to agree in all respectst@lClosing Statement and the items and amoufiésted thereon shall be final and binc
upon Buyer and Sellers for purposes of Section 2.5.
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(c)_Review by Auditarlf Buyer gives Agent a timely Buyer Objection et to the Closing Statement, then Agent and E
shall use their reasonable best efforts to resahyesuch objection. If a written resolution is pbtained within thirty (30) days after the Ag
has received the Buyer Objection Notice, the issu@(dispute will be submitted to the Auditior resolution, which resolution will be limit
to determining Closing Date Net Working Capital,gaid Indebtedness and Unpaid Transaction Expeasésany other accounting mat
specifically referred to the Auditor by the mut@reement of the Agent and Buyer. The determinatiotihe Auditor shall be set forth ir
written notice delivered, as promptly as practieadfter the issue(s) in dispute have been subntitélde Auditor, to the Buyer and Agent
the Auditor and will be final, binding and conchasion the parties. Buyer and Sellers shall each fifa percent (50%) of the fees &
expenses of the Auditor for such determination. &ugnd Agent will use all reasonable efforts toseathe Auditor to render its decisior
promptly as practicable, including without limitati by promptly complying with all reasonable regadsy the Auditor for information, bool
records and similar items.

(d) CooperationBuyer, on the one hand, and Sellers, on the dtaed, shall provide reasonable cooperation aridtasse t
each other and to the Auditor in the preparatiorthef Closing Statement and in the conduct of thveves referred to in this Section 2
including providing reasonable access to the bo@crds, work papers and personnel of the Acquiraaipanies.

(e) Final Purchase Pricéhe “ Final Purchase Pri¢emeans an amount equal to the Purchase Price h@wmount, if any, t
which Closing Date Net Working Capital exceedsReéerence Net Working Capital, or minus the amoifirany, by which the Reference |
Working Capital exceeds the Closing Date Net Waykrapital.

(f)_Adjustment PaymenWithin three (3) Business Days after the caléotabf Closing Date Net Working Capital becol
final pursuant to Section 2.5(b) or (c): (i) Buysrall pay to Agent, for the benefit of Sellers,viye transfer of immediately available fund:
an account designated by Agent, an amount equahg¢oamount, if any, by which the Final Purchased’®xceeds the Closing C
Consideration, or (ii) Sellers shall pay to Buyy,wire transfer of immediately available fundsato account designated by Buyer, an am
equal to the sum of (A) an amount equal to the arhdatiany, by which the Closing Cash Consideratoweeds the Final Purchase Price,
(B) an amount equal to the sum of the Unpaid Ineldiéss, plus the Unpaid Transaction Expenses. foeirg of the payment pursuan
clause (i) or clause (ii) of this Section 2.5(firzereferred to as the “ AdjustmeRtiyment’, in either case, (x) together with interest on
Adjustment Payment at the Applicable Rate from amduding the Closing Date to, but excluding, thetedof such payment and (y) giv
effect to any amounts paid pursuant to Sectionf2.A§ used in this Agreement, the term “ Applicalitate’ means a rate per annum equi
the “prime rate” as set forth from time to timeTihe Wall Street Journal “Money Rates3lumn. Buyer and Sellers agree that, unless ofke
required by Law, any payments made pursuant toSbistion 2.5 shall be treated as an adjustmertig¢d=tnal Purchase Price for all 7
purposes.

2.6_Payment of the Indebtedne8Xior to or at the Closing, Sellers shall pay lihdebtedness set forth on Scheduleif.8ull anc
shall deliver to Buyer satisfactory evidence thetythave done so. Prior to the Closing, Seller sba their commercially reasonable effort
cause each holder of Indebtedness listed on Sah@dbio enter into an agreement to release or auththizeelease of any Encumbrance:
any of the Acquired Companieassets securing such Indebtedness upon paymarit of $uch Indebtedness and shall cause such mgretc
be delivered to Buyer.
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2.7 Escrow Amount and Escrow Funit the Closing, Buyer shall pay to the Escrow Ag@) $20,000,000 (the General Escro
Amount”), and (i) $10,000,000 (the “ Special Escrow Ambd, and collectively with the General Escrow Amoutiite “ EscrowAmount”)
(the “ Escrow Fund) in cash payable by wire transfer of immediatelyilabde United States funds for deposit in an Esciecount ir
accordance with the terms and conditions of thedws@greement to be entered into by and among BuAdgent, on behalf of Sellers, and
Escrow Agent in the form attached hereto _as Exib{the “ Escrow Agreemerl). The Escrow Fund shall be held and distributed I
Escrow Agent in accordance with the terms and ¢mmdi of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement.

2.8 Escrow Release

(a) GeneraBubiject to the terms and provisions of this SecBidhand the Escrow Agreement, fourteen (14) mofah®ving
the Closing (the “ Escrow ReleaBate”), the Escrow Agent shall disburse to Sellers a portibthe Escrow Fund in an amount equal tc
General Escrow Amount (as reduced by any amourmgiqusly disbursed to Sellers or Buyer pursuanéation 2.8(b), Section 2.8(c)(i
Section 10.1 and the Escrow Agreement) in accoeariih the terms of the Escrow Agreement. In thenévhowever, that Agent has recei
on or before the Escrow Release Date, a noticeQlaifn Notice”) submitted in good faith by Buyer that the EscroneAgmay be required
disburse all or a portion of the Escrow Amount {setaimed amount, the “ Claim Amouhtto Buyer pursuant to Section 10.1(a) or Sec
2.7 or 2.8, then the portion of the Escrow Amourtiject to such Claim Notice shall continue to bilhe the Escrow Agent until the Cla
Amount with respect thereto has been resolved.oas as any dispute with respect to any such Clainoént has been resolved in accordi
with the terms of the Escrow Agreement, the EscAment shall be instructed to disburse such portibthe General Escrow Amount in -
Escrow Fund, if any, that is required to be disbdr® Buyer pursuant to Section 10.1(a) or Sectibior 2.8 in connection with such Cl:
Amount, and the Escrow Agent shall disburse theeeremaining portion of the General Escrow Amolfrény, to Sellers.

(b) Reserve Claims.

(i) Since the issuance of the Marshall Miller Repthe Acquired Companies have continued and auaititinue to prov
metallurgical reserves not classified in the Malishtller Report as proven metallurgical reservésA@ditional Reserves) through drilling
and/or adding additional acreage.

(ii) Up to $5,000,000 of the amounts remaininghe General Escrow Amount will be released to Bujait least 1
Million tons of Additional Reserves are not proviey the Escrow Release Date. The portion of sucBGBB000 (less drilling expenses [
pursuant to Section 2.8(b)(iv)) to be released tyeB shall be equal to the ratio of (A) 10 Millieninus the number of tons of Additiol
Reserves proven prior to the Escrow Release Da(®)t10 Million tons.
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(iii) Coal will be classified asnétallurgical” and as “reservesinder customary coal industry standards or otheni
the reasonable satisfaction of Buyer, provided thatresulting washed quality of coal must meehsstandards for metallurgical coal. /
dispute between the parties as to whether minetatdsts constitute “reserves” or “metallurgicaeneves” or “Additional Reserveshall bt
finally settled by Marshall Miller. These Additio&eserves are to be established by drilling reesecovered by existing leases of the Acqt
Companies or under new leases, agreements orantaggements that are in active negotiation byAttguired Companies as of the date of
Agreement, rather than under new leases not beirgupd as of the date of this Agreement. In thetetet Agent has received, on or be
the Escrow Release Date, a notice submitted in damitid by Sellers that there is a dispute regardidditional Reserves (aReserve Dispu
"), then the portion of the General Escrow Amount sttbje such Reserve Dispute shall continue to bd bglthe Escrow Agent until t
Reserve Dispute has been resolved.

(iv) Up to $1,000,000 of the GaaldEscrow Amount shall also be available to funitlidg and other reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses that are incurred by the Acquikdznies in connection with any efforts to provehsAdditional Reserves. Such funds s
be released to Buyer from the General Escrow Amauoiptly upon its delivery to Escrow Agent of reaable documentation that si
expenses have been incurred for such purpose. éavertt shall the General Escrow Amount be paicefgrenses incurred for drilling after
date that 10 Million tons of Additional Reserve® groven. Any dispute between the parties as tothveneany expenditures qualify
reimbursement to Buyer or the Acquired Companigsyant to this Section 2.8(b)(iv) shall be finadttled by Marshall Miller.

(v) Both parties will use their best efforts tausa such Additional Reserves to be proven by thguked Companie
including instituting an active drilling program psove such Additional Reserves; provided that sefédrts by Buyer shall not include mak
any cash payments not reimbursed out of the Gefism@bw Amount or entering into any agreement caregement that Buyer conclude:
good faith is not in the best interests of the Aepi Companies to make or enter into. After thes@lg Date, Buyer shall provide Agent w
regular updates of the status of its drilling peogrwith respect to the Additional Reserves, inclgddroviding any data reasonably reque
by Agent.

(c) Mine 8 Related Claims.

(i) All fines and legal fees of Buyer and/or theqired Companies related to MSHA or WWOMH&S viddas that too
place at the Acquired Companies’ Rockhouse MineMiie 8 ) prior to Closing, whether disclosed to Buyemat (“ Prior Violations”), will
be paid from the Special Escrow Amount (first doiat not subject to any deductible).

(ii) All claims for damages suffered by Buyer amdthe Acquired Companies that are related to tiwr Riolations als:
will be paid from the Special Escrow Amount (fickillar out not subject to any deductible). Damaigeshese purposes shall include, but
be limited to, $20,000 per day that Mine 8 is deatgd by MSHA to be on a Potential Pattern of \tiola(PPOV) list. Any other damages 1
can be proven by Buyer shall be in addition togaediem amount.
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(iii) If, prior to the Escrow Release Date , Miids designated on a Pattern of Violation (POW) ltig MSHA that i
attributable to the Prior Violations, then all o for damages suffered by Buyer and/or the Acqu@empanies that are related to the |
Violations may at Buyes option be paid out of the General Escrow Amowfote proceeding against the Special Escrow Amddammage
for these purposes shall include, but not be lichite $20,000 per day that Mine 8 is designatedMI8HA to be on a POV list. Any otf
damages that can be proven by Buyer shall be iitiaddo this per diem amount.

(iv) In the event of a dispute regarding claimsBayer for damages under this Section 2.8(c), #mtigs shall use the
reasonable best efforts to resolve any such displita written resolution is not obtained withimirty (30) days after either party provis
written notice of a dispute, the issue(s) in dispwtll be submitted to Norwest Corporation for desion, which resolution shall be limited
determining such issue(s) in dispute; provided that$20,000 per day liquidated damages amount shiabe subject to dispute or arbitratis
The determination of Norwest Corporation shall eferth in a written notice delivered, as promgily practicable after the issue(s) in dis
have been submitted to Norwest Corporation, to Bayel Agent by Norwest Corporation and will be fjnainding and conclusive on t
parties. The losing party will pay all fees and exges of such arbitration including legal feestlier prevailing party. Buyer and Agent will 1
reasonable best efforts to cause Norwest Corporédigender its decision as promptly as practicablgduding without limitation by prompt
complying with all reasonable requests by NorwestpGration for information, books, records and &mitems.

(v) The Special Escrow Amount shall remain in pland not be released to Agent until such timdldsgal proceedin¢
and fines relating to the Prior Violations have béi@ally resolved (such date being referred tdhes “Final Release Date”VUntil the Fina
release Date, claims may continue to be made agéiesSpecial Escrow Amount as provided hereundeon the Final Release Date,
Escrow Agent shall disburse to Sellers any remgipiortion of the Special Escrow Amount.

(vi) Buyer shall provide and shall cause its algscounsel to the Acquired Companies to providenptoand regul:
updates to Agent regarding material developmentsaonnection with the Prior Violations, includingethstatus of any negotiations
proceedings.
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ARTICLE Il

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF IRP GP AND RESOUR PARTNERS
RELATED TO THE ACQUIRED COMPANIES

IRP GP and Resource Partners hereby jointly aneralty represent and warrant to Buyer, as of thte thereof and as of the Clos
Date, other than representations and warrantigseipessly speak as of the specific date and timiéch need only be true amrrect in al
respects or true and correct in all material retspas applicable, as of such date and time), &sfsi

3.1_Organization Each of the Acquired Companies is duly organiaed validly existing under the Laws of its juriditic of
organization. Each of the Acquired Companies hasrélguisite organizational power and authority wmplease and operate its assets a
carry on its business as now being conducted addlysqualified or licensed to do business anahigaod standing in the jurisdictions in wh
the ownership of its property or the conduct ofbitsiness requires such qualification or licengegpt where the failure to be so qualifiet
licensed (a) would not reasonably be expectedyiddally or in the aggregate, to prevent any of Anguired Companies from consumma
the Contemplated Transactions or (b) would notaeably be expected, individually or in the aggregéab have a Material Adverse Effe
Resource Partners has delivered to Buyer true amghlete copies of the Organizational Documentsacheof the Acquired Companies.

3.2 Authorization; Enforceability Resource Partners has the requisite organizétpmveer and authority to execute and deliver
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents arprform its obligations hereunder and thereundlee execution and delivery of t
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents Isplee Partners, and the performance of its oliigethereunder and thereunder,
been duly authorized by all necessary action orp#ireof Resource Partners, and, upon such autionz no other proceedings or actions
necessary to authorize and consummate this Agreemmenother Transaction Documents or the Contetaglaransactions. This Agreem
has been, and upon the Closing Date the other dctine Documents will be, duly executed and deédelny Resource Partners, and, assu
due authorization, execution and delivery by Bugenstitute the valid and binding agreements obRese Partners and are enforceable ac
Resource Partners in accordance with their termsept as may be limited by applicable bankruptegolvency, fraudulent conveyan
reorganization, moratorium and other similar Laekting to or affecting creditorsights generally and general equitable principlebgthe
considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

3.3 Interests The authorized, issued and outstanding Membeisitgpests of the Acquired Companies are set forttchedule 3.3
together with the identity of the members of eatthe Acquired Companies, as applicable. On thesi@tpDate, Resource Partners will be
record and beneficial owner and holder of the Marsitip Interests, in each case free and clear dEdlumbrances. All of the outstand
equity securities of each Acquired Company havenlukdy authorized and validly issued and are fplyd and nonassessable. Other tha
Organizational Documents, there are no contradédimg to the issuance, sale, or transfer of anyitgcgsecurities or other securities of
Acquired Company. Except as set forth on Schedile Bere are no outstanding warrants, options, ageees, convertible or exchange:
securities or other commitments pursuant to whiai Acquired Company is or may become obligatedstme or sell any shares of eq
securities or other securities, and there are ndyesgecurities of any Acquired Company reserveddsuance for any purpose.
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3.4 Financial Statements

(aJRP GP has delivered to Buyer: (i) the financialtstents of Resource Partners as of December 2@, 2009 and 2008, audi
by PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP, which include tme eorrect information associated with the respechialance sheets and statemen
operations and cash flows of the Acquired Compafties“ Audited Financial¥), and (i) if available, on the date even herewilig tinaudite
financial statements for the month ended January2811, including the unaudited consolidated baasiteet as of January 31, 2011 (the *
Latest Balance She8t and the related statements of operations and tash for the period then ended, which includesrdspective balan
sheets and statements of operations and cash @ibthe Acquired Companies (the “ Unaudited Finalsciaand such Audited Financials ¢
Unaudited Financials, collectively “ Financial Saents’). The Financial Statements fairly present in all mateespects the consolida
financial position of the Acquired Companies and thsults of their operations and cash flows athefdates and for the periods indicate
accordance with GAAP consistently applied; provideowever, that the Unaudited Financials are pegpand derived from the consolide
financial statements of Resources Partners arndcfi)footnotes and other presentation items that apgply for a standlone business and
are subject to certain normal year end adjustments.

(b) To the Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Pastitieere (i) are no significant deficiencies or en@ weakness in the desigr
operation of internal controls which are reasondligly to adverse affect in any material respdwt fbility of the Acquired Compan
considered as a whole to record, process, summemieeport financial data, (ii) is no fraud, wtestlor not material, that involves manager
or other employees who have a significant rolerip Acquired Company’s internal controls, (iii) Resoe Partnersfransactions are execu
in accordance with management’s general or speaifibhorization; (iv) Resource Partnetrsinsactions are recorded as necessary to pere
preparation of financial statements in conformiifpmGAAP and to maintain accountability for assetsd (v) the amount recorded for asse!
the respective books and records of Resource Partsecompared with the existing assets at readeriatervals in connection with t
preparation of the annual audits of Resource Pa'tmensolidated financial statements and appropriat®rais taken with respect to ¢
differences.

(c) Since January 1, 2008, none of the Acquired @amies nor any of their respective Subsidiaries teothe Knowledge of IRP C
and Resource Partners, any director, officer, epg@pauditor, accountant or representative of aoguked Company or any of its respec
Subsidiaries has received or otherwise had or mbthkKnowledge of any material complaint, allegatiassertion or claim, whether writter
oral, regarding the accounting or auditing prastigarocedures, or methodologies of any Acquired @y or its respective Subsidiarie:
their respective internal accounting controls, ukihg any material complaint, allegation, assertamclaim that any Acquired Company or
of its respective Subsidiaries has engaged in gumdile accounting or auditing practices.

3.5 Absence of Undisclosed LiabilitieExcept as reflected in the Latest Balance Sheehdchedule 3.5n0 Acquired Company h
any Liability of any nature whatsoever (direct adirect, matured or unmatured, absolute, accrueadontingent), except as would not
material to any of the Acquired Companies, thatdne required by GAAP to be included in the Latatance Sheet or reflected in footn:
to a balance sheet preparedagtordance with GAAP as consistently applied ot #auld prevent Sellers or any of the Acquired Camip:
from consummating the Contemplated Transactions.
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3.6 No Conflicts or Approval€Except as set forth on Schedule 8r&chedule 3.7the execution, delivery and performance by Seltx
this Agreement and the other Transaction Documamtisthe consummation by Sellers of the Contemplatedsactions does not and will
(a) violate, conflict with or result in a breach Bgllers or any of the Acquired Companies of thegpective Organizational Documents,
require any Consent or other action by any Persanse or permit the termination, cancellation, ka&on or other change of any right
obligation or violate, conflict with or result inraaterial breach of, or constitute a default bye®glor any of the Acquired Companies (witl
without notice or lapse of time) under any Mate@aintract, Permit or Equipment Lease to which afthe Acquired Companies or any of
Acquired Companiegdroperties or assets may be bound, (c) requireCamgent or other action by any Person, cause aniptre terminatior
cancellation, acceleration or other change of aglgtror obligation or violate, conflict with or rel in a material breach of, or constitut
default by Sellers or any of the Acquired Comparieith or without notice or lapse of time) undetlyaReal Property Lease requiring lessor’
consent for change of control of Resource Partteerghich any of the Acquired Companies or any AcggliCompaniesproperties or asse
may be bound, (d) assuming compliance with appléceduirements under the HSR Act, violate, confliith, or result in a material breact
any Governmental Order or Law applicable to Sel@rany of the Acquired Companies or any of thespective properties or assets o
result in the creation of any Encumbrance, othantRermitted Encumbrances, upon any of the pregedi assets of any of the Acqu
Companies.

3.7 Governmental AuthorizationAssuming compliance with applicable requiremamsder the HSR Act, the execution, delivery
performance by Sellers and each of the Acquired fi2onies of this Agreement and the other Transa®iocuments and the consummatiol
the Contemplated Transactions, except for the agtand filings listed on _Schedule 3.the filings required for the transfer of contodlthe
Permits set forth on Schedwe8(b) (i) require no action by, or in respect of, any @mmental Authority or any Governmental Approvaid
any such action or filing as to which the failucenhake or obtain would not be material to any ef Atquired Companies or prevent Seller
any of the Acquired Companies from consummating@batemplated Transactions, (ii) will not give aBgvernmental Authority the right
challenge any portion of the Contemplated Transastior exercise any remedy or obtain any reliefearahy Law to which Sellers or ¢
Acquired Company is subject, and (iii) will not ¢cavene, conflict with or result in a violation afy of the terms or requirements of, or
any Governmental Authority the right to revoke, hditaw, suspend, cancel, not renew, terminate oena#ly modify, any Permit of &
Acquired Company.

3.8 Compliance; Permits; Seller Bonds

(a) Each of the Acquired Companies has conducset#ipective business and developed and operategsiéts in compliance in
material respects with all Permits, except asah fon Schedule 3.8(a)
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(b) Each Acquired Company possesses all materiahiBenecessary to own, lease and operate itssaaselt lawfully conduct i
business consistent in all material respects watkt practices. Schedule 3.8¢mntains an accurate and complete list and sumdesgriptiol
of all such Permits, in each case setting forthrthmme of the grantor, the name of the grantee tlaexpiration and renewal date of, anc
amount of bonding obligation with respect to eaehnit. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.8@ach such Permit has been validly issuet
is in full force and effect and is final and, tetkKnowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partners, nat és occurred that constitutes or, witk
giving of notice, the passage of time, or both, ldaonstitute a material default by any Acquiredh@@any or any other Person under any
Permit. All fees and other payments due and owmgadnnection with such Permits have been paid linafid in a timely manner so as
prevent any lapse, revocation or material breaetet.

(c) There are no applications for permits to be isdme@overnmental Authorities to any Acquired Compatiyer than those ¢
forth on_Schedule 3.8(¢}he “ Applications”), and an Acquired Company will, on grant of any oftsépplications, hold a legal or benefit
title to the interest in each such applicationetSarth on Schedule 3.8(cEach Application has been made in accordanceapifticable Law
No Acquired Company has received any written compation from the applicable permitting authoritytiviespect to any Application that
indicates that such Application has been denieiijorequests any Acquired Company to provide dadddl information with respect to st
Application.

(d) The Acquired Companies have posted all depositerseof credit, trust funds, bid bonds, performeabonds, reclamation bor
and surety bonds (and all such similar undertaRingguired to be posted in connection with theieragtions. The Seller Bonds are sufficier
conduct the business of the Acquired Companiesistem$ with past practices. Except as disclose8dmedule 3.8(d)(i) each of the Acquire
Companies is and has been in compliance in allnahtespects with all Seller Bonds applicablettand (ii) the operation of each Company’
coal mining and processing operations and the sfateclamation with respect to Seller Bonds anarfent” or in “deferred status’egardiny
reclamation obligations and otherwise are and tbees in compliance in all material respects witrapplicable mining, reclamation and ot
analogous Laws, except where honcompliance wouldnterfere in any material respect with the abitf any Acquired Company to contir
to operate its assets and conduct its businessuenty conducted and would not prevent Sellersany Acquired Company frc
consummating the Contemplated Transactions.

(e) Each Acquired Company is, and at all times has Isgwe June 12, 2007, in material compliance withawvs that are or we
applicable to it or to the use or operation ofigsets, including Occupational Health and SafetysLa

(H To the Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partnergyvent has occurred or circumstance exists thith @ without notice ¢
lapse of time) (i) may constitute or result in atenil violation by any Acquired Company of any Lagplicable to it or its business or as:
(ii) constitute or result directly or indirectly i violation of or a failure to comply with any real term or requirement of, or result directl
indirectly in the revocation, withdrawal, suspemsioancellation, nomenewal, termination of or modification to, or riksn the imposition ¢
any condition on, any Permit listed or requiredb® listed on Schedule 3.8(b)or (iii) may give rise to any obligation on tharp of an
Acquired Company to undertake, or to bear all gr portion of the cost of, any remedial action eohaterial nature.
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(9) All applications required to lealseen filed for the renewal of the Permits listedequired to be listed on Schedule 3.8thy¢
been duly filed on a timely basis with the apprafiGovernmental Authority, and all other filingxjuired to have been made with respe
such Permits have been duly made on a timely aisghe appropriate Governmental Authority.

(h) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.8(hp Acquired Company has received, at any timeesilune 12, 2007, any notice or o
written communication or, to the Knowledge of IRP @nd Resource Partners, any oral communication oy Governmental Authority
any other Person regarding (i) any actual, allegedsible or potential violation of, or failuredomply in any material respect with, any Lav
failure to comply with any term or requirement afyaPermit, (ii) any actual, proposed, possible,potential revocation, withdraw
suspension, cancellation, noerewal, termination of, or modification to any fér or (iii) any actual, alleged, possible, or gutial obligatiol
on the part of an Acquired Company to undertaki drear all or any portion of the cost of, any reiakaction in excess of $100,000.

() The execution, delivery and performance by the e&ellof this Agreement and the other Transactionubwmnts and tt

consummation of the Contemplated Transactions doeand will not violate, conflict with or resuti ia breach by the Sellers or any Acqu
Company of any Permit or Application, or resulaimy termination, modification or non-renewals tlodére

3.9 Proceedings; Governmental Orders

(a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.9¢agre is no pending Proceeding:

(i) that has been commenced by or against any Acq@icedpany, its properties or other assets, or ottsennélates to or m
affect an Acquired Company;

(i) that challenges, or that may have the effect ofgmtng, delaying, making illegal, or otherwisedriering with any of th
Contemplated Transactions; or

(iii) that is in respect of any Permit.

To the Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partnéngr ethan as set forth on _Schedule 3.9(&)) no such Proceeding has been threa
(whether orally or in writing), and (2) no eventshaccurred or circumstance exists that may give tés or serve as a basis for
commencement of any such Proceeding. ResourceePatias delivered to Buyer copies of all pleadimgsiprivileged correspondence, ¢
other non-privileged documents relating to eachc@eding listed on_Schedule 3.9(dfxcept as set forth on_Schedule 3.9(apne of suc
Proceedings, if adversely determined, would redslgrize expected to involve, individually or in thggregate, an award of damages in e:
of $250,000.
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(b) Except as set forth on Sche@udb):

(i) there is no Governmental Order relating to &wrguired Company or that any Acquired Company lgest to;

(i) no Related Person of any Acquired Company is stiligany Governmental Order that would impair oevent th:
Consummated Transaction or that would impair ahtoKnowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partners ptégyer's use, conduct or activ
relating to the performance of the business of Alsguired Companies after Closing in substantialg same manner as the Acqu
Companies have conducted such business prior &irg@lto

(i) each Acquired Company is and at all times has lednll compliance with all of the terms and rearitents of eac
Governmental Order to which it has been subjed,ramevent or circumstance exists that may conetiu result in (with or without notice
lapse of time) a violation of or failure to compijth any Governmental Order to which any Acquirezh@any is subject; and

(iv) no Acquired Company has received any notice orratbenmunication (whether oral or written) from a@pvernment:
Authority or any other Person regarding any actaiééged, possible, or potential violation of, aildire to comply with, any term or requirem
of any Governmental Order to which any Acquired @any is bound.

(c) Except as set forth in Schedig(c), to the Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partileese are no existing claims by
disputes between any Acquired Company and Persaning, controlling or occupying lands or realityjaarning or near any of the r
property and or reserves of such Acquired Compansegarding adverse possession, the location ohdemy lines, encroachments, mi
rights, subsidence, water quality or quantity, l@amage, blasting damage, trespass, waste, tréatsmo of coal or other materials, nuisar
or other similar matter.

3.10 Absence of Certain Change&xcept as disclosed in_Schedule 3d0as otherwise contemplated by this Agreemente
December 31, 2010:

(a) there has not been any condition, change antesecific to the Acquired Companies which has, leedvould reasonably
expected to have, individually or in the aggregat®laterial Adverse Effect;

(b) the business of each Acquired Company has temtucted only in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(c) the assets and properties of the Acquired Caoiepehave been operated and maintained in the @xditourse of Business ¢
there has not been any Material Adverse Effect;

(d) there has not been any material damage, désimuar loss (whether or not covered by insuraredégcting any material portic
of the assets or properties of the Acquired Congsni
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(e) there has not been any sale, transfer, leasadanment, or other disposal of any material ptgpe equipment of the Acquir
Companies, except in the Ordinary Course of Businasd

(N none of the Sellers or the Acquired Companias taken (or caused or permitted any of the Acquempanies to take) a
action which, if it had been taken by any of théle3e or any of the Acquired Companies after thee deereof, would have required Buyer’
approval or waiver under Section 6.1(b)(iii).

3.11 Tax MattersExcept as set forth in Schedule 3:11

(a) All Tax Returns required to be filed by or oghllf of each Acquired Company prior to the Clodrage (separately or as par
a consolidated, combined or unitary group) havenlmeshall be timely filed (subject to permittedensions applicable to such filing), all s
Tax Returns were materially correct and completalirrespects and all Taxes due (whether or noh Staxes are shown or required tc
shown on a Tax Return) have been or shall be pd#iinmhe prescribed period or any extension thigrether than Taxes that are be
contested in good faith for which adequate accroatgserves have been established on the Baldrest.S

(b) There are no Encumbrances relating to Taxesmhbering any of the assets of the Acquired Comgariee Partnership Intere
or the Membership Interests to be sold pursuatitisoAgreement.

(c) Other than in connection with routine extensiaf time for filing Tax Returns, none of the Acqgd Companies have gran
any extension or waiver of the statute of limitaigperiod applicable to any Tax or Tax Return,gread to any extension of time with resj
to a Tax assessment or deficiency, which periochbaget expired.

(d) No claim has ever been made by a Governmenttidiity in a jurisdiction where any of the Acqudr€ompanies do not file T
Returns that any of them are or may be subje@xation in that jurisdiction.

(e) None of the Acquired Companies are a partate bound by or have any obligation under, any sfeating agreement or simi
contract or arrangement or any indemnification egrent or any other agreement that obligates themake any payment computed
reference to Taxes, taxable income or taxable $ostany other Person.

(f) Since June 12, 2007, none of the Acquired Carigsa(i) have been a member of an Affiliated Gréilipg a consolidated fedel
Income Tax Return (other than the Affiliated Graafpvhich they are currently members) or (i) havey &iability for the Taxes of any Pers
(other than the Acquired Companies) under TreaRagulation Section 1.1502{or any similar provision of state, local of foye law), a
transferees or successors, by contract, or otherwis

(g) None of the Acquired Companies have distributiedk of another Person, or have had their stétkilouted by another Pers
in a transaction that was purported or intenddaktgoverned in whole or in part by Section 3556 8f the Code.
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(h) Resource Partners is, and has been sinceritgafon, classified as a partnership, within theanieg of Treasury Regulati
Section 301.77038-(and similar provisions of state and local Taw).and Resource Partners does not own, directiydirectly, any interest
an entity that is not an entity disregarded frosnovner within the meaning of Treasury Regulatiect®n 301.7708 (and similar provisior
of state and local Tax Law).

(i) Resource Partners has in effect a valid eladtioder Section 754 of the Code (and similar appli provisions of state and lo
Tax Law).

() There is no contract or agreement, plan orreyeanent by any of the Acquired Companies covermgRerson that, individual
or collectively, could give rise to the paymentasfy amount that would not be deductible by anyhef Acquired Companies by reasol
Section 280G of the Code.

(k) Each of the Acquired Companies has timely waldrand paid over to the appropriate taxing auth@ll Taxes that it is requir
to withhold from amounts paid or owing to any enygle, shareholder, creditor or other Person angiazerly completed and timely filed
Forms W-2 and 1099 (and similar forms) requirechwéspect thereto.

() No foreign, federal, state or local Tax auditsassessments or administrative or judicial prdiregs are ongoing, pending ol
the Knowledge of IRP GP, Resource Partners or Jdinesburg, former Tax Manager of Internationalustities and current Tax Manage
Resource Partners, threatened with respect toaherSor any Acquired Company, and neither Selersany Acquired Company has recei
from a Governmental Authority any request for imfiation related to any Tax matter, and neither thbe® nor any Related Person
employee responsible for Tax matters) of the Aapui€ompanies expects any authority to assess alitjoad! Taxes for or with respect to ¢
period for which Tax Returns have been filed.

(m) Neither the Sellers nor any of the Acquired @amies is or has been a party to any “reportalalestction,”as defined i
Section 6707A(c)(1) of the Code and Treasury RaguiéSection 1.6011-4(b).

(n) Each of the Acquired Companies is classifiedm®ntity disregarded from its owner within theamieag of Treasury Regulati
Section 301.7703-(and similar provisions of state and local Tax)land (ii) no Acquired Companies owns, directhiratirectly, any intere
in an entity that is not an entity disregarded fridsm owner within the meaning of Treasury Regulati®ection 301.7703- (and simila
provisions of state and local Tax Law).
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3.12 Employee Benefits

(a) Schedule 3.12(aets forth a list of each employee benefit pland@fined in Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirenanbme
Security Act of 1974, as amended_(* ERIS} each employment agreement, and each other plad, &gneement, or arrangement provit
bonuses, incentive compensation, profit sharingebes) pension benefits, compensation, deferredpesmmsation, equity compensation, wel
benefits, fringe benefits, severance payments, -q@tisement benefits, scholarships, disability bé&agefsick leave pay, vacation p
commissions, payroll practices, retention paymecitignge in control, or other benefits, maintainecantributed to by, or with respect
which there is or could be any Liability or obligat of, any Acquired Company or any trade or bussnevhether or not incorporated (an “
ERISA Affiliate "), which together with any Acquired Company woldd deemed a “single employer” within the meaningettion 4001(b)
(1) of ERISA (each a " Benefit Pldnand collectively, the “ Benefit Plari3, for the benefit of current or former employeesjcaffs, director:
independent contractors and consultants of the iked@Companies (* Company Employ€egs

(b) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.12(h)ith respect to each Benefit Plan: (i) if intedde qualify under Section 401(a) of
Code, such plan has received a current, favoradkrmination letter from the applicable GovernmEeAtahority stating that it so qualifies a
that its trust is exempt from taxation under SecB01(a) of the Code and nothing has occurred smeelate of such determination that ci
adversely affect such qualification or exempt stafii) such plan has been administered in all nteespects in accordance with its terms
applicable Law; (iii) no disputes are pending, torthe Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partnbrsatened that give rise to or mi
reasonably be expected to give rise to materiabiliig on the part of the Acquired Companies; (i@ nonexempt prohibited transacti
(within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA) haswted that gives rise to or would reasonably bgeeted to give rise to Liability on t
part of the Acquired Companies; (v) all contribaso reserves or premium payments required to beeroadccrued to or with respect to s
plan as of the date hereof (taking into accountetgnsions of time for the making of such contiiins) have been timely made or accrue
full and all contributions, reserves or premium ipayts required to be made or accrued between teéhdeeof and the Closing will be mad
accrued; (vi) Resource Partners has provided oermaadilable to Buyer complete and correct copiesach such Benefit Plan and any rel
trust or other funding agreement, any amendment,sammary plan descriptions, the most recent anredrt (Form 5500) and the m
recent actuarial valuation with respect theretd) éach Benefit Plan which after Closing covery amployee of an Acquired Company ma
amended or terminated unilaterally by an Acquiredn@any at any time without Liability other than feenefits accrued or incurred prior to
date of such amendment or termination; and (véi¢heof the Benefit Plans is insured or fully fundedreserves are established and |i
therefor on the most recent Financial Statementaimamarket value, and no Benefit Plan has unfdnigbilities that as of the Closing are
accurately and fully reflected in the Financialt8&taents. No Benefit Plan has incurred an accunaifateding deficiency, as defined in Sec
302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, whethenairwaived.
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(c) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.12(@)l except for Liabilities for premiums due to Bension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (*

PBGC”) in the ordinary course, no Liability has been imedrby the Acquired Companies or any ERISA Afféiainder or pursuant to Title
of ERISA, relating to its or their employee bengfians, and no event, transaction or condition d@=irred that has resulted in any ¢
Liability to the Acquired Companies or any ERISAfikdte or any employee benefit plan of the Acqdit€ompanies or any ERISA Affiliai
No Acquired Company and no ERISA Affiliate currgnthaintains, contributes to or participates in, abany time in the past, has maintail
contributed to, participated in, or had any obligatto maintain, contribute to, or otherwise papidde in, anyplan that is (i) subject to t
provisions of Title IV of ERISA, (ii) a “multiemplger plan” within the meaning of Section 4001(a)¢8)ERISA, (iii)) a “multiple employer”
plan within the meaning of Section 412 of the Caale(iv) a multiple employer welfare arrangementhivi the meaning of Section 3(40)
ERISA. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.12¢c}ontemplated by this Agreement, the executiothiaf Agreement and the consummatio
the Contemplated Transactions will not (either alon upon the occurrence of any additional or syset event) give rise to any Liability
any employee benefits, including Liability for semece pay, unemployment compensation, terminatiay @r withdrawal Liability, c
accelerate the time of payment or vesting or irse¢he amount of compensation or benefits dueytdCampany Employee.

(d) The Acquired Companies have complied with tpeliaable requirements of Part 6 of Subtitle B @feTl of ERISA and Sectic
4980B of the Code (* COBRA), and will comply with all COBRA obligations aiigg in connection with th€ontemplated Transactions, i
the Acquired Companies are not subject to any litglais a result of any failure to administer oreogte any “group health plandg defined i
COBRA and/or as defined in 45 Code of Federal Raguis Section 160.103) in compliance with COBRA/an the applicable requireme
of the Health Insurance Portability and Accouniibict of 1996 and the Regulations promulgatede¢header. Schedule 3.12(dentifies eac
Company Employee who has experienced@ualifying Event’ (as defined in COBRA) with respect to a Benefit Plemo has elected or
eligible to elect “Continuation Coveragé(as defined in COBRA) and whose maximum period foniuation Coverage required by COB
has not expired. Schedule 3.12&#0 lists the nhame of each Covered Employee wiom ia leave of absence (whether or not pursuatite
Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amende#NLA ")) and is receiving or entitled to receive health cage under an Employ
Benefit Plan, whether pursuant to FMLA, COBRA dnextwise.

(e) No Benefit Plan provides and no promises haanbmade to provide medical, surgical, hospitabratdeath or similar benef
(whether or not insured) for current or former eoygles, directors, officers, consultants, independentractors, contingent workers, or lec
employees (or any of their dependents, spousesgreficiaries) for periods extending beyond theiireenent or other termination of servi
other than continuation coverage mandated by agigkcl aw and only to the extent required under sypglicable Law.

3.13 Employees; Labor and Employee Ruiati

(a) Schedule 3.13(d)sts all current employees of each of the Acquiféaimpanies as of the Closing Date, and for each
employee: (i) job position; (ii) job location; (iiclassification as full-time or part-time; (iv)adsification as exempt or n@xempt unde
applicable state or federal overtime regulationd; Hourly rate of compensation or base salary (@sli@able); (vi) total 2009 and 20
compensation; (vii) target incentive compensation 2011 (including commission and/or bonus, as iegble); (viii) any other annu
compensation or allowance; (ix) vacation and pauc toff accrual rate; (x) accrued but unused vaoadéind paid time off; (xi) last pay revi
date; (xii) hours of work per week in 2010 (for rexempt and patime employees); (xiii) visa type (if any); (xiiie commencement date
employment and any breaks in service; and (xv)dhtity by which such employee is employed. Sche@u8(a)also discloses all op
workers' compensation claims against any Acquirechgany. The records of each Acquired Company atalyreeflect in all material respec
the employment or service histories of its empleyéedependent contractors, contingent workersleased employees, including their hc
of service, and all such records are maintaineal iisable electronic form, and each person whaasssifled on such records as an employ:
independent contractor is properly so classifielll.efployees are employeeswitt, terminable without notice and without penaltycept a
otherwise provided in the employment agreementsdisn Schedule 3.12(a)
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(b) Each Acquired Company has complied in all mateespects and is presently in compliance innadlterial respects with .
statutes, laws, ordinances, rules or regulationgng orders, rulings, decrees, judgments or atiiim awards of any court, arbitrator or
government agency relating to employment, equalodppity, nondiscrimination, immigration, wages, @oyee exemption status, hot
benefits, collective bargaining, the payment ofigosecurity and similar taxes, income tax withhiot] occupational safety and health, an
privacy rights of employees. Each Acquired Compamyrently, and for each of the prior three (3) gedras completed Form9s on file witt
respect to each of its employees. No key employegraup of employees of any Acquired Company hascated any plans to termin
employment with the Acquired Company before orrafte Closing.

(c) With respect to each Company Employee, theiegdpe Acquired Company: (i) has withheld and répdall amounts required
law or by agreement to be withheld and reportedh wespect to wages, salaries and other paymerts dime 12, 2007 preceding the Clo
Date, (ii) is not liable for any arrears of wagesyerance pay or any Taxes or any penalty forri&ailo comply with any of the foregoing sii
June 12, 2007 preceding the Closing Date, andigiiijot liable for any payment to any trust or othend governed by or maintained by ot
behalf of any governmental authority, with respiectinemployment compensation benefits, social sgcor other benefits or obligations
employees (other than routine payments to be nmadeei normal course of business and consistentpeith practice). No Acquired Compi
has any Liability with respect to any misclassifica of any person as (x) an independent contraettbier than as an employee, or with res
to any employee leased from another employer, Jaaufyemployee exempt from state or federal overtiegelations.

(d) Except as set forth in SchedB#3(d), (i) none of the Acquired Companies are preseatlparty to any written collecti
bargaining agreement in respect of the Company &yepls, (ii) there is no unfair labor practice cleaog comparable or analogous comp
pending before any Governmental Authority or, t® Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partners, gmedtagainst any Acquired Compe
(i) there is no, nor has there been in the phstd (3) years any, written grievance, order, disparbitration hearing, or arbitration aw
pending or filed or, to the Knowledge of IRP GP &ekource Partners, threatened against any AcqGioetpany, (iv) none of the Acquir
Companies are in breach of any order by a Govertah@nthority relating to the Company Employees, ithin the past three (3) years, tF
has been no labor strike, slowdown, work stoppagdockout in effect, or, to the Knowledge of IRFP@nd Resource Partners, threat
against or otherwise affecting any Acquired Companyhe Company Employees at any of their respeatiines, (vi) none athe Acquire
Companies are a party to, or otherwise bound by.cansent decree, order, award with, or citationdny Governmental Authority relating
employees or employment practices, (vii) there dsactual or, to the Knowledge of IRP GP and ResoiRartners, alleged breach of
material terms of any contractual obligations goirgg the employment of the Company Employees whiobld reasonably be likely to leac
the interference in any material respect with thieduct of the business of any of the Acquired Camgzaas currently conducted, and (viii
of the date hereof, there is no formal legal prdoege (i.e. petition for certification of represetita) to organize Company Employees whic
pending or, to the Knowledge of IRP GP and ResoBerners, threatened.
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3.14 Intellectual PropertySchedule 3.14ists all patents, patent applications, materialegistered trademarks, registered tradem
copyright applications and registrations, and im¢domain names, owned by or registered in theenafmany Acquired Company or otherw
used in the conduct of the business of any Acqu@ethpany. Except (a) as set forth_in Schedule 3.d4(b) as would not interfere in &
material respect with the conduct of the busindsany of the Acquired Companies as currently cotellicone or more of the Acquit
Companies legally or beneficially owns or has tightrto use, transfer and license all IntellectBabperty necessary for the conduct of
business of the Acquired Companies as it is cugrea@nducted. To the Knowledge of IRP GP and Resoirartners, the operation of
business of any of the Acquired Companies doesnidhge or otherwise violate any Intellectual Peofy of any other Person and, to
Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partners nonkeeofntellectual Property owned by any of the AcgdiCompanies is being infringed
any other Person.

3.15 Contracts

(a) Schedule 3.15(agets forth a complete list of each of the followrmntracts to which any Acquired Company is a partypy
which any of them is bound as of the date of thgse&ment (collectively, the * Material Contrat}s

(i) any option, purchase and sale contract or |éakether real or personal property) providing fonaal payments of $150,0
or more or that cannot be terminated on not maaa thirty (30) days’ notice without payment by akgquired Company of any penalty;

(i) contracts involving the annual expendituredny Acquired Company of more than $150,000 in asyaince for the purchase
materials, goods, supplies, equipment or servieeduding any such contracts that are terminabléhbyAcquired Companies without pen
on not more than thirty (30) days’ notice;

(iii) contracts providing for payments to any Acagd Company of more than $150,000 in any instaocéhe sale of natural g
materials, goods, supplies, equipment or servieeduding any such contracts that are terminabléhbyAcquired Companies without pen
on not more than thirty (30) days’ notice;

(iv) contracts involving the annual expenditure dyy Acquired Company of more than $150,000 for pluechase, sal
transportation or storage of coal,

33




(v) any agreement relating to Indebtedness fordveed money or the deferred purchase price of ptpp@rhether incurre
assumed, guaranteed or secured by any asset)dimglindentures, mortgages, loan agreements, $g@gieements, or other agreement:
the incurrence of debt, other than (A) trade act®payable incurred in the Ordinary Course of Bessnand (B) any such agreement relati
indebtedness owed to Sellers or any of their Aftds to be repaid on or before the Closing Daten@d to any Acquired Company;

(vi) partnership, limited liability company, jointenture agreements or other agreements involvirghaing of profits ¢
expenses by any Acquired Company;

(vii) any agreement under which (A) any Personl@iding any Seller) has directly or indirectly guateed any liabilities «
obligations of any Acquired Company (other than aogh guarantee by any other Acquired CompanyBdray Acquired Company hi
directly or indirectly, guaranteed any liabilities obligations of any other Person (including arellé® but excluding any other Acquit
Company);

(viii) any agreement prohibiting or limiting the iity of any Acquired Company to engage in any bess activity or compe
with any Person or prohibiting or limiting the atyilof any Person to compete with any Acquired Camp

(ix) any agreement relating to the acquisition mmpdsition of any business (whether by merger, ehlstock, sale of assets
otherwise), including any contract under which awgguired Company will have Liabilities after theteaof this Agreement relating to
acquisition or sale of any business enterprise;

(x) distributor, dealer, sales agency, marketingiorlar contracts under which any Acquired Compengbligated to pay aft
the date of this Agreement an amount in excesd @ $00 during any calendar year;

(xi) any other contract providing that any Acquir€dmpany will receive future payments aggregatiragarthan $100,000
annum or $500,000 in the aggregate prior the etipiraf such contract;

(xii) any contract with any current or former offic director or employee of any Acquired Companyany of the Selle
involving annual consideration or payments in exaefs$150,000, including offer letters with respecemployment scheduled to begin ¢
the date hereof;

(xiii) any consulting or similar agreement with arependent contractor providing for (A) annual ipayts by any Acquire
Company in excess of $100,000 or (B) aggregate patsnby any Acquired Company of $250,000, excluding such contracts that
terminable by the Acquired Companies without pgnait not more than thirty (30) days notice;

(xiv) any outstanding power-aittorney empowering any Person not a current emeglaf any Acquired Company to act
behalf of any Acquired Company;
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(xv) any employee collective bargaining agreemeitit any labor union or employees covering formerrent or future employe
of any Acquired Company or work done, being dontdye done in the future by any Acquired Company;

(xvi) any contract mining agreement; and
(xvii) any material agreement, commitment, arrangenor plan not made in the Ordinary Course of Bess.

(b) Each Material Contract is a valid and bindingrement of each Acquired Company which is a p#rgreto and, to tt
Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partners, eatheobther parties thereto, enforceable by or againsh Acquired Company and, to
Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partners, eashabf other parties thereto in accordance witreitsi$, except as such enforceability |
be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvencyautulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium @ther similar Laws relating to
affecting creditorstights generally and general equitable principlesgther considered in a proceeding in equity daw). Resource Partne
has heretofore delivered to Buyer true and commlefees of all such written Material Contracts. Eptas set forth in Schedule 3.15(lmone
of the rights of the Acquired Companies under thatévial Contracts have been assigned (includingrybsolute assignment of rent:
contracts) or collaterally assigned, assignedHterpurpose of granting security, or are affectedry security interest or similar encumbra
Except as set forth in Schedule 318one of the Material Contracts require consermotlesummate the Contemplated Transactions, whét
operation of law or otherwise.

(c) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.15(@) the applicable Acquired Company is, and &tiales has been, in compliance in
material respectwith all applicable terms and requirements of elsletterial Contract, (ii) to the Knowledge of IRP @Rd Resource Partne
each other Person that has had any obligationaiility under any Material Contract is, and attalies has been, in material compliance
all applicable terms and requirements of such N&t€ontract, (iii) to the Knowledge of IRP GP aRédsource Partners no event has occ
or circumstance exists that (with or without notazelapse of time) may contravene, conflict withresult in a violation or breach of, or g
the Acquired Companies, or any other Person th tigg declare a default or exercise any remedy mynateto accelerate the maturity
performance of, or to cancel, terminate, or modifiyy Material Contract, and (iv) no Acquired Comp&ias been given or received from
Person at any time since January 1, 2009, anyenritotice or other written communication or, to Kmowledge of IRP GP and Resou
Partners, oral notice or other oral communicategarding any actual, alleged, possible, or potkvitidation or breach of, or default under,
Material Contract.

3.16_Environmental MattersExcept as set forth on Schedule 3.16

(i) each of the Acquired Companies is in compliaintell material respects with all Environmentalwsaand any Perm
required pursuant to any Environmental Law and diaslosed to Buyer on Schedule 3.48y material norcompliance of any Acquirt
Company of any Environmental Laws and Permits whigs occurred since June 12, 2007;
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(ii) none of the Acquired Companies are currentlpjsct to any written, or to the Knowledge of IRP @nd Resource Partn
oral, Environmental Claim or written, or to the Kvledge of IRP GP and Resource Partners oral, noficny threatened Environmer
Claim, resulting from or arising under or pursusmaany Environmental Law, that would be materiabhtty Acquired Company, regarding
resulting from activities of any Acquired Compatiye business of any Acquired Company or any prgparassets currently owned, oper:
or used by any Acquired Company;

(iii) none of the Acquired Companies have entergd,ihave agreed to, or are subject to, any Goventah Order under a
Environmental Law regarding any Acquired Companiay property or assets currently or formerly owrgguerated or used by any Acqui
Company, that would interfere in any material respeéth the ability of such Acquired Company to tiane to operate its assets and con
its business as currently conducted or would reswdhy Liability to any Acquired Company;

(iv) no property currently owned or operated by agquired Company (A) is listed or, to the Knowledgf IRP GP ar
Resource Partners, proposed for listing on the QEEREational Priorities List or CERCLIS list or argimilar Governmental Authoritg’list of
sites at which remedial action is or may be necgsza(B) to the Knowledge of IRP GP and Resouragriers, contains asbestos or asbestos
containing materials, or polychlorinated biphentlat is in a condition constituting a violation Bhvironmental Law, would reasonably
expected to result in material Liability under Enovimental Law or is in a damaged or friable cooditiand

(v) to the Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Pastribere is no block or punitive legal limitation any Acquired Company’
ability to apply for or obtain any Permit under dgvironmental Law;

(vi) no Acquired Company has received any writt@ation, directive, inquiry, notice, Governmentatder, warning or oth
written communication or, to the Knowledge of IR @nd Resource Partners, oral citation, directivgyiry, notice, Governmental Ord
warning or other communication that relates to Haaas Materials or any alleged, actual, or potéwii@ation or failure to comply with ar
Environmental Law, or of any alleged, actual, otgpdial obligation to undertake or bear the costrof Environmental Losses;

(vii) no Acquired Company has experienced any nt&nvironmental Losses since January 1, 2008;

(viii) since January 12, 2010, there has been nteniah Release nor is there any threat of matdRielease at or from a
equipment, real property, leaseholds, or otherésts currently or formerly owned, leased or ogetdty LMR, or at any other location wh
any Hazardous Materials were generated, manufattueéined, transferred, produced, imported, usegrocessed from, by, for or to LMR;

(ix) since June 12, 2007, there has been no mbRegiaase nor is there any threat of material Reled or from any equipme
real property, leaseholds, or other interests atlsrer formerly owner, leased or operated by arpguéired Company (othéhan LMR), or &
any other location where any Hazardous Materialeevgenerated, manufactured, refined, transferresjuzed, imported, used, or proce:
from, by, for or to any Acquired Company (othernthaviR); and
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(x) to the Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Pastrthere has been no environmental investigatioilys audit, test, review
other analysis conducted since June 12, 2007, redpect to the activities conducted by any of tlegulred Companies on Real Prop
required under a Permit or any Environmental Laat tras not been delivered or made available to Boyer to the date hereof.

3.17 Insurance Schedule 3.1T7sts all insurance policies held in the name of ahthe Acquired Companies covering the asset:
operations of any Acquired Company and any Comgamployees as of the date hereof, specifying theipsl numbers, terms, the insul
amount of coverage, annual premiums and type afrémee (including, but not limited to details redjag BroadForm Employers Liabilitie
(Mandolidis) coverage and Federal Black Lung Wask&ompensation since January 1, 2000). Resour¢relPaihas delivered to Buyer t
and complete copies of all insurance policiesdisie_ Schedule 3.17Except as set forth on Schedule 3,81 such policies are in full force &
effect, on an occurrence basis, all premiums deestin have been paid and, where applicable, eaghir’d Company has complied in
material respects with the provisions of such petiand have not received any notice from anyfrisurance brokers or carriers that ¢
broker or carrier has cancelled or terminated acayeror will not be willing or able to renew thekiging coverage or reserved rights v
respect to any outstanding claim. All insuranceigies not held in the name of any Acquired Company which cover the assets
operations of the business of any Acquired Company any Company Employees are in full force andatffsubject to changes made in
Ordinary Course of Business that will not mateyiaéiduce the coverage thereunder) and will renmafall force and effect until the Closing,
which time, coverage thereunder will be discontthuéth respect to the Acquired Companies and tteness of the Acquired Companies.
of the date hereof, there are no claims outstanditter any insurance policy described in this $ac8.17 and relating to the business of
Acquired Company, and, to the Knowledge of IRP GH Resource Partners, no event has occurred whight mive rise to any claim
excess of $100,000. There is no claim by any Aegui€ompany pending under any such insurance pelicievhich coverage has b
guestioned, denied or disputed by the underwrttexseof or in respect of which such underwritergehigeserved their rights. To the Knowle
of IRP GP and Resource Partners, the underwrifesaah insurance policies have not threatened emyination of, material premium incre.
with respect to, or material alteration of coveragéer, any such policies.

3.18 Personal Property Assets

(a) Schedule 3.18ets forth a true and complete list of all the matétems of machinery, equipment, vehicles, atfteo tangibl
personal property now owned or leased by any Aequ€ompany (the “ Material Personal Propéjtywhich list represents all such prope
used in connection with the businesses of the AequCompanies and is sufficient to operate thenmssies of the Acquired Compal
consistent with past practices. Except as set fontlschedule 3.18each Acquired Company has good and marketalgetdit or holds by
valid and existing lease or license for, all thetdiml Personal Property, excepith respect to assets disposed of in the OrdiGoyrse c
Business since such date, free and clear of allifabcances, other than Permitted Encumbrances. iEsanhof the Material Personal Propert
in working order and repair (normal Industry wead @aear excepted), has been operated and maintairtieel Ordinary Course of Business
consistent with prudent coal mining industry staddaand is in suitable and adequate condition f& consistent with past practices
prudent coal mining industry practices.
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(b) Except to the extent reserved for in the Fimgn8tatements, the accounts receivable of eacluifed) Company (i) are valid a
genuine and (ii) have arisen solely out of bona Bdles and deliveries of goods, performancesreices and other business transactions i
Ordinary Course of Business.

(c) Schedule 3.18(@)ntains a true and complete list of all of theskesy instruments and other agreements and arrangemesuat
to which any Acquired Company leases or rents aayekial Personal Property to or from any other &eigher than between or among
(2) or more of the Acquired Companies (collectivetye “ Equipment eases’). Resource Partners has delivered to Buyer availabéean:
complete copies of all of the Equipment LeaseshEzguipment Lease is a valid and binding agreemaeatich Acquired Company which i
party thereto in accordance with its terms, exaptsuch enforceability may be limited by applicabnkruptcy, insolvency, fraudule
conveyance, reorganization, moratorium and otherilai Laws relating to or affecting creditsrrights generally and general equit
principles (whether considered in a Proceedingduitg or at law). Except as set forth on Schedull8®) , (i) the applicable Acquire
Company is, and at all times has been, in compéiamall material respects with all terms and regmients of each Equipment Lease; (ii) tc
Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partners, any &eson that has had any obligation or Liabilinder any Equipment Lease is, and ¢
times has been, in compliance in all material retspeith all terms and requirements of such Equipnhease, (iii) no event has occurret
circumstance exists that (with or without noticdapse of time) may contravene, conflict with, esult in a violation or breach of, or give
Acquired Companies, or any other Person the rightiéclare a default or exercise any remedy undeto caccelerate the maturity
performance of, or cancel, terminate, or modifyy &guipment Lease, and (iv) no Acquired Company lbeen given or received from ¢
Person at any time since January 1, 2009, anyenriibtice or other communication or, to the Knogkdf IRP GP and Resource Partners
oral notice or other communication regarding anyalg alleged, possible, or potential violationboeach of, or default under, any Equipn
Lease.

3.19 Real Property

(a) Leased PropertiesSchedule 3.19(a)(ilists all material real property and water righagd other material interests in la
including coal, mining, exploration and surfacentsy easements, rights of way and options, leassdldeased by any Acquired Company
“ Leased Real Property and all of the leases and subleases relateétihgthe “ Real Property Leas8s Resource Partners has delivere
made available to Buyer true and complete copiesl deal Property Leases. With respect to each Regperty Lease and except as other
specified on Schedule 3.19(a)@) where the failure of any of the following to tvee and correct would not reasonably be expectéatérfert
in any materiarespect with the respective abilities of the AcgdiCompanies to continue to operate their respeetdsets and conduct tt
respective businesses as currently conducted:
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(i) each Real Property Lease is a valid and bindiggeement of each Acquired Company that is a pheyeto and, to tl
Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partners, eatheobther parties thereto, enforceable by or againsh Acquired Company and, to
Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partners, eashabf other parties thereto in accordance witreitsi$, except as such enforceability |
be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvencyaudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium @ther similar Laws relating to
affecting creditors’ rights generally and geneguitable principles (whether considered in a prdoggin equity or at law);

(ii) (A) none of the Acquired Companies are in mialedefault under any such Real Property Lease tmthe Knowledge
IRP GP and Resource Partners, no event has ocowtrieth, with the passage of time or expiration oy grace period, would constitut:
default of any Acquired Compars/obligations under such Real Property Lease, (Bh¢ Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partne
other party to any such Real Property Lease iefaut thereunder and (C) none of the Acquired Camgs have received a written or, to
Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partners, othtérenof default with respect to any such Real Priypeease;

(i) except for Permitted Encumbrances, no suclalRroperty Lease has been mortgaged, deededsndrwsubjected to
Encumbrance;

(iv) with regard to Leased Real Property, to theWhedge of IRP GP and Resource Partners an Acq@ioedpany has adequ
rights of ingress and egress to such Leased RepeRy and all building structures, facilities,tfixes and other improvements thereon;

(v) with regard to Leased Real Property, no Acqli@mpany owes any brokerage or other commissiatis respect to ar
such Real Property Lease for which adequate resérarse not been established on the Latest Balameet;Sand

(vi) other than Permitted Encumbrances, there arether matters that, to the Knowledge of IRP GB Resource Partne
would adversely affect the rights of any Acquiregh@any to the Leased Real Property.

(b) Owned Properties Schedule 3.19(b)(i)ists all material real property and other intesest land, including coal, minin
exploration and surface rights, easements, rightgay and options, owned by any of the Acquired @amies (the “ Owne&eal Property,
and collectively with the Leased Real Property,‘tReal Property), and the record title owner of the Owned Real Prigp&esource Partne
has delivered to Buyer true and complete copieslafeeds, and all title insurance policies, titlsurance, abstracts and other evidence o
(if any) in the possession of any Acquired Compeaigiting to the Owned Real Property. With respeatdach such parcel of the Owned |
Property, except as otherwise specified on Schegldl@(b)(ii) or where the failure of any of the following to bree and correct would n
reasonably be expected to be materially adverieetase of such Owned Real Property:
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(i) the identified owner has adequate rights of@sg and egress with respect to, and marketablsirfgde title to the parcel of t
Owned Real Property, free and clear of any Encuntas, except for Permitted Encumbrances;

(i) there are no pending or, to the KnowledgeRIPIGP and Resource Partners, threatened condempaticeedings, lawsui
or administrative actions or to the Knowledge oPI&P and Resource Partners other material matifexstiag adversely the current u
occupancy, or value of the Owned Real Property;

(i) to the Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Ragnno material Owned Real Property serves argjradg property for an
purpose inconsistent with the use of the Owned Regperty;

(iv) to the Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Pastnthere are no leases, subleases, licenses, sstotg or othi
agreements, written or oral, granting to any Petkerright of use or occupancy of any portion & @wned Real Property;

(v) no tenant or other Person in possession ofGwped Real Property has any right to purchase tshany right of firs
refusal to purchase any such properties; and

(vi) other than Permitted Encumbrances, there areother matters that would adversely affect thke titf any Acquire
Company.

(c) All material buildings, structures and otherpimvements located upon the Real Property, inctydith material componer
thereof, are in working order and repair (normalustry wear and tear excepted), have been opegatbdhaintained in the Ordinary Cours
Business and are in suitable and adequate condidramse consistent with past practices except@gdwnot reasonably be expected to he
Material Adverse Effect.

(d) None of the Acquired Companies have receivaedvaritten, or to Knowledge of IRP GP and Resoureettiers oral, notice
claims, with respect to the Real Property, that Aocguired Company has mined any coal that it didhave the right to mine or mined any ¢
in such reckless or imprudent fashion as to gise to any claims for waste or trespass and no &gt upon which such a claim could
based. Resource Partners has made available to Bigymost recent complete and, to the Knowledg&BfGP and Resource Partners, co
version of each of the following items to the extsmch items are (i) in the possession of any AegluCompany, (ii) relate to or affect the F
Property, including the coal reserves, coal owripraining conditions, mines, and mining, and (iiaterial to the use or operation of
assets of any Acquired Company: geological datserve data, existing mine maps, surveys, core loge and associated data, ¢
measurements, coal samples, lithologic data, asdrve calculations or reports, washability analysereports, mine plans, mining pet
applications and supporting data, engineering studid all other books and records, informatiorpaneeports and data.
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(e) There does not exist any pending or, to thevdedge of IRP GP and Resource Partners, any thmegteondemnation action
any other Governmental Action undertaken to enfamg land use that would reasonably be expectedaterially affect or materially imp:
the present use or operation of the Real Propeadynane of the Real Property has suffered any mhtiamage by fire or other casualty.

3.20 No Brokersor Other Fees Except for those Persons listed on Sche828, whose fees and expenses will be paid by Selte
Person has acted directly or indirectly as a brokeder, investment banker or financial advisor donnection with the Contempla
Transactions, and no Person is entitled to anypfemmmission or like payment in connection witk thontemplated Transactions based |
any agreement, arrangement or other understanciaig ifmy or on behalf of Sellers.

3.21 Affiliate Transactions Except as set forth on Schedule 3,2Ince January 1, 2008, there have been no trémsaor agreemer
between any Acquired Company, on the one handaapaf its Related Persons (including Sellers)ror ef their Affiliates, on the other hai
including loans, services agreements, consultimgeagents, employment agreements, or business amemgs. None of the Related Per:
(including Sellers) or any of their respective Affies has entered into or engaged in any tramsagtith any Acquired Company other tl
transactions entered into in the Ordinary CoursBusfiness and that are on an arm’s length basis.

3.22 Customers and SuppliersSchedule 3.2Zontains (a) a list of the top ten (10) customdrghe Acquired Companies or
consolidated basis (determined on the basis ofwea® for each of the last two (2) fiscal years @ list of the top ten (10) suppliers of
Acquired Companies on a consolidated basis (detextindn the basis of cost of items purchased) $oafiyear 2010. No customer set fortl
Schedule 3.2has ceased or materially reduced its purchasesdrame of the services of any Acquired Compangesibecember 31, 2010,
to the Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partnasstiireatened to cease or materially reduce sudhgses or use after the date hereo
supplier set forth on Schedube?? has ceased or materially reduced its supply of madgeor goods or provision of services to any Aiceg
Company since December 31, 2010, or to the KnovdetfgdRP GP and Resource Partners, has threatenamshse or materially reduce s
supply or provision after the date hereof. To theoWledge of IRP GP and Resource Partners, no sustbroer or supplier is currently in,
threatened with, bankruptcy or insolvency.

3.23 Absence of Certain Business Practidds Acquired Company, nor any of their RelatedsBas, or any Person acting on behz
any Acquired Company has, directly or indirecthyithin the past two (2) years given or agreed toegiwy gift or similar benefit to a
customer, supplier, governmental employee or offeson who is or may be in a position to help adér the respective business of ¢
Acquired Company (or assist such Acquired Compangdnnection with any actual or proposed transaftibat (a) might subject a
Acquired Company to any material damage or mateeaklty assessed by any Governmental Authoridyif fliot given in the past might he
had a Material Adverse Effect, (c) if not continuiedthe future, might have a Material Adverse Effec (d) might subject any Acquir
Company to a Proceeding by any Governmental Authori
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3.24_Full Disclosure To the Knowledge of IRP GP and Resource Partrikesrepresentations and warranties made by IRRait
Resource Partners in this Agreement and the aati#f to be delivered pursuant to Section 2.3(&@idl Section 8.3 of this Agreement do
contain any untrue statement of material fact oit bonstate a material fact necessary to make &tiyeon in light of the circumstances in wh
they were made, not misleading.

ARTICLE llIA

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLERS

Each Seller individually represents and warrangsjemlly, but not jointly, to Buyer and only to thextent that the followir
representations and warranties pertains to sudbrZeild its ownership interest in Resource Partreex®f the date hereof and as of the Clc
Date, other than representations and warrantigseipmessly speak as of the specific date and gimiéch need only be true and correct ir
respects or true and correct in all material retspas applicable, as of such date and time), &sfsl

3A.1 Organization Seller is duly organized, validly existing andgiood standing under the Laws of its jurisdictidroanization.

3A.2 Authorization; EnforceabilitySeller has the requisite organizational power antiority to execute and deliver this Agreemenl
the other Transaction Documents and to perforrahitigations hereunder and thereunder. The execatiohdelivery of this Agreement and
other Transaction Documents by Seller, and theopmdnce of its obligations hereunder and thereynuas been duly authorized by
necessary company action on the part of Seller, @pdn such authorization, no other proceedingactions are necessary to authorize
consummate this Agreement, the other Transactiocudents or the Contemplated Transactions. This ékgemt has been, and upon
Closing Date the other Transaction Documents véll duly executed and delivered by Seller, and,rasgydue authorization, execution
delivery by Buyer, constitute the valid and bindimgreements of Seller and are or will be enforaealglainst Seller in accordance with t
terms, except as may be limited by applicable baptky, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorgaion, moratorium and other simi
Laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights geally and general equitable principles (whethersatered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

3A.3 No Conflicts or Approvals Except as set forth on Schedule 3tBe execution, delivery and performance of thige®ement ar
the other Transaction Documents and the consummafidhe Contemplated Transactions does not anldnwil (a) violate, conflict with ¢
result in a breach by Seller of its Organizatiobatuments, (b) require any filing with or permiti@ent or approval of, or the giving of i
notice to any Person, or (¢) assuming compliandk applicable requirements under the HSR Act, ¥&glaonflict with, or result in a mater
breach of any Governmental Order or Law applicabl8eller.

3A.4 Interests The authorized, issued and outstanding Partnetstépests are set forth on Schedule 3A.4, togetlittr the identity o
the partners. On the Closing Date, Seller will e tecord and beneficial owner and holder of thneship Interests shown @chedule 3A.
as being owned by it, free and clear of all Encuanbes. Seller is not a party émy option, warrant, purchase right, or other cmtitio
commitment (other than this Agreement) that coelglire Seller to sell, transfer or otherwise digpokSeller's Partnership Interests.
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ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

Buyer hereby represents and warrantelierS, as of the date hereof and as of the Cld3utg, as follows:

4.1 Organization Buyer is a corporation duly organized, validlyistiag and in good standing under the Laws ofutssgiction of it
formation. Buyer has the requisite organizatiorah@r and authority to own, lease and operate gstasand to carry on its business as
being conducted and is duly qualified or licenseddo business and is in good standing in the jigtimths in which the ownership of
property or the conduct of its business requireh squalification or license, except where the f&lto be so qualified or licensed would
reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggte, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

4.2 Authorization; Enforceability Buyer has the requisite organizational power autthority to execute and deliver this Agreement
the other Transaction Documents and to perforrabtigations hereunder and thereunder. The execatidndelivery of this Agreement and
other Transaction Documents by Buyer and the perdoce of its obligations hereunder and thereundsr leen duly authorized by
necessary organizational action on the part of fuantty and, upon such authorization, no other degdion or partnership proceedings
actions are necessary to authorize or consummasteédtreement, the other Transaction Documents erGbntemplated Transactions. 1
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents haea duly executed and delivered by Buyer and,naisgudue authorization, execut
and delivery by Sellers, constitute the valid aimtliing agreements of Buyer and are enforceablenag8iuyer in accordance with their ter
except as may be limited by applicable bankrupiegolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganizatimoyatorium and other similar La
relating to or affecting creditors’ rights geneyadind general equitable principles (whether comsidién a proceeding in equity or at law).

4.3 No Conflicts or Approvals The execution, delivery and performance by Bugkthis Agreement and the other Transac
Documents and the consummation by Buyer of the &oplated Transactions does not (a) violate, cdnflith or result in a breach by Bu
of its Organizational Documents, or (b) violateresult in a breach of any Governmental Order or lapplicable to Buyer or any of
properties or assets.

4.4 Governmental Authorization Assuming compliance with the applicable requiretmef the HSR Act and compliance with
requirements of the Securities Act, or the Seasgitind Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and #my bhited States state or fed
securities laws, the execution, delivery and penforce by Buyer of this Agreement and the other Jaetion Documents and -
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions,imeaqo action by or in respect of, or any GoverntaeApproval, except with any su
action orfiling as to which the failure to make or obtain wleb not be material to Buyer and its Subsidiariespcevent Buyer fro
consummating the Contemplated Transactions.
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4.5 No Broketsor Other Fees Except for those Persons listed on Scheduie whose fees and expenses will be paid by Buye
Person has acted directly or indirectly as a brokeder, investment banker or financial advisor donnection with the Contempla
Transactions, and no Person is entitled to anypfemmmission or like payment in connection witk thontemplated Transactions based |
any agreement, arrangement or other understancag oy or on behalf of Buyer.

4.6 Permit Blocking To the Knowledge of Buyer, there is no block aniive legal limitation on the ability of Buyer @ny of it
Affiliates to apply for or obtain any Permit undery Environmental Law.

ARTICLE V

EXCLUSIVE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

5.1 WARRANTIES EXCLUSIVE. Except for the express representations and wiggaget forth in Article 1ll, Buyer acknowled¢
that Sellers are making no (and Buyer specificdibglaims that it is relying upon or had relied o@my) representation or warranty, expre:
implied, at law or in equity, in respect of the Aixg@d Companies or any of their respective astédbjlities or operations, and any such o
representations or warranties are hereby expreistlaimed. Buyer acknowledges that it has insgketed is knowledgeable of the ¢
reserves that are included with the Real Propétgordingly, except for the representations andrargies in Article 1l related to title of tl
Acquired Companies to the coal reserves or anytgightitle of the Acquired Companies to the cadarves otherwise existing at Law ¢
equity, notwithstanding anything to the contraryAiriicle 1ll, the coal reserves that are includelwithe Real Property are accepted by B
on an “AS IS"basis, there being no warranties or representat@tier express or implied, including but not lieai to mineability of the co:
merchantability of the coal, fithess for a partaruburpose, quality of the coal or quantity of dmal. With respect to any projection or fore
delivered by or on behalf of Sellers or any Affiéido Buyer as part of the express representatindswarranties set forth in Article Ill, Buy
acknowledges that (w) there are uncertainties egrftem attempting to make such projections andcists, (x) it is familiar with su
uncertainties, (y) it is taking full responsibilityr making its own evaluation of the adequacy aoduracy of all such projections and forec
so furnished to it, and (z) it shall have no claigainst any Person with respect thereto.
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ARTICLE VI

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS

6.1 Conduct of Business Prior to the Closing

(a) Sellers covenant and agree that Sellers will, &ill require each Acquired Company to, exceptaf expressly contemplated
this Agreement, (ii) as disclosed in Schedule §.&(diii) with the prior written consent of an autimed officer of Buyer, fronthe date here
to Closing, (A) conduct the business of each AagiCompany in the Ordinary Course of Businessu@®) commercially reasonable effort
preserve intact the current business organizatia@aoch Acquired Company, keep available the sesvidehe current officers, employees,
agents of each Acquired Company, and maintaineteions and good will with suppliers, customeasidlords, creditors, employees, age
and others having business relationships with each Acquired Company, and (C) maintain and renewecessary, all insurance polic
listed on_Schedule 3.1and all insurance policies not held in the namargyf Acquired Company but which cover the assetsogadations ¢
the business of any Acquired Company and any Coyngamloyees.

(b) Without limiting the foregoing, Sellers covenamd agree that they will not, and will requirecleacquired Company not
except (i) as expressly contemplated by this Agexem(ii) as disclosed in_Schedule 6.16) (iii) with the prior written consent of
authorized officer of Buyer, from the date herenpfosing,

(A) change any Acquired Compasyauthorized or issued membership interests; gaagitoption or right to purcha
membership interest of any Acquired Company; issoye security convertible to a membership intergsint any registration rights in st
membership interests; or sell, pledge, purchaskeem, retire, or otherwise acquire any memberstgrests;

(B) amend the Organizational Documents of any AaguCompany;

(C) pay or increase any bonuses, salaries, sewve@nuther compensation to any stockholder, direcifficer, or employe!
adopt or amend any Benefit Plan or Employee Arraregg, or enter into any employment, severancejmoilas contract with any directc
officer, or employee (except in the Ordinary Cow&8usiness);

(D) cause a material change in the accounting naistloo practices, collection policies, pricing piEi or payment policit
used by any Acquired Company;

(E) make any Tax election or settle or compromisge federal, state, local or foreign income Tax lligh or waive ol
extend the statute of limitations in respect of angh Taxes;

(F) (i) make any loan, or redeem or purchase amjtyemterests of an Acquired Company, transfer agget, or enter into
agree to enter into any transaction to, with ortf@r benefit of any Acquired Company or any of ithfiliates (or agree, whether in writing
otherwise, to do any of the foregoing) or (ii) makey loans, advances or capital contributions taneest in, any other Person, except
employee advances for expenses in the OrdinarysgéaifrBusiness;
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(G) sell, transfer, license, sublicense, leasd, gentherwise dispose of or encumber any of thaesked Real Property, Owr
Real Property or Material Personal Property peirtigino the businesses of the Acquired Companidsrathan the (i) sale of coal, ot
inventory and obsolete equipment, (ii) lease, sag#eor entering intother contractual relationships by and among anuked Company ar
one or more other Acquired Companies or third partelating to rights of way, surface rights orikimrights of use, (iii) purchase of lea:
equipment under existing lease options that areatisd on Schedule 3.18(cdr (iv) lease of additional equipment in the @ediy Course «
Business under existing master leases that arségton Schedule 3.18(c)

(H) cancel any debts owed to or waive any matet&ims or rights of the Acquired Companies;

(I) fail to make any capital expenditure or commétm in the Ordinary Course of Business or as pldraee of the da
hereof, or make or commit to make any capital eggare or commitment outside the Ordinary Cours8aginess not planned as of the da
this Agreement;

(J) recognize any labor union or other employeeasgntative, or enter into any collective bargajragreement;

(K) incur, assume or guarantee any Indebtedness tihn such Indebtedness that is repaid in fidrgo Closing, or ent
into any swap or other offalance sheet transaction for its own accountnterénto any economic arrangement having the evaneffect o
any of the foregoing;

(L) amend or terminate any Material Contract, Equépt Lease or Real Property Lease or enter intoagmgement th
would be considered a Material Contract, Equipmesrdse or Real Property if entered into prior to da¢a hereof, or waive or assign
material right under any Material Contract, Equipinéease or Real Property Lease, including gramténtellectual Property rights |
assignment, license or otherwise;

(M) satisfy any liabilities or compromise or set{iacluding by entering into any consent decreey Ewsuit or clain
(including any lawsuit or claim involving a Goverantal Authority) unless such satisfaction or conmpis includes the payment in full by
applicable Acquired Company of all financial obligas arising therefrom;

(N) fail to pay accounts payable and other oblmadi when they become due and payable;

(O) merge or consolidate with, or agree to mergeasrsolidate with, or purchase the assets of, leeratise acquire, al
business, business organization or division themoény Person (other than the purchase of afsetssuppliers and vendors in the Ordir
Course of Business);

(P) fail to maintain in full force and effect insunce comparable in amount and scope of coveragsuoance now carrit
by it; or
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(Q) agree, whether in imgtor by oral agreement, to do any of the foregoin

(c) Until such time, if any, as this Agreement is tarated pursuant to Article 1X, Sellers will not, anill cause their respecti
representatives not to, directly or indirectly,isit| initiate, or encourage any inquiries or pregls from, discuss or negotiate with, provide
nonpublic information to, or consider the merits ofyamsolicited inquiries or proposals from, any Bargother than Buyer) relating to ¢
transaction involving the sale of any Acquired Camy or any of the membership interests of any AeguCompany, substantially all of 1
assets of any Acquired Company, or any merger,atioliaion, business combination, or similar tratigacinvolving any Acquired Compar
Sellers, and each of their respective represeefgtighall immediately notify Buyer regarding anyntemt between Sellers, and/or tl
respective representatives and any other Persardiag any offer, proposal or related inquiry uslesich notification could violate &
existing confidentiality agreement to which an Acgd Company is a party.

6.2 Redemption Prior to the Closing, Resource Partners shakeedall the limited partnership units issuable wistanding und:
Resource Partners’ Restricted Unit Plan for a peigeal to such holder’s (the “ Redeemed Partijepso rata share of the Purchase Pric
which such Redeemed Partner would have been ehfitiesuant to this Agreement had such RedeemedédPdréld such limited partners
units immediately prior to the Closing (the “ Red®imn ") and satisfy or enter into an agreement pursuawhioh Agent on behalf of Selle
shall be solely responsible for satisfying any attor contingent obligations under Resource Pastnkeong-Term Incentive Plan (the
Contingency Obligation%). Resource Partners shall enter into a redemptioeeagent with each Redeemed Partner and shall enteai
agreement with each Person entitled to any Contieig®©bligation, each in a form reasonably satisfgcto Buyer which agreements sl
include, among other things, a release by such étedd Partner or such Person entitled to any CaarirnygObligations of Resource Partn
Buyer and their Affiliates in a form reasonablyistactory to Buyer.

6.3 Access and InvestigatiorBetween the date of this Agreement and the CidpEiate, Sellers will, and will cause each Acqu
Company and its Related Persons to, (a) afford Bagd its Related Persons and prospective lendersheir Related Persons (collectively, “
Buyer's Advisors”) reasonable access to each Acquired Comapgtsonnel, properties (including subsurfacernggticontracts, books a
records, and other documents and data, (b) fuBister and Buyes Advisors with copies of all such contracts, boaksd records, and ott
existing documents and data as Buyer may reasomaljlyest, and (c) furnish Buyer and BugeRdvisors with such additional financ
operating, and other data and information as By reasonably request.

6.4 Required Approvals; Consents

() As promptly as practicable after the date @ #hgreement, Sellers will, and will cause each diogd Company to, make
filings required by Law to be made by them in orteeconsummate the Contemplated Transactions eXeefitings to be made pursuant
Section 6.10 and Section 6.14 which shall be gaeby those sections. Between the date of thisekgeait and the Closing Date, Sellers
and will cause each Acquired
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Company to, (i) cooperate with Buyer with respecal filings that Buyer makes pursuant to Sectof(b), and (ii) cooperate with Buyer
obtaining and use its commercially reasonable &fféo secure all Consents and Governmental Appsovadjuired as a result of -
Contemplated Transactions identified in ScheduteaBd Schedule 3.@rovided that Selles commercially reasonable efforts shall not inc
making any cash payments to any party from whicbresent is sought other than the Consent Fees.

(b) As promptly as practicable after the date df thgreement, in consultation with Sellers, Buyel,vand will cause each of
Related Persons to, make all filings required by lta be made by them in order to consummate theidbmpiated Transactions except
filings to be made pursuant to Section 6.10 andi®@®6.14 which shall be governed by those sectiBesween the date of this Agreement
the Closing Date, Buyer will, and will cause eacbld®ed Person to, (i) cooperate with Sellers wibpect to all filings that Sellers mi
pursuant to Section 6.4(a), and (ii) cooperate @#llers in obtaining all Consents and GovernmeAfgirovals required as a result of
Contemplated Transactions identified in ScheduieaBd Schedule 3.7

(c) To the extent permitted by Law, Buyer and Sslihall each cause their respective counsel tpltp the other party copies
all correspondence, filings or written communicasidy such party or its Affiliates with any Goveramal Authority or staff members there
with respect to the Contemplated Transactions.

6.5 Further Actions Between the date of this Agreement and the CjpBiate, Sellers and Buyer will use their respectivexmerciall
reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taklleappropriate action, and do, or cause to be dalh¢hings necessary, proper or advisable L
applicable Laws or otherwise to consummate and reffieetive the Contemplated Transactions as prongstipracticable, and cooperate \
each other to do so, including without limitatiahtaining as promptly as practicable all Consentd @overnment Approvals necessar
order to consummate the Contemplated Transactiding, accordance with the provisions of this Agresnt.

6.6 Financing

(a) Buyer has received, accepted and agreed tanaitment letter, dated March 6, 2011 (the “ ComnmaitinLetter”) from the
lenders party thereto (collectively, the “ Lendé)ysrelating to the commitment of the Lenders to previtie debt financing required
consummate the Contemplated Transactions. The fadebtcing required to consummate the Contemplatexhdactions, whether obtair
pursuant to the arrangements contemplated by then@iment Letter or through substitute permanenarfiring arrangements which n
involve public or private offerings of debt or etyusecurities, is collectively referred to in tiigreement as the “ Financirig A complete an
correct copy of the executed Commitment Letterbiesen provided to Agent.

(b) Buyer shall use its reasonable best efforttake, or cause to be taken, all actions and tood@ause to be done, all thi
reasonably necessary, proper or advisable to camsiénand obtain the Financing on the terms anditonsl described in the Commitm
Letter, including (i) taking actions to enforce itghts under the Commitment Letter and (ii) usitsgreasonable best efforts to (A) negot
definitive agreements with respect thereto on #rens and conditions contained therein or on ottens no more adverse to Buyer in
material respect, (B) satisfy on a timely basiscalditions applicable to it in such definitive agments and (C) consummate the Financi
or prior to the Closing but in no event later tidame 1, 2011.
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(c) Buyer may terminate and replace the Commitrhetier with a New Commitment Letter or may amenel @ommitment Lett:
to add lenders, lead arrangers, bookrunners, sgtidlicagents or similar entities who had not exeduhe Commitment Letter as of the «
hereof, so long as (i) the addition of such lenderad arrangers, bookrunners, syndication agensinglar entities would not reasonably
expected to prevent or materially delay the consation of the Contemplated Transactions and (ii) Areanger (as defined in t
Commitment Letter) shall remain obligated and cottedito fund its financing commitments under ther@dtment Letter (as in effect prior
any such amendment) on the terms and conditiorsnalf,subject to the assignment provisions set fartthe Commitment Letter (as in eff
prior to any such amendment). Upon any such amengmeplacement, supplement or modification of @@mmitment Letter in accordar
with this Section 6.6(c), the term “Commitment legttshall mean the Commitment Letter as so amendeghlemmented or modified or a
New Commitment Letter in replacement of the CommitinLetter, as the case may be, and, in the ev@ttBuyer obtains Alternati
Financing in accordance with Section 6.6(d), thent¢Commitment Letter’shall mean the commitment letter (as amended, ceg
supplemented or modified in accordance with thistiSe 6.6(c)) related to the Alternative Financifidne term “ New Commitment Lettér
shall mean the instrument replacing the existingh@itment Letter that (A) is on terms not materidégs beneficial to Buyer than those
forth in the Commitment Letter; (B) does not inelany material conditions precedent to fundingRhencing that are not contained in
Commitment Letter; and (C) would not reasonably dxpected to prevent or materially delay the consation of the Contemplat
Transactions.

(d) In the event any portion of the Financing beesmnavailable on the terms and conditions contaeglin the Commitme
Letter (as such terms may be modified or adjusteattordance with the terms of, and within thetsnoif, the “flex”provisions contained in t
Commitment Letter or accompanying fee letter) foy aeason, Buyer shall use its reasonable bestteffo obtain, as promptly as practici
but no later than the Drop Dead Date, financingnfrlternative sources in an amount sufficient testonmate the Contemplated Transac
and that would not (i) involve any material conalits to funding the Financing that are not containeitie Commitment Letter; (ii) reasona
be expected to prevent or materially delay the gomsation of the Contemplated Transactions; anfifidlude terms that would be materi
adverse when compared to the terms of the Commitinetter (an alternative financing meeting the fmieg requirements shall be an *“
Alternative Financing). In the event that Alternative Financing shall beéagted pursuant to this Section 6.6(d), Buyer sbathply with th
covenants in Section 6.6(e) with respect to sutarAative Financing.

(e) Buyer shall give Sellers prompt written notafeany material breach by any party of the Committrieetter (or commitmen
for any Alternative Financing obtained in accordangith this Section 6.6(e)) of which Buyer beconssare, any termination of t
Commitment Letter (or commitments for any AltermatFinancing obtained in accordance with this $ec.6(e)) or any condition preced
of the Financing (or any Alternative Financing obéal in accordance with this Section 6.6(e)) wHitlyer expects will not be satisfied at
Closing, as applicable.
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(f) At Buyer’s request, Sellers shall cause the Acquired Comapaand its or their representatives, to use tregisonable be
efforts to (x) cooperate with Buyer to complete #iaancing to the extent that information relatitog or the participation by members
management of, the Acquired Companies is reasomaagssary in connection therewith; and (y) prodtiénformation and assistance the
customarily provided in financings comparable te groposed Financing. Without limiting the geneyatif the foregoing, Sellers shall ca
the Acquired Companies to:

(i) furnish to Buyer as promptly as practicablepnBuyers request from time to time, (1) all Financial 8taénts, (2) all oth
financial statements required by the Commitmentdrebr commitments for any Alternative Financifganed in accordance with Section 6.6
(e)) with respect to the Acquired Companies witthie time periods specified therein, including imfiation reasonably requested by Buye
assist in the preparation of pro forma financialttestnents and the projected consolidated finantiaéments of Buyer and (3) all finant
statements, business and other financial datat eepldrts and other information regarding the AcggliCompanies of the type that woulc
required by Regulation S-X and RegulatiolK $romulgated under the Securities Act for a regiest public offering of debt or equity securi
of Buyer (to the extent such information in claué®sor (3) currently exists and, in the event sifhrmation does not exist, Sellers will as
in obtaining such information at Buyer’s expense);

(i) use its reasonable best efforts to furnisBuyer, as promptly as reasonably practicable, dtifermation with respect to t
Acquired Companies reasonably requested by Buyerritimg (1) so that Buyer may satisfy the applieaBEC requirements for public cap
markets offerings and (2) of the type and form eotrily included in offering documents used in ptey placements under Rule 144A ui
the Securities Act;

(i) use its reasonable best efforts to furnishBoyer, as promptly as reasonably practicable,rinédgion relating to tr
Acquired Companies reasonably requested by Buyerriting that is customarily used in the prepamataf customary offering or informati
documents or rating agency, lender presentationgaar shows relating to the Financing;

(iv) upon reasonable advance notice and at Bayexpense, participate in investor presentatiomes) shows, due diligen
sessions and rating agency presentations in cdoneefth the Financing, including participation lsgnior management of the Acqui
Companies with appropriate seniority and expertise;

(v) cooperate reasonably with Buyer’s Financingrees’ due diligence, to the extent customary amsgdoeable and at Buyer’
expense;
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(vi) assist at Buyes expense with the preparation, including partitiggin drafting sessions, of any confidential imf@tior
memorandum, offering memorandum, prospectus, ratjizh statement or other offering document (inslgdany amendments or supplem:
thereto and an additional version of any confiddntiformation memorandum for use by “public-sidefiders) or rating agency presenta
used by Buyer in connection with the Financing;

(vii) request required consents of accountantsufge of their reports in any materials relating e Financing where t
inclusion of such reports is necessary and reghedlelivery of customary comfort letters and cosioy representation letters;

(viii) use its reasonable best efforts to facibtatledging collateral of the Acquired Companies@amnection with any de
portion of the Financing, including the executioralelivery of customary pledge and security agesgmand other customary certificates
documents prepared by Buyer, as may be reasonadphiested by Buyer (provided that any obligationstaioed in such documents shal
effective no earlier than as of the Closing);

(ix) provide authorization letters to the FinancBaurces authorizing the distribution of the AcgdiiCompanieshformation tc
prospective lenders;

(x) use commercially reasonable efforts to assiste and the Financing sources in benefiting fram Acquired Companies’
existing lending and investment banking relatiopshi

(xi) take such corporate actions (subject to trmugence of the Closing) as are reasonably negessapmplete the Financir
and

(xii) use reasonable best efforts to facilitate &xecution and delivery (at the Closing) of defigtdocuments related to !
Financing.

Sellers hereby consent to the use of the Acquirat&nieslogos in connection with the Financing; providedttauch logos are used solel
a manner that is not intended to or reasonablyliteeharm or disparage the Acquired Companie$erSellers or the reputation or goodwil
the Acquired Companies or the Sellers.

6.7 Further Assuranced~ollowing the Closing, Sellers and Buyer will,daeach will cause each of its respective Relateddps tc
from time to time, execute and deliver such addalanstruments, documents, conveyances or assgamd take such other actions as shi
necessary, or otherwise reasonably required beiSelbn the one hand, and Buyer, on the other remdpplicable, to confirm and assure
rights and obligations provided for in this Agreemand render effective the consummation of thet€@uoplated Transactions.

6.8 Purchase Price Deductions; Special Indemnity

(a) Sellers hereby agree that the Cash PortioheoPurchase Price shall be reduced by the amoeintsrgh on_Schedule 6.8(éhe
“ Purchase Price Deductiofs
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(b) Sellers hereby covenant and agree that, mithieé Closing, Sellers shall pay to the extent kmawd quantifiable (i) any and
performance bonuses earned by any Company Empthy@egh the Closing Date and not reflected in Quirtéabilities (* Bonuses); (i) any
and all “change of controlér similar payments to which any Company Employeerititled as a result of the Contemplated Trarma{bu
only to the extent such right is not waived in wgt by such Company Employee) (* Change of Corf@yments); and (iii) onehalf of any
cost or expense incurred by Sellers, Buyer or tbguited Companies to induce a third party to tkatain lease agreements listed under It
of Schedule 6.8(c) to consent to the assignmensudf lease and other similar fees related to &ade and arising from the Contempli
Transactions (the “ Consent Fégs

(c) Sellers hereby covenant and agree that, froma#ted the Closing, Sellers shall indemnify eacly@undemnitee, to the extt
provided in Section 10.1(a), for any Losses of sBafier Indemnitee with respect to, whether disdogeBuyer or not, any Bonus, Chang
Control Payment, Consent Fees or other matterostt bn_Schedule 6.8(¢)he “ Special Indemnity Matter$ arising on or after the Closi
Date, not included in the Purchase Price Deducipamsuant to Section 6.8(a) or not paid by Selpersuant to Section 6.8(b).

6.9 Guarantees; Seller Bonds

(a) Sellers Guarantees Prior to and after the Closing, Buyer shall caape with Sellers and their Affiliates and shalk U
commercially reasonable efforts, which shall in€ugreparation and submission of documents, pravisibinformation and response
requests, to cause Buyer and/or one or more Afgiaf Buyer to be substituted in all respectsJellers or any Affiliate of Sellers, in resp
of all Liabilities under the Seller Guarantees, amatause Sellers and all Affiliates of Sellersbfully released and discharged with res
thereto, in each case, as of the Closing Datejigeedvthat, Buyes commercially reasonable efforts shall not inclodking any cash payme
to any party from which a release is sought or iyt or amending any agreement with any party fiwhich a release is sought in a mai
that is adverse to the Acquired Companies or Bujthout limiting the generality of the foregoingijth respect to such Seller Guarantees
are the result of Sellers being an indemnitor uraaigr of Seller Bonds, Buyer may post a replaceraergty bond for the bond of the Comp
in the manner set forth in Section 6.9(b) in lidubeing substituted for Sellers. With respect ty &eller Guarantees which are not f
released and discharged prior to the Closing Eaiger shall continue to use commercially reasoneffterts to replace such Seller Guaran
and/or to cause Sellers and all Affiliates of Ssli® be fully released and discharged therefrdactde as of the Closing Date.

(b) Bonds. With respect to the Seller Bonds, Buyer shalltpesthin five (5) Business Days following the Ciog Date, .
replacement surety bond for the benefit of the fieiagies thereof in form and substance and isdued surety company that is satisfactor
such beneficiaries. Each such replacement suretyg bo provided by the Buyer shall provide on itsefghat it “supersedes and replacte’
applicable Seller Bond as of the Closing Date. Apwor to the Closing, Buyer shall deliver, or sauto be delivered, to Sellers, such ¢
documents as may reasonably be requested by Skllensler to permit Sellers to effect the full r@de and discharge of Sellers ant
Affiliates of Sellers as of the Closing Date. Buhiall reimburse Sellers on a monthly basis foredlsonable costs and expenses incurr
Sellers or the Affiliates of Sellers with respeztall such bonds that remain outstanding followtimg Closing Date to the extent such costs
expenses accrue on or after the Closing Date.

52




(c) Indemnification After Closing Buyer shall indemnify and hold Sellers and alfiliftes of Sellers harmless from and aga
and pay and reimburse Sellers and all AffiliateSelflers for, any and all Losses that they mayrieising or relating to the Seller Guaran
or Seller Bonds for events occurring on or after @osing Date. Any payment required to be mad&uoyer under this Section shall be m
within ten (10) Business Days after Buysereceipt of written notice from Sellers or any illdte of Sellers describing in reasonable deta
amount owing hereunder.

(d) Refund of Premiums All funds in respect of premiums that are refuhdle respect of Seller Guarantees or Seller Bom
account of the replacement thereof by Buyer pursteathis Section shall be for the account of Selknd their Affiliates. Buyer shall pay o
or cause the Acquired Companies to pay over te&einy such refunds received by any Acquired Compéter the Closing promptly up
receipt of such refunds.

(e) Required Efforts Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shaly party hereto be required to or otherwise filg wsuit ir
order to cause the replacement and/or release iaddatige of any Seller Guaranty or Seller BondeAfhe Closing, Buyer will not, and w
not permit any Acquired Company to, renew, extemdend or supplement any loan, contract, leaseher abligation underlying any guarar
with respect to which Sellers and their Affiliate® not fully released and discharged as of thei@joDate in any manner that would exten
increase the Liability of Sellers or any Affiliaté Sellers without providing Sellers with evidersagisfactory to Sellers that Sellers and 1
Affiliates have been fully released and discharged.

(f) Approval of Replacement BondsSo long as Buyer provides adequate credit sugpoithe replacement of each Seller B
pursuant to this Section 6.9 on or before the @p&late, any delay in the release of a Seller Boral bond being replaced at the discretic
Buyer in lieu of replacing Sellers as an indemnfiar a Seller Bond shall not constitute a breachthef covenant of Buyer to post s
replacement surety bond by the Closing Date.

6.10 Permits

(a) Pending Transfers; Document§Vithin five (5) Business Days following the Clogi Date, Buyer shall submit (i) all filin
necessary to cause the applicable GovernmentaloAtiés to transfer to Buyer the Permits (the “Aster Applications); and (ii) any and &
replacement bonds or other financial security piplecable, required to complete the transfer of Breemits and replace the Seller Bonds.
parties acknowledge that some Governmental Auikerinay not require a permit transfer but may negupdated ownership and con
information perhaps with a bond replacement antllerissuance of a new license or mine number aaidathy reference herein to a pe!
transfer shall also refer to bond replacement anaMmership and control information or issuanceaafew license or mine number. Prio
filing, Buyer shall deliver to Agent copies of ti@ansfer Applications. Sellers will cooperate wBliyer and take all actions necessar
complete all necessary forms to effect the Tran&fmlications and to effect Buyer’s ability to opez under Sellergiermits during the Perm
Transfer Period described below.
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(b) PostFiling Obligations. Buyer shall diligently pursue and use its comrnadiic reasonable efforts to expeditiously secure
transfer of all the Permits within the Permits Tafem Period, which shall include, but is not linditéo, cooperating with the relev
Governmental Authorities, participating in the galdomment process, and working with interestedigmand neighboring landowners. In
event Buyer fails to secure transfer of (i) alliRis (other than Permits for which there is a pegdiction) within three (3) months from
Closing Date and (ii) all Permits for which thegea pending action within twelve (12) months frdme Closing Date, then Buyer shall pa
Agent, for the benefit of Sellers the amount of ang all reasonable costs, expenses or damageseddy Sellers or their Affiliates resulti
from such failure, provided however, that if sueliure is caused by Sellerattions (including any failure by Sellers to takey amnecessa
action), then Sellers shall pay to Buyer the amairgny and all reasonable costs, expenses or damiagurred by Buyers or their Affilial
(including the Acquired Companies following the €llay) resulting from such failure.

(c) Violations. During the period of time from the Closing Datatilthe applications for the transfer of contrdltbe Acquiret
Companies has been accepted by the relevant GoeatahAuthorities (“_ Permits Transfer Perit)d if Sellers receive a notice of violati
under any of the Permits, it will give Buyer anck tApplicable Acquired Company (as owned by Buyeompt notice thereof. During t
Permits Transfer Period, Buyer and the applicaliguired Company (as owned by Buyer) shall use tt@inmercially reasonable efforts
timely cure such violation. If Sellers reasonabétedmine that Buyer or the applicable Acquired Camp(as owned by Buyer) will not cau
such violation to be cured in a timely fashion dgrthe Permits Transfer Period, they shall haveritiig to cure, or cause to be cured, ¢
violation and be reimbursed by Buyer or the appliegAcquired Company (as owned by Buyer) for alis@nable costs incurred in curing s
violation.

6.11 Confidentiality. The provisions of that certain letter agreemegnabd between Resource Partners and Buyer dateshiber 14
2010 (the “ ConfidentialitAgreement’), shall continue to apply to the parties as thougjkwadh parties were original signatories therdtthik
Agreement is terminated for any reason whatsoglerparties shall continue to be bound by the texfitke Confidentiality Agreement and
Buyer shall return to the Company all tangible edibhents (and all copies) of “Evaluation Materialis(defined in the Confidential
Agreement) that are in its possession.

6.12 Tax Matters

(a) Proration of Straddle Periodn the case of Taxes that are payable with regpeany Straddle Period, the portion of any
Tax that is attributable to the portion of the pdrending on the Closing Date shall be:

(i) in the case of Taxes that are either (A) bagsoh or related to income or receipts, or (B) inggbs connection with any si
or other transfer or assignment of property (regdeysonal, tangible or intangible), deemed equéhé amount that would be payable if the
years of each of the Acquired Companies (and eadhégrship in which any of the Acquired Compangea partner) ended with (and incluc
the Closing Date; and
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(i) in the case of Taxes that are imposed on @g&r basis with respect to the assets of any AeguCompany, deemed to
the amount of such Taxes for the entire periodifothe case of such Taxes determined on an arbeais, the amount of such Taxes foi
immediately preceding period), multiplied by a fran the numerator of which is the number of calandays in the portion of the per
ending on the Closing Date and the denominatorto€hvis the number of calendar days in the entargogl.

(b) Transfer TaxesAll excise, sales, use, transfer (including ygalperty transfer or gains), stamp and other smtéges, togeth
with any interest, additions or penalties with extghereto and any interest in respect of sucltiadd or penalties, resulting directly from
Contemplated Transactions (the “ Transfer Td¥e# any, shall be borne equally by Buyer, on the baad, and Sellers, on the other han
Sellers, on the one hand, or Buyer, on the othedhgay any Transfer Taxes then the other party shimburse the paying party for one hal
such Transfer Taxes actually paid. Any Tax Rettias must be filed in connection with Transfer Tasball be prepared and filed when
by the party primarily or customarily responsibledaer the applicable local law for filing such TagtBrns, and such party shall use reasol
commercial efforts to provide such Tax Returnshdther party at least ten (10) days prior todihe date for such Tax Returns.

(c) Cooperation on Tax Matters

(i) The Buyer and each of the Acquired Companiesthe one hand, and the Sellers, on the other tsdyadl, cooperate fully, .
and to the extent reasonably requested by the qthety, in connection with the filing of Tax Retgrrand any audit, litigation or ott
proceeding with respect to Taxes. Such cooperatiatl include the retention and, upon the othetyparequest, the provision of records
information that are reasonably relevant to anyhsaadit, litigation or other proceeding and makiegployees available on a mutui
convenient basis to provide additional informateomd explanation of any material provided hereundibe Buyer and each of the Acqui
Companies, on the one hand, and the Sellers, oottiee hand, agree to retain all books and recoittsrespect to Tax matters pertinent to
Acquired Companies relating to any taxable perieditning before the Closing Date until the expoatof the statute of limitations (and, to
extent notified by the other party, any extensitimereof) of the respective taxable periods, andkinle by all record retention agreem
entered into with any taxing authority.

(il) The Buyer and the Sellers further agree, uguest, to use their commercially reasonable tsftorobtain any certificate
other document from any Governmental Authority oy ather Person as may be necessary to mitigataceeor eliminate any Tax that co
be imposed (including with respect to the Contetgold ransactions).
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6.13 Employee PlansBuyer shall, or shall cause one of its Affiliates provide each individual who is employed by arfythe
Acquired Companies on the Closing Date and whoicoes employment with Buyer or any of its Affiliatéincluding the Acquired Compan
after Closing) after the Closing Date (the “ Contitg Employees) with a position providing base pay that is at lezptial to the base f
provided to such Continuing Employees by the applie Acquired Company immediately prior to the @igsDate.Nothing in this Sectic
6.13, however, will limit the right of Buyer to tainate or suspend employment of any Continuing Eyg# after the Closing, subject onl
the provisions of Section 6.15. For a period deast twelve (12) months beginning on the ClosirgeDthe Buyer shall provide, or cause t
provided, to Continuing Employees, employee beseiitd programs that, individually or in the aggtegare substantially similar either to
Employee Benefit Plans maintained or contributedbyothe Acquired Companies (as the case may bekfigployees of the Acquir
Companies as of the date of this Agreement or tpl@yee benefit plans and programs provided by thgeBto similar situated employees
the Buyer on the date as of which the substantgihilar comparison is made. Continuing Employdesigeceive full credit for their servic
with the Acquired Companies for purposes of eligipto participate and vesting in benefits undey @mployee benefit plans and progran
the Buyer and its controlled group of corporationa/hich they are eligible to participate; providdiiat no credit shall be given for purpose
benefit accrual or entitlement to severance benefiif the service credit would result in a duation of benefits. For the entire calendar ye
2011, Continuing Employees shall be permitted ke taarned but not taken vacation time-off as predith Sellers’ vacation timeff policy.
Buyer shall provide the Continuing Employees aneirtieligible dependents with credit for any co-pays, out-ofpocket expenses a
deductibles paid (to the same extent such cred#t girgen under a corresponding benefit plan prioth® Closing Date) in satisfying &
applicable deductible, co-payment or out-of-pockeuirements in respect of the plan year in whitthGlosing Date occurs.

6.14 Antitrust Notification

(a) As promptly as reasonably practicable following thescution of this Agreement, Buyer and Agent, ehdlf of Sellers she
make all preransaction notification filings required under tHSR Act (which shall be made no later than sevigrBlsiness Days after 1
date of this Agreement) and any other filing unaey statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulatiorigtesd to prohibit, restrict or regulate acti
for the purpose or effect of preventing monopol@atrestraints of trade or abusing a dominanttms{collectively, “ AntitrustL aws”) of any
country, state, province or jurisdiction of competgirisdiction requiring a notification and obsation of a waiting period or requiring pr
approval before consummating the Contemplated axdimns and the other Transaction Documents (*TRamsactionNotification Rules”).
Each of Buyer and Sellers shall: (i) cooperateyfwith each other and shall furnish to the otheshsnecessary information and reason
assistance as the other may reasonably requeshirection with its determination as to whether aich PreTransaction Notification Rul
are necessary or advisable and the preparationyofilangs under any Pr@ransaction Notification Rules; (ii) keep the otlparty reasonab
informed of any communication received by suchyp&m, or given by such party to any Governmemitathority charged with enforcin
applying, administering, or investigating any Anift Law, including the United States Federal Tr&tammission, the United Sta
Department of Justice, any attorney general ofstate of the United States or any other competaiotiority of any jurisdiction (Antitrusi
Authority "), and of any communication received or given in catina with any proceeding by a private party redatie the Antitrust Laws,
each case, regarding this Agreement and the otfams@ction Documents and in a manner that pro&titimeyelient or attorney work prodi
privilege; and (iii) permit the other party to rewi and incorporate the other pagstyeasonable comments in any communication giveit to
any Governmental Authority or in connection withygsroceeding by a private party related to Antitluaws with any other Person, in e
case, regarding the Contemplated Transactionsraadrianner that protects attorngient or attorney work product privilege. Unlegherwise
agreed and without limiting the obligations staiadthis Section 6.14(a), Buyer and Sellers shatlhease their respective commerci
reasonable efforts to ensure the prompt expiratfomny applicable waiting period under any Hransaction Notification Rules and apprc
by any relevant Antitrust Authority. Further, witltdimiting the obligations stated in this Secti®i4(a), Buyer and Sellers shall each use
respective commercially reasonable efforts to redparomptly to and comply with any request for imfiation any Governmental Author
regarding the Contemplated Transactions or filingsler any Pr@8+ansaction Notification Rules. Neither party herethall initiate, ¢
participate in any meeting or discussion with arov&nmental Authority with respect to any filinggplications, investigation, or other inqt
regarding the Contemplated Transactions or filimgder any Pr&ransaction Notification Rules without giving thther party reasonable pr
notice of the meeting or discussion and, to thergxpermitted by the relevant Governmental Autlgpthie opportunity to attend and particif
(which, at the request of any party, shall be kaito outside antitrust counsel only).
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(b) The parties shall take reasonable efforts twesinformation protected from disclosure underdtterneyelient privilege, wor
product doctrine, joint defense privilege or anlyestprivilege pursuant to this section so as tegmee any applicable privilege.

(c) No party shall take any action with the intentianar that could reasonably be expected to hindedetay the obtaining
clearance or any necessary approval of any arttéutbority under any Pré€ransaction Notification Rule or Antitrust Law dret expiration ¢
the required waiting period under the Pre-TraneadNotification Rules or any other Antitrust Laws.

6.15 WARN Act. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6.18]l&s agree that prior to the Closing, and Buygneas that fc
ninety (90) days after the Closing, Sellers or Bustall not, and shall not allow any of the Acqdit@ompanies to, take any act or allow
failure to act that would be a violation of any WHRAct. Sellers covenant and agree that, from thte dareof through the Closing, Sel
shall, and shall cause each of the Acquired Conggamiot to terminate more than 30 employees oAttigiired Companies, in the aggreg
without notice to and the consent of Buyer, whiohgent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
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6.16 SchedulesAt all times prior to the Closing, Sellers shadbvide Buyer with written notification, which néitiation may be in tr
form of a written update to the schedules (each; &lpdate”), of any change, fact, event, occurrence or othesrinétion of any kin
whatsoever, whether arising before or after the adtthis Agreement, which, except as providedhis Section 6.16, causes or constitut
breach of any representation or warramigzde by Sellers or that would make the timely &attion of any of the conditions set forth in Até
VIl impossible. Any Update shall specify each pamtiof any representation and warranty or conditifected by such Update. Sellers s
provide to Buyer such information as Buyer may oeably request in order to review any matter disetbin any Update. In connection v
determining the accuracy of any of the represesmtatand warranties made by Sellers in this Agre¢rioerthe purposes of Article X, (a) t
delivery of an Update with respect to any eventt far matter existing but not disclosed in an aggille schedule as of the date of
Agreement (a “ Pr&igning Event Updaté) shall not cure or otherwise affect or be deemedaarav of any breach of a representatio
warranty made as of the date hereof and sucltSRming Event Update shall not qualify any suchrespntation and warranty as of the da
this Agreement, and (b) the delivery of an Updaith wespect to any event, fact or matter firstingsafter the date of this Agreement (a “ Post
Signing Event Updaté) shall be deemed to supplement or amend the sclsedolely for the purpose of qualifying the portioofsthe
representations and warranties specified in thé-Bigeing Event Update as the same are made aasnfithe Closing as if such P&iggning
Event Update had been incorporated into the sckedhbkretofore in effect; provided, however, adielivery of a Pos8igning Event Update
Buyer, Buyer shall have the right to terminate thgreement upon written notice to Sellers unlesdke®eagree in the Po&igning Ever
Update that such PoStigning Event Update shall not be deemed to effe¢d qualify any representation or warranty forgmses of makir
the representations and warranties herein at aiod the Closing provided that if Seller does noteggand Buyer does not exercise its rig
terminate and the Closing occurs, Buyer Indemrsteght to indemnification shall be deemed to hbgen waived. Except as provided in
immediately preceding sentence, neither the deglivafr an Update nor any Closing thereafter shalldeemed a waiver of any Bu
Indemnitees right to indemnification pursuant to Section 18)1for any breach or nonfulfillment by Sellers ariy covenant or agreem
contained in this Agreement with respect to thgesthmatter of any Update or for any breach of epresentation or warranty made at ar
of the date of this Agreement. In connection wigtedmining the accuracy of any of the represematend warranties made by Sellers in
Agreement for the purposes of determining whetimgraf the conditions set forth in Article VII hagdn satisfied (including the conditior
Section 7.1), all Updates, including P&tming Event Updates, shall be disregarded. If/pdate is delivered within three (3) Business [
of the Closing, Buyer shall be entitled, at itsiopt to delay the Closing by three (3) Business D&ach Update shall specify whether it
Pre-Signing Event Update or a Post-Signing Everddig

6.17 Release

(a) As of the Closing, Sellers, in their individual eaty and on behalf of their respective Affiliatesid to the extent Sellers hi
the authority, any Related Person of any of thedomng and all Persons claiming by, through, fouleder Sellers on behalf of Sellers, hel
irrevocably and unconditionally release, settleyoed, discharge and acknowledge to be fully andlfjnsatisfied any and all claims, demail
rights, actions, causes of action, debts, accoastgenants, contracts, agreements, promises, dameggs, reimbursements, compense
liabilities and expenses, including attorreyees, of any and every kind, nature or descriptihatsoever, known or unknown, at law @
equity (including with respect to the allocation @rg Sellers of the proportionate amount of consitien received pursuant to
Contemplated Transactions) other than those thBérSemay haveagainst Buyer arising under this Agreement or ather Transactic
Document (subject to the terms of this Agreemert)léctively, “ Sellers Claims and Lossgswhich Sellers or any of their respective Rel.
Parties, or any other Person claiming by, throdghpr under Sellers on behalf of Sellers, may hlaze or may now have or assert again
Buyer and its Affiliates, (ii) any of the Acquirébmpanies (collectively with Buyer and its Affiles, “ Buyer Releasd@arties’), which are o
account of any matter whatsoever attributed toptéod, or arising during the period, from the bgig of time through and including ¢
ending at the Closing (all Sellers Claims and Lesséeased in this Section 6.14 being referred @ “ Sellerfkeleased Claimy.
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(b) Sellers agree that neither Sellers nor their RelR@&rties, nor anyone claiming under, through otlem or on their behalf w
bring, file, institute, prosecute, maintain, pagate in, or recover upon, either directly or imdily, or encourage or benefit from the institu
of any suit, charge, administrative proceedingestigation, or action at law or in equity agaifst Buyer Released Parties, or any of thei
or before any court, agency or forum, state orrf@der otherwise, for or relating to any of thdl&es Released Claims. Sellers agree tha
release may be pleaded by the Buyer Released $agi@ counterclaim or croslsim to or as a defense in bar or abatement ofSailer:
Released Claim. Notwithstanding anything hereirth® contrary, this Section 6.17 shall not precl&gdlers nor their Related Parties,
anyone claiming under, through or for them fromeatiisg any claim against the Buyer Released Paoti@sy of them resulting from any third-
party claim against Sellers or such persons faomastof the Acquired Companies or any of the BuRetated Parties or any claims ur
Article X.

6.18 Employees Prior to the Closing, Sellers shall cause (i)heafcthe officers and employees of IRP AdministratServices, LLC (“
IRP_Administrative”) who spend a substantial portion of their business performing services on behalf of the Acquireahanies rath:
than IRP Administrative to become officers or enyples of one or more of the Acquired Companiesgeéigh of the employment agreem:
that any such officer or employee is a party teeisforth on_Schedule 6.18 be assigned by IRP Administrative to the applieadcquirec
Company and (jii) each such officer or employeednsent to such assignment of his employment agreeragree that such assignment i
included within the definition of “Good Reason” @afined in his or her employment agreement and evaiw rights to any “change of control”
or similar payments such officer or employee mayehander such employment agreement from Buyer profthe Acquired Companies. |
purposes of this Agreement, any officer or emplogyelRP Administrative Services that will becomeddficer or employee of one or more
the Acquired Companies prior to the Closing shaltbemed a “Company Employee.”

ARTICLE VII
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO SELLERS’ OBLIGATIONS TO CISE

Sellers’obligation to effect the Closing under this Agreenis subject to the satisfaction, at or priorite Closing, of each of t
following conditions (any of which may be waived Agent in whole or in part):

7.1 Representations and WarrantieEhe representations and warranties of Buyer i Algreement that are qualified by materi¢
shall be true and correct in all respects and ¢fpeesentations and warranties of Buyer in this Agrent that are not qualified by materie
shall be true and correct in all material respastof the Closing Date, other than representamuswarranties that expressly speak as
specific date or time (which need only be true eodect in all respects or true and correct imekerial respects, as applicable, as of suct
or time), without giving effect to any supplementhe schedule.
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7.2 PerformanceBuyer shall have performed and complied in alterial respects with all agreements and obligatieqsiired by this
Agreement to be so performed or complied with kgt ibr prior to the Closing.

7.3 Officefs Certificates Buyer shall have delivered to Agent a certificatated as of the Closing Date and executed bychiies
executive officer of Buyer, certifying to the fulfnent of the conditions specified in Sections @il 7.2.

7.4 Governmental ApprovalsAll material Governmental Approvals with respéatthe Contemplated Transactions shall have
obtained and all conditions relating to such Gowrrental Approvals shall have been satisfied.

7.5 HSR Act Any required waiting period (and any extensioaréof) applicable to the Contemplated Transactiomger the HSR A
and antitrust laws shall have expired or been teaited.

7.6 AVS List. Buyer shall not be (i) listed on the Applicanbl4tion System maintained by the Office of Surfsiaing of the Unitel
States Department of the Interior or any countérggstem maintained by each of the State of WesgiMa or the Commonwealth
Kentucky, or (ii) blocked from obtaining any Persilty any applicable Governmental Authority.

7.7 Seller Guarantees and Seller Bonds Arrangenfdhteller Guarantees and Seller Bonds listed oheflale 7.7shall have bee
released or adequate credit support for the replaneof Seller Bonds shall have been provided byeBas described in Section 6.9(f).

7.8 InjunctionsAt the Closing there shall not be in effect any LawGovernmental Order which restrains, prohibitgleclares illeg;
the consummation of the Contemplated Transactiord reo Governmental Authority of competent jurisidiot shall have instituted
threatened a Proceeding seeking to impose anyrsstfaint or prohibition which would have a MatéAaverse Effect.

7.9 Closing DeliverieBuyer shall have delivered in all material respaditef the closing deliveries required by Sectiba(b).
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ARTICLE VIII

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO BUYER'S OBLIGATIONS TO CL@&S

Buyer’s obligations to effect the Closing under this Agmnent is subject to the satisfaction, at or priothe Closing, of each of t
following conditions (any of which may be waived Byyer in whole or in part).

8.1 Representations and Warrantiekhe representations and warranties of Sellethi;mAgreement that are qualified by materi:
shall be true and correct in all respects and éjpeessentations and warranties of Sellers in thied&gent that are not qualified by materi
shall be true and correct in all material respastof the Closing Date, other than representamuswarranties that expressly speak as
specific date or time (which need only be true eodect in all respects or true and correct imedkerial respects, as applicable, as of suct
or time), without giving effect to any supplementhe schedule.

8.2 Performance Sellers shall have performed and complied imelterial respects with all agreements and obligatiequired by th
Agreement to be performed or complied with by ibaprior to the Closing.

8.3 Officefs Certificate. Sellers shall have delivered to Buyer a certificalated as of the Closing Date and executed &\cltie
executive officer of each Seller, certifying to fiaéfillment of the conditions specified in Sect®B.1 and 8.2 to the Knowledge of such officer.

8.4 Governmental ApprovalsAll material Governmental Approvals with respéatthe Contemplated Transactions shall have
obtained and all conditions relating to such Gowegntal Approvals shall have been satisfied, incigdihe expiration or termination of &
waiting period (and any extension thereof) applieab the Contemplated Transactions under the H8RaAd any other antitrust laws.

8.5 Other Approvals All Consents from Persons other than Governmehaghorities with respect to the Contemplated Teation:
listed on _Schedule 3ghall have been obtained.

8.6 Injunctions. At the Closing there shall not be in effect aramlor Governmental Order which restrains, prohibitsleclares illeg
the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions reo Governmental Authority of competent jurisiiot shall have instituted
threatened a Proceeding seeking to impose anyrsstfaint or prohibition which would have a MatéAaverse Effect.

8.7 Closing Deliveries Sellers shall have delivered, or caused to bieted, in all material respects, all of the Clasiteliverie:
required by Section 2.3(a).

8.8 Material Adverse EffectAt any time on or after the Latest Balance Slizgge there shall not have occurred and be contine
change in the condition of the Acquired Compartigsen as a whole, that has resulted in a Materdalefse Effect.

61




8.9 Permits For each Permit that is not transferred at Chpginaccordance with Section 6.10, Sellers shaleHally complied with a
of the terms and obligations of Section 6.10(b).

8.10 Repayment of IndebtednesSellers shall have repaid all the Indebtednegedion Schedule 2#&s to be repaid at or bef
Closing and shall have delivered to Buyer evidesfcguch payment in form and substance satisfactoBuyer.

8.11 Redemption The Redemption shall have been completed andCti@ingency Obligations satisfied in accordancehwiite
provisions of this Agreement.

8.12 Environmental ReportsSellers shall have caused each Acquired Compatnate completed, to the reasonable satisfacti
Buyers, each of the matters identified in the MiedifPhase | Environmental Site Assessment Reporifoe Operations Associated w
International Resource Partners West Virginia aedtkcky Operations February 2011, under the heddihg following housekeeping iss!
and recommendations were also noted during thesgtessment.”

8.13 Shared Services Agreemettoldings Il and International Industries shallzeaxecuted and delivered a First Amendment t
Shared Services Agreement between them datedamefl2, 2007, giving Holdings Il the right to témate the Shared Services Agreeme
any time, with or without cause, at its sole disore

ARTICLE IX

TERMINATION
9.1 Termination This Agreement may, by notice given prior to bthe Closing, be terminated:

(a) by either Buyer or Agent if a material breadhaay provision of this Agreement has been comuithy the other par
(including, in the case of termination by Buyel thgent or Sellers) and such breach has not beemavhy the party to waive such condition;

(b) (i) by Buyer if any of the conditions in ArtelVIII has not been satisfied in all material redpeas of the Closing Date o
satisfaction of such a condition is or becomes sgae (other than through the failure of Buyerctomply with its obligations under ti
Agreement) and Buyer has not waived such conddioor before the Closing Date; or

(ii) by Agent, if any of the conditions in Articl€ll has not been satisfied in all material respextof the Closing Date ot
satisfaction of such a condition is or becomes issgge (other than through the failure of SellersAgent to comply with their obligatio
under this Agreement) and Agent have not waivet sondition on or before the Closing Date;

(c) by mutual consent of Buyer and Agent; or
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(d) by either Buyer or Agent if the Closing has wooturred (other than through the failure of anytypaeeking to terminate tt
Agreement (including in the case of Agent, Selléosgomply fully with its obligations under this Agement) on or before September 1, :
(the “ Drop Dead Dat®), or such later date as the parties may agre@.upo

9.2 Procedure and Effect of Terminatiokach partys right of termination under Section 9.1 is in diddi to any other rights it m
have under this Agreement or otherwise, and theceseeof a right oftermination will not be an election of remediestifs Agreement
terminated pursuant to Section 9.1, all furtherigations of the parties under this Agreement vélintinate, except that the obligation:
Sections 6.11 and 11.2 will survive; provided, heere that if this Agreement is terminated by a ypdrcause of the breach of the Agreer
by the other party or because one or more of thelitons to the terminating parsyobligations under this Agreement is not satiséiec resu
of the other party’s failure to comply with its @adtions under this Agreement, the terminating yparright to pursue all legal remec
(including damages and attornsyfees) available at law or equity, including teenedy of specific performance as set forth in $ectil.1€
will survive such termination unimpaired.

ARTICLE X

INDEMNIFICATION
10.1 Indemnification

(a) Indemnification by SellersSubject to the limitations set forth in this Sect10.1, Sellers agree to indemnify, defend and
Buyer and its respective Affiliates and their redpe officers, directors, partners, members, dtotders, employees, agents, representa
successors and permitted assigns (collectively,” tBayer Indemnitees), harmless from and in respect of any and all Losses,of th
proceeds from any insurance policies or other thady reimbursement for, or any tax benefit Bugetually receives as a result of, such
and net of any Losses incurred by Seller Indemsitel not previously paid pursuant to which theyeattitled to indemnification under Arti
X that they may incur arising solely out of or telhto:

(i) any breach of any representation or warrantdenay Sellers, Resource Partners or Agent (in eask without regard to a
“Material Adverse Effect” or other “materialitytualifier contained therein) in this Agreement, tBehedules, or any other Transac
Document delivered by Sellers or Agent pursuarhi®Agreement;

(i) any breach of any representation or warrangdmby Sellers or Resource Partners (in each cakeuwvregard to ar
“Material Adverse Effect” or other “materialityjualifier contained therein) in this Agreement fasuich representation or warranty were n
on and as of the Closing Date;

(iii) any breach by Sellers, Resource Partners gerA of any covenant or obligation of Sellers, Rese Partners or Agent
this Agreement or any other Transaction Documeliteted pursuant to this Agreement;
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(iv) any claim by any Person for brokerage or finddees or commissions or similar payments based apy agreement
understanding alleged to have been made by anyRerdon with Sellers or any Acquired Company (or Barson acting on their behalf]
connection with any of the Contemplated Transastion

(v) the Redemption and any Contingency Obligations;
(vi) any Buyer Indemnified Taxes; or

(vii) any Special Indemnity Matter.

(b) Indemnification by Buyer Subject to the limitations set forth in this Seet10.1, Buyer agrees to indemnify, defend andl
Sellers and their Affiliates and their respectivificers, directors, partners, members, stockholdersployees, agents, representat
successors and permitted assigns (collectively,”tBeller Indemnitees), harmless from and in respect of any and all Losees,of th
proceeds from any insurance policies or other thady reimbursement for, or any tax benefit Selkctually receives as a result of, such
that they may incur arising solely out of or reidgtito:

(i) any breach of any representation or warrantydenby Buyer (in each case without regard to anytémlity” qualifier
contained therein) in this Agreement, the Schedualeany other Transaction Document delivered byeByursuant to this Agreement;

(i) any breach of any representation or warrangdenby Buyer (in each case without regard to angténiality” qualifier
contained therein) in this Agreement as if suchigspntation or warranty were made on and as dflbging Date;

(iif) any breach by Buyer of any covenant or ohliga of Buyer in this Agreement or any other Trasigm Document delivere
pursuant to this Agreement; or

(iv) any claim by any Person for brokerage or finddees or commissions or similar payments based apy agreement
understanding alleged to have been made by anyReidon with Buyer or any Affiliate (or any Persameting on their behalf) in connect
with any of the Contemplated Transactions;

provided, however, that Buyer shall have no obiagato indemnify any Seller Indemnitee to the extidrat Sellers are required to indemi
the Buyer Indemnitees or would be so required butHfe limitations set forth in Section 10.1(d).

(c) Survival of Representations, Warranties andeindities . The representations, warranties, covenants, taidegs an
agreements of the parties contained in or madaipntdo this Agreement or in any instrument deldepursuant hereto, and the rights o
parties to seek indemnification with respect theerehall survive the Closing for a period of foerg14) months from the Closing Date, ex
that the representations and warranties in Se@i8n(Interests) and Section 3A.4 (Interests) skallvive indefinitely (for each type
indemnification claim, the “ Indemnity Terminatid@ate”). Any claim for indemnification under this Agreememitich is made in good fai
and in a writing specifying the factual basis oé ttlaim in reasonable detail to the extent thenwkndy the claiming party prior to t
expiration of the applicable Indemnity Terminati@ate shall survive such expiration until mutuallgsolved or otherwise determir
hereunder, as applicable, and the applicable Indgriermination Date for all purposes hereundellshgomatically be extended with resg
to such claim (but not any other claims) until swtdim is so mutually resolved or otherwise deteedi hereunder. Any claim not so m
prior to the expiration of the applicable Indemriiigrmination Date shall be deemed to have beenedaiv
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(d) Limitations. Any recovery by any party under this Article Xtkvrespect to claims for indemnification pursuanttis Sectio
10.1 shall be limited as follows:

(i) The maximum aggregate amount of indemnifiabbsdes under Article X arising out of or resultingnfi the causes that nr
be recovered from Sellers shall not exceed the atsadinen remaining of the General Escrow Amounthie Escrow Fund; provided tr
notwithstanding anything in this Section 10.1(d)}te contrary, in no event will the limitations detth in this Section 10.1(d)(i) apply w
respect to any breach of any representation, wigrran covenant or obligation pursuant to Sectidh (Ihterests) and Section 3A.4 (Intere:
provided, however, that no Seller shall be lialde the amount of idemnifiable Losses exceedingapraggregate basis, the portion of
Purchase Price received by such Seller;

(i) No party shall be entitled to any recovery esg and until the total of all claims brought bgtsyparty for indemnity «
damages pursuant to this Section 10.1 exceeds&BDand such party then shall be entitled to recons/ the amount by which such clai
for indemnity or damages exceed $500,000; provitiatl notwithstanding anything in this Section 18)1o the contrary, in no event will 1
limitations set forth in this Section 10.1(d)(iip@ly (x) in the event of fraud, willful misconduet bad faith, (y) with respect to any breac
any representation, warranty or covenant or olitiggbursuant to Section 3.3 (Interests) and Se@#d (Interests), and (z) with respect to
claim for indemnification pursuant to Section 1@)1i{), (v), (vi), or (vii); and

(iii) The remedies set forth in this Article X asegctions 2.7 and 2.8 and the specific performaesedy referenced in Sect
11.18 shall provide the sole and exclusive remedlising from this Agreement.

(e) Procedure for IndemnificatienThird Party Claims

(i) Promptly after receipt by an indemnified pamyder Section 10.1(a) or Section 10.1(b) of nodithe commencement of ¢
proceeding against it, such indemnified party wilk claim is to be made against an indemnifyiagty under such Section, give notice to
indemnifying party of the commencement of suchro|aiut the failure to notify the indemnifying pamyll not relieve the indemnifying pat
of any Liability that it may have to any indemndiparty, except to the extent that the indemnifypagty demonstrates that the defense of
action is prejudiced by the indemnifying party’#dee to give such notice.
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(ii) If any proceeding referred to in Section 1@){) is brought against an indemnified party ahdjives notice to tr
indemnifying party of the commencement of such peating, the indemnifying party will be entitled garticipate in such proceeding anc
the extent that it wishes (unless (A) the indeningyparty is also a party to such proceeding aedritiemnified party determines in good f
that joint representation would be inappropriate(R) the indemnifying party fails to provide reasdle assurance to the indemnified par
its financial capacity to defend such proceedind provide indemnification with respect to such meding), to assume the defense of
proceeding with counsel satisfactory to the inddimdiparty and, after notice from the indemnifyipgrty to the indemnified party of
election to assume the defense of such proceettiagndemnifying party will not, as long as it diintly conducts such defense, be liable t
indemnified party under this Section 10 for anysfeé other counsel or any other expenses with mtdpethe defense of such proceeding
each case subsequently incurred by the indemngaty in connection with the defense of such prdoeg other than reasonable cost
investigation. If the indemnifying party assumesg ftihefense of a proceeding, (1) it will be conclekivestablished for purposes of -
Agreement that the claims made in that proceediagnthin the scope of and subject to indemnifimatiand (2) no compromise or settlen
of such claims may be effected by the indemnifypagty without the indemnified party’consent unless (x) there is no finding or adoissi
any violation of Laws or any violation of the rightf any Person and no effect on any other claimsrmay be made against the indemn
party, and (y) the sole relief provided is monetdamages that are paid in full by the indemnifypagty; and (z) the indemnified party v
have no Liability with respect to any compromisesettiement of such claims effected without itssam. If notice is given to an indemnify
party of the commencement of any proceeding andnhemnifying party does not, within ten (10) dafter the indemnified partg’notice i
given, give notice to the indemnified party ofélgction to assume the defense of such proceeitiagndemnifying party will be bound by ¢
determination made in such proceeding or any comi@® or settlement effected by the indemnifiedypart

(i) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an indemieifl party determines in good faith that there ieasonable probability tha
proceeding may adversely affect it or its Affiliatether than as a result of monetary damages fatwhwould be entitled to indemnificati
under this Agreement, the indemnified party may,nbyice to the indemnifying party, assume the esigkiright to defend, compromise,
settle such proceeding, but the indemnifying parity not be bound by compromise or settlement @ffdowithout its consent (which may
be unreasonably withheld).

(f) Procedure for Indemnification Other Claims A claim for indemnification for any matter notvimlving a thirdparty claim ma
be asserted by notice to the party from whom indéoation is sought.

(9) Punitive DamagesNotwithstanding any other provision of this Agmemt to the contrary, no indemnifying party shalliable
to an indemnified party for any punitive damaggsecsal damages, indirect damages, or similar itextept to the extent that a Bu
Indemnitee has become liable to any third partystah punitive damages, special damages, indiegotides, or similar items resulting frol
third party claim for which indemnification is prioked for in Section 10.1(a).
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10.2 Treatment of Indemnification Paymenll indemnification payments made under this Agrent shall be treated by Buyer
Sellers as an adjustment to the Purchase Price.

ARTICLE Xl

MISCELLANEOUS

11.1 Agent. IRP GP (“_Agerit) is hereby appointed as agent and attorneigdéhfor each Seller, and through the Closing,€act
Acquired Company, for and on behalf of Sellers tredAcquired Companies, to act as Agent for Sellesthe Acquired Companies under
Agreement and each other Transaction Document,t@arglve and receive notices and communicationsagree to, negotiate, enter i
settlements and compromises of, and demand aibitrahd comply with orders of courts and awardsarbftrators with respect to claims
indemnification, to authorize delivery to Buyer any Buyer Indemnitee of any payment hereunder, tanthke all actions necessary
appropriate in the judgment of Agent for the acclishpnent of the foregoing in accordance with thente and provisions of this Agreem
and each other Transaction Document. Notices omuamications to or from Agent hereunder shall caatginotice to or from each Seller
at or prior to the Closing, the Acquired Compantgsllers and the Acquired Companies hereby agedhb appointment of Agent pursuar
this Section 11.1 shall be irrevocable except asrotise provided herein or by nevaivable provisions of Applicable Law. Notwithstamg
the foregoing, such appointment shall be automistioavoked as to the Acquired Companies as ofcthrapletion of the Closing. Any decisit
act, consent or instruction of Agent relating ts thgreement or any other Transaction Document sbalstitute a decision of all of Sellers ¢
if prior to or at the Closing, the Acquired Compasjiand shall be final, binding and conclusive upach Seller and the Acquired Compa
(but, with respect to the Acquired Companies, dalthe extent related to any time period endingrairior to the Closing) and Buyer may t
upon any such written decision, consent or insioacof Agent as being the decision, consent oruiesion of each and every Seller and
Acquired Companies. Buyer and the other Buyer Indtgas are hereby relieved from any liability toy d&erson for any acts done by ther
accordance with such decision, consent or instnctif Agent. Sellers hereby jointly and severalyee to indemnify and hold Agent,
affiliates and their officers, employees, successassigns, attorneys and agents harmless frofosaks, costs, claims, demands, expe
damages, penalties and attorrsefees suffered or incurred by such Agent as atre$wanything which it may do or refrain from daijrin
connection with this Agreement or any Transactiosciment or any litigation or cause or action agsfrom or in conjunction with th
Agreement or any Transaction Document or involuimg subject matter hereof; provided that the foirggyindemnification shall not extend
the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Agent
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11.2 Fees and Expense&xcept as otherwise provided in this Agreemestle® and Buyer shall bear their own expensesthe
expenses of their respective Affiliates (includiimgthe case of Sellers, each Acquired CompanyAggeht) in connection with the preparat
and negotiation of this Agreement and the consuriomaif the Contemplated Transactions. Notwithstagdhe foregoing, Sellers and Bu
shall each pay onkalf of the fee for the Notification and Report farfiled with the Department of Justice and thedraldTrade Commissit
under the HSR Act. Sellers and Buyer shall bearféles and expenses of any broker or finder retaineduch party and their respec
Affiliates (including, in the case of Sellers, eastguired Company and Agent) in connection with @entemplated Transactions.

11.3 Governing Law This Agreement shall be construed under and geekby the Laws of the State of New York withowgane tc
conflicts of laws principles.

11.4 Amendment This Agreement may not be amended, modified pp&mented except upon the execution and deliveayvaritter
agreement that specifically references this Agregnasmd is executed by the party to be charged withamendment. Any amendm:
modification or supplement signed by Agent shalbbeling on and effective against all Sellers grthr to Closing, the Acquired Companies.

11.5 Assignment Neither this Agreement nor any of the rightserests or obligations hereunder shall be assiggpexhy party here
without the prior written consent of the other st except that Buyer may assign any of its rigimder this Agreement to any of its Affilia
at any time. Subject to the preceding sentence,Areement will be binding upon, inure to the Wiref and be enforceable by, the par
hereto and their respective successors and pednaisisigns, and is not intended to confer upon a&ngdd other than the parties hereto and
respective successors and permitted assigns amtg ogremedies hereunder.

11.6 Waiver. The rights and remedies of the parties to thiss@ment are cumulative and not alternative. Neitherfailure nor ar
delay by any party in exercising any right, powsrprivilege under this Agreement or the documeetsrred to in this Agreement will oper
as a waiver of such right, power, or privilege, aiodsingle or partial exercise of any such rigloyer, or privilege will preclude any other
further exercise of such right, power, or privilegrethe exercise of any other right, power, or itgiye. To the maximum extent permitted
applicable Law, (a) no claim or right arising odittbis Agreement or the documents referred to ia &greement can be discharged by
party, in whole or in part, by a waiver or renuticia of the claim or right unless in writing signbg the other party; (b) no waiver that may
given by a party will be applicable except in theedfic instance for which it is given; and (c) notice to or demand on one party will
deemed to be a waiver of any obligation of suchypar of the right of the party giving such notioe demand to take further action with
notice or demand as provided in this Agreemenherdocuments referred to in this Agreement. Anyveragiven by Agent shall be binding
and effective against all Sellers and, prior tosig, the Acquired Companies.
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11.7 Notices

(a) Any notice, demand, or communication requiregermitted to be given by any provision of thisrégment shall be deemec
have been sufficiently given or served for all msgs if (i) personally delivered, (i) sent by @eimationally recognized overnight cou
service, (iii) sent by registered or certified ma#éturn receipt requested, postage prepaid, 9rs(iecessfully transmitted by facsimile v
confirmation of receipt to the recipient at the s or facsimile number, as applicable, indicatedchedule 11.@r to such other address
facsimile number as any party hereto may, from ttméme, designate in a written notice given kelimanner, provided, however, that
notice of change of address or facsimile numbell sleaeffective only upon receipt. Any notice givemor by Agent in accordance with t
Section will be deemed given to or by all Sellers.

(b) Except as otherwise provided herein, any naticger this Agreement will be deemed to have beéeeng(i) on the date su
notice is personally delivered or delivered by fadke, (ii) the next succeeding Business Day aftex date such notice is delivered to
overnight courier service if sent by overnight deuror (iii) five (5) Business Days after the datech notice is sent by registered or cert
mail; provided that in each case notices receifea 4:00 p.m. (local time of the recipient) shHadl deemed to have been duly given on the
Business Day.

11.8 Complete AgreementThis Agreement, the Schedules and the other dentsmand writings referred to herein or deliwvi
pursuant hereto contain the entire understandinth®fparties with respect to the subject matteedfeand thereof and supersede all |
agreements and understandings, both written andbataveen the parties with respect to the subjetter hereof.

11.9 Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in one or moratesparts, all of which shall be considered one dnedsam
agreement and each of which shall be deemed aimairig

11.10 Publicity. Sellers and Buyer will consult with each othed avill mutually agree upon any publication or preskease of ar
nature with respect to this Agreement or the Coptataed Transactions and shall not issue any subligation or press release prior to s
consultation and agreement except as may be reojré.aw or by obligations pursuant to any listemgreement with any securities exche
or any securities exchange regulation or the ruksgulations or orders of any Governmental Autlyoiiih which case the party proposing
issue such publication or press release shall mikeasonable efforts to consult with the othertypéefore issuing any such publicatior
press release. Unless consented to by Agent andrBuyadvance or required by Law or by obligatipussuant to any listing agreement v
any securities exchange or any securities exchaatgdation or the rules, regulations or ordersmyf @overnmental Authority, each party st
and shall cause its Affiliates to, keep this Agreetrstrictly confidential and may not make any disare of this Agreement to any Person.
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11.11 Headings The headings, table of contents and index coedkgiim this Agreement are for reference only and sloa affect in an
way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement

11.12 Severability Any provision of this Agreement which is invaliflegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shalk to the
jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of suokalidity, illegality or unenforceability, withouaffecting in any way the remaining provisi
hereof in such jurisdiction or rendering that oy ather provision of this Agreement invalid, illéga unenforceable in any other jurisdiction.

11.13 Third Parties Nothing herein expressed or implied is intendedlwll be construed to confer upon or give to Beyson ¢
corporation, other than the parties hereto and preimitted successors or assigns, any rightsrmedées under or by reason of this Agreen
except that the Financing sources are hereby maitess third-party beneficiaries of Section 6.17,3111.14 and 11.19.

11.14 Jurisdiction; Service of Process

(a) Any action or proceeding seeking to enforce pryvision of, or based on any right arising out this Agreement shall
brought against any of the parties in the Uniteatest District Court for the Southern District ofWN& ork, and each of the parties consen
the exclusive jurisdiction of such court (and oé tippropriate appellate courts) in any such acatioproceeding and waives any objectio
venue laid therein. Process in any action or prdiogereferred to in the preceding sentence mayebeed on any party anywhere in the world.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, each of the igpartiereto hereby agrees (i) that any claim, aatipn or proceeding of any ki
or description, whether in law or in equity, wheatirecontract or in tort or otherwise, involvingyaRinancing source, or any of its Affiliates
representatives, arising out of or relating to @entemplated Transactions, the Commitment Lettetheraccompanying fee letter or
performance of services or consummation of traimmastthereunder, shall be subject to the exclugiviediction of any court of compete
jurisdiction located within the Borough of Manhatta the City of New York, New York, whether a gtair Federal court, and (ii) not to bri
or permit any of its Affiliates to bring or supp@my other Person in bringing, any such claim, sugition or proceeding in any other court.

11.15 Further AssurancesThe parties agree (a) to furnish upon requestaith other such further information, (b) to execare
deliver to each other such other documents, antb (@ such other acts and things, all as the gthdy may reasonably request for the pur
of carrying out the intent of this Agreement and ttocuments referred to in this Agreement.

11.16 Time of the Essenc&Vith regard to all dates and time periods sdhfor referred to in this Agreement, time is of dssence.

11.17 Construction The parties have participated jointly in the rtegjmg and drafting of this Agreement. If an amlbity of intent o
interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be taed as if drafted jointly by the parties and rresumption or burden of proof shall a
favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of thethorship of any of the provisions of this Agreeine
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11.18 Specific PerformanceEach of the parties acknowledges and agreeghbatther parties would be damaged irreparablé
event any of the provisions of this Agreement areperformed in accordance with their specific teron otherwise are breached. Accordir
each of the parties agrees that the other partial Ise entitled to an injunction or injunctions gieevent breaches of the provisions of
Agreement and to enforce specifically this Agreetaamd the terms and provisions hereof, in addittoany other remedy to which they may
entitled, at law or in equity.

11.19 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANYAND ALL RIGHT TO
TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING BETWEEN THE RRTIES HERETO ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO TH
AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

11.20 Consent of Limited Partners.Each of Lightfoot, International, KED and Tosdej by executing this Agreement, het
authorizes and consents to the sale of the infecd$SRP GP in Resource Partners to Buyer. In alzgure with, and pursuant to the terms o
Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limitathé¥ahip of International Resource Partners LRediats of April 18, 2008 (tl
“Partnership Agreement”Buyer, as transferee of the general partnershits wfiResource Partners agrees to assume the agttsluties ¢
IRP GP under the Partnership Agreement and to badby the provisions of the Partnership Agreemastit may be amended from time
time.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties heretodaassed this Purchase Agreement to be executed byl authorized office
in each case as of the date first above written.

JAMES RIVER COAL COMPANY

By: /s/ Peter T. Soct
Peter T. Soch
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Signature Page to Purchase Agreement




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties heretodaassed this Purchase Agreement to be executed byl authorized office
in each case as of the date first above written.

LIGHTFOOT CAPITAL PARTNERS, LP

By: Lightfoot Capital Partners GP LL
Its: General Partne

By: /s/ Vincent T. Cubbag

NameVincent T. Cubbag
Title: Chief Executive Office

Signature Page to Purchase Agreement




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties heretodaassed this Purchase Agreement to be executed byl authorized office
in each case as of the date first above written.

INTERNATIONAL INDUSTRIES, INC.

By: /s/ James H. Harless
NameJames H. Harless
Title: Chairman

Signature Page to Purchase Agreement




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties heretodaassed this Purchase Agreement to be executed byl authorized office
in each case as of the date first above written.

KAYNE ANDERSON ENERGY
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY

By: /s/ James C. Baker
NameJames C. Baker
Title: Vice President

Signature Page to Purchase Agreement




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties heretodaassed this Purchase Agreement to be executed byl authorized office
in each case as of the date first above written.

TORTOISE CAPITAL RESOURCES
CORPORATION

By: /s/ Ed Russell
Name Ed Russell
Title: President

Signature Page to Purchase Agreement




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties heretodaassed this Purchase Agreement to be executed byl authorized office
in each case as of the date first above written.

INTERNATIONAL RESOURCE PARTNERS
GP LLC

By: /s/ Vincent T. Cubbage
NameVincent T. Cubbage
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Signature Page to Purchase Agreement




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties heretodaassed this Purchase Agreement to be executed byl authorized office
in each case as of the date first above written.

AGENT:

INTERNATIONAL RESOURCE PARTNERS
GP LLC

By: /s/ Vincent T. Cubbage
NameVincent T. Cubbage
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Signature Page to Purchase Agreement




ESCROW AGREEMENT

by and among

JAMES RIVER COAL COMPANY,

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as escrow agent

and

INTERNATIONAL RESOURCE PARTNERS GP LLC
As agent for Sellers

_, 2011

EXHIBIT A




ESCROW AGREEMENT

THIS Escrow AGREEMENT (this “ Escrow Agreemert) is made and entered into as of the day of 2011, by and among:

(1) JAMES RIVER COAL COMPANY , a corporation incorporated under the Laws of3tee of Virginia (“_Buyer);
(2) WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION , a national banking association, as escrow agetgqrow Agent’); and

(3) INTERNATIONAL RESOURCE PARTNERS GP LLC , a limited liability company organized under thaws of the State of Delawa
solely in its capacity as agent for Sellers (* &eAgent”);

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS , Lightfoot Capital Partners, LP, a Delaware lirditpartnership (“_Lightfoof’), International Industries, Inc., a West Virgi
corporation (“_International Industrié¥, International Resource Partners GP, LLC, a el limited liability company (“ IRP_GP), Kayne
Anderson Energy Development Company, a Marylandéignpartnership (“ KED) and Tortoise Capital Resources Corporation, a Nag
corporation (“_Tortoisé, and Lightfoot, International Industries, IRP GFED and Tortoise, each a_“ Sellfeand collectively “ Sellers), are
parties to that certain Purchase Agreement, dated Blarch |, 2011 (the " Purchasgreement’) pursuant to which Buyer will purchase
of the outstanding limited partnership units andegal partnership units of International Resouragrers LP, a Delaware limited partner:
(“ Resource Partnefs;

WHEREAS , Sellers own all of the outstanding limited parsigép units and general partnership units of Resoiartners;
WHEREAS , the Sellers have approved the Purchase Agreeamerthe transactions contemplated thereby, inctutdiis Escrow Agreement;
WHEREAs , under the Purchase Agreement, each of Buyer end\ffiliates and their respective officers, direxst, partners, membe

stockholders, employees, agents, representativesessors and permitted assigns (collectively; Bayer Indemnitee$) is entitled to certa
rights to indemnification as provided in Articlea\d payments as provided in Section 2.8(b) and@e2t8(c) of the Purchase Agreement;

WHEREAS , to provide funds for the Escrow Fund (as defibhetbw), Buyer will deposit with the Escrow Agent aggregate amount equa
$30,000,000; and

WHEREAS , the Escrow Agent has agreed to hold, investassgl@nd distribute the Escrow Fund pursuant teetines of this Escrow Agreeme
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Now, THEREFORE , for and in consideration of the premises andnlidual covenants and agreements contained in Htuo® Agreement, ai
other good and valuable consideration, riaeeipt and sufficiency of which are hereby ackreslgled, and intending to be legally bound hel
the parties agree as follows:

1. CERTAIN DEFINITIONS .

For purposes of this Escrow Agreement, the capédliterms used but not defined herein shall hagertbanings set forth in the Purct
Agreement.

2. APPOINTMENT OF THE ESCROW AGENT .

The Escrow Agent is hereby constituted and appodiatethe escrow agent under this Escrow Agreenmmehttee Escrow Agent accepts -
appointment in accordance with the terms and cmmditset forth in this Escrow Agreement and agteessume and perform the duties o
escrow agent pursuant to this Escrow Agreement.

3. DEPOSIT AND USE OF THE ESCROW AMOUNT .

3.1Buyer shall deposit with the Escrow Agent an aggte@mount of $30,000,000 (the “ Escrow AmdQrit immediately available fun
on the date hereof with the Escrow Agent, of whigt$20,000,000 shall comprise the “ General EscAowount” and (ii) $10,000,000 sh.
comprise the “ Special Escrow AmouhtThe Escrow Agent shall deposit such funds, an@alhings and interest on, and proceeds of
funds, into a segregated account (all of such amsoredated to the General Escrow Amount, the “ @GanEscrow Fund' and all of suc
amount related to the Special Escrow Amount, tigpécial Escrow Funtiand, collectively, the “ Escrow Furiyl. The Escrow Fund shall
used to (i) satisfy any payment obligation to Buyerthe event that 10,000,000 tons of Additionalk&sges (as defined in the Purct
Agreement) are not proven by the Escrow Release Patsuant to Section 2.8(b) of the Purchase Ageeén(iii) satisfy any reimbursement
drilling and other reasonable outjpdcket expenses up to $1,000,000 in connection anthefforts to prove Additional Reserves pursua
Section 2.8(b) of the Purchase Agreement; (iiijsatany indemnification liabilities of Sellers fdines, legal fees and damages related tc
Prior Violations (as defined in the Purchase Agreeth pursuant to Section 2.8(c) of the Purchaseeé&ment and (iv) satisfy a
indemnification liabilities of the Sellers pursudatArticle X of the Purchase Agreement.

3.2 Immediately after receipt from Buyer of the EscrAmount, the Escrow Agent shall confirm to Buyer &eller Agent such receipt
writing.

3.3 The Escrow Agent agrees to hold, invest, releaskedsstribute the Escrow Fund, and to act as Esdkgent in accordance with t
terms, conditions and provisions of this Escroweegnent.

4. DISPOSITION OF THE ESCROW FUND .

4.1 The Escrow Fund shall be released and distribugethé Escrow Agent in accordance with the provisieet forth below and, in a
event, upon its receipt of, and in accordance vjdtint written instructions from Buyer and Sellegént. Buyer and Seller Agent agree to joi
instruct the Escrow Agent to release and disbureeatmounts in the Escrolund in a manner consistent with the terms anditiond of the
Purchase Agreement and this Escrow Agreement.
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4.2 Each Buyer Indemnitee, to the extent entitled teeree payment pursuant to Section 2.8(b) or tandemnified pursuant to Article X
the Purchase Agreement or, if Buyer so elects puntsio Section 4.3(e) hereof, pursuant to Secti8(cXiii) of the Purchase Agreement, s
be entitled to claim such amounts as provided énRbrchase Agreement and receive payments froif@é¢heral Escrow Fund, in each cas
accordance with the following provisions:

If any Buyer Indemnitee believes that it has inedriany Losses for which it is entitled to indenuafion under Article X of tF
Purchase Agreement or payment under Sections 28@B(c)(iii), Buyer shall deliver to the Escrédvgent written notice (a “ Clainotice”)
(i) naming the Buyer Indemnitee making the claihe(t Buyer Indemnified Persdi), (ii) describing such Losses and, to the extent kndta
amount thereof (the “ Claim Amouty, (iii) stating that the Buyer Indemnified Persisnentitled to payment under Section 2.8(b) ortisa.8
(c)(iii) or indemnification under Article X of th®urchase Agreement for such Losses and providingasonable explanation of the b
thereof, and (iv) demanding payment in the amodirsuch Losses, to the extent such Losses are kmmrthen incurred. The Claim Not
must be given prior to the Escrow Release Daterdteroto be eligible to receive payments from then&al Escrow Fund. At the time
delivery of any Claim Notice to the Escrow Agentuplicate copy of such Claim Notice shall be deled by Buyer to Seller Agent. Promp
and in any event within two (2) Business Days aitereceipt of the Claim Notice (and notwithstarglany prior delivery of the Claim Noti
by Buyer to Seller Agent), the Escrow Agent shalliver a copy of the Claim Notice to Seller AgeBtibject to Paragraph?2(b) hereof, th
Escrow Agent shall, promptly after the thirtiett® (3) day after the Escrow Agesttelivery of a copy of the Claim Notice to Selagent (suc
30-day period, the “ Response Periyd(x) with respect to indemnification or payment fosgecified amount, pay or distribute to the Bi
Indemnified Person named in the Claim Notice cashod the General Escrow Fund in the amount spetifin the Claim Notice or (y) wi
respect to contingent indemnification or paymeatrak not then payable pursuant to the terms o€than Notice, designate and segregate
of the General Escrow Fund the contingent amoubjestito the Claim Notice. Payment shall be distiol as specified in the Claim Noti
Buyer, on behalf of itself or any other Buyer Indetae, shall in all cases be the only provider i@ Notices. “ Business Ddymeans ar
day that is not (i) a Saturday, Sunday or other daywhich banks are required or authorized by apple law to be closed in the City
Charleston, West Virginia and the City of New YoNew York or (ii) any other day on which the Escrégent is closed for business.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph 4.2&xeof, the Escrow Agent shall not make any payrfrent the General Escrow Fu
with respect to a Claim Notice if, during the Resp®e Period, Seller Agent shall have delivered &Bhlcrow Agent a written objection to
claim for indemnification or payment made or thai@l Amount set forth in the Claim Notice (an “ Ottjen ”). If the Escrow Agent does r
receive an Objection within the Response Periceh tBeller Agent shall be deemed to have acknowtktlgeobligation to indemnify or ma
such payment, as applicable, and the correctnesaabf Claim Amount for the full amount thereof sdbjto a current claim for payment
specified in the Claim NoticeAt the time of delivery of any Objection to the Ese Agent, a duplicate copy of such Objection shw&
delivered by Seller Agent to Buyer.
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Upon receipt of an Objection pursuant to this EacAgreement, the Escrow Agent shall (i) deliverioetof the Objection to Buyer, (
distribute to the Buyer Indemnified Person cashabuhe General Escrow Fund in an amount equdidbgortion, if any, specified in the Cle
Notice which is not disputed by Seller Agent inlsu@bjection, and (iii) designate and segregateobuihe General Escrow Fund the amc
subject to the Claim Notice which is disputed byle&3eAgent in the Objection or is not then payaplesuant to the terms of the Claim Not
Thereafter, the Escrow Agent shall not distribatehie Buyer Indemnified Person or Seller Agentdbgregated portion of the General Esc
Fund subject to the Claim Notice until the EscrogeAt shall have received joint written instructidresm Buyer and Seller Agent, in form ¢
substance reasonably satisfactory to the EscrowntAgencerning the determination of the amounthef indemnification payment, if any,
which the Buyer Indemnified Person is entitled.

After an Objection has been delivered to the Escda@nt and Buyer, Buyer and Seller Agent shallmaftein good faith to agree up
the rights of the Buyer Indemnified Person withpexs to each of the amounts that comprise the tasls€taim Amount (or the amount sub
to the Claim Notice which is disputed by Seller Agin the Objection). If Buyer and Seller Agent slibso agree, a memorandum setting
such agreement shall be prepared and signed byBuytr and Seller Agent and, in the case of a denfi@nrecovery from the General Esci
Fund, shall deliver to the Escrow Agent joint waittinstructions from Buyer and Seller Agent settiogh such agreement. If no st
agreement can be reached after good faith negwtiatithin 30 days after delivery of an Objectioither Seller Agent or Buyer may pursue
and all remedies as shall be available to sucly gantsuant to the Purchase Agreement; providedwever, that if such dispute relates t
claim for payment related to any Prior Violationsrguant to Section 2.8(c)(iii) of the Purchase Agnent, the amounts in dispute shal
submitted to binding arbitration as set forth inct8: 2.8(c)(iv) of the Purchase Agreement. Ther&scAgent will (i) pay the Buye
Indemnified Person out of the General Escrow Fura amount that the Buyer Indemnified Person istledtito receive as promptly
practicable after receiving joint written instrumis concerning such final determination from Buged Seller Agent and (ii) if applicable, ca
to be distributed to Seller Agent, for the benefiand distribution to Sellers, such amount as hictv Sellers would be entitled to distribut
under Paragraph 4t&reof after giving effect to the foregoing jointitéen instructions.

4.3 Buyer, to the extent entitled to payment relatearyg Prior Violations pursuant to Section 2.8(cxlué Purchase Agreement, shal
entitled to claim such amounts equal to such Bllydemnitee$ Losses and receive payments from the Speciab&s€eund, in each case,
accordance with the following provisions:

(a) If Buyer has incurred any Losses or other damageswhich it is entitled to payment under Sectio8(@) of the Purcha
Agreement, Buyer shall deliver to the Escrow Age@laim Notice (i) describing such Losses andh&éxtent known, the Claim Amount,
stating that the Buyer Indemnified Person is esdito payment under Section 2.8(c) of the PurchAgseement for such Losses and providil
reasonable explanation of the basis thereof, afdl@manding payment in the amount of such Lossethe extent such Losses are known
then incurred. The Claim Notice must be given ptmthe Final Release Date in order to be eligibleeceive payments from the Spe
Escrow Fund. At the time of delivery of any Clainotide to the Escrow Agent, a duplicate copy of sGtaim Notice shall be delivered
Buyer to Seller Agent. Promptly, and in any eveithim two (2) Business Days after its receipt of laim Notice (and notwithstanding
prior delivery of the Claim Notice by Buyer to SzllAgent), the Escrow Agent shall deliver a copyhef Claim Notice to Seller Agent. Subj
to Paragraph 4.3(bjereof, the Escrow Agent shall, promptly after Response Period, (x) with respect to payment fpexified amount, pi
or distribute to Buyer, cash out of the SpecialrBscFund in the amount specified in the Claim Netmr (y) with respect to contings
payment claims not then payable pursuant to thegenf the Claim Notice, designate and segregatehautontingent amount subject to
Claim Notice. Payment shall be distributed as dj@etin the Claim Notice.
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(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph&).Bereof, the Escrow Agent shall not make any payrfrent the Special Escrc
Fund with respect to a Claim Notice if, during Response Period, Seller Agent shall have deliverétde Escrow Agent an Objection. If
Escrow Agent does not receive an Objection witlie Response Period, then Seller Agent shall be eléeim have acknowledged
obligation to indemnify and the correctness of sGtdim Amount for the full amount thereof subjextat current claim for payment as speci
in the Claim Notice. At the time of delivery of a@bjection to the Escrow Agent, a duplicate copyswt¢h Objection shall be delivered
Seller Agent to Buyer.

(c) Upon receipt of an Objection pursuant to this EscAgreement, the Escrow Agent shall (i) deliverioetof the Objection to Buyse
(ii) distribute to Buyer cash out of the Speciatisv Fund in an amount equal to that portion, if,apecified in the Claim Notice which is
disputed by Seller Agent in such Objection, anij {iesignate and segregate out of the Special BsErnd the amount subject to the Cl
Notice which is disputed by Seller Agent in the @tjon or is not then payable pursuant to the tesimthe Claim Notice. Thereafter, 1
Escrow Agent shall not distribute to Buyer or Selgent the segregated portion of the SpeEmtrow Fund subject to the Claim Notice t
the Escrow Agent shall have received joint writiestructions from Buyer and Seller Agent, in formdasubstance reasonably satisfacto
the Escrow Agent, concerning the determinatiorhefamount of the payment, if any, to which Buyegrisitled.

(d) After an Objection has been delivered to the EscAme@nt and Buyer, Buyer and Seller Agent shallmagiein good faith to agr
upon the rights of Buyer with respect to each & #mounts that comprise the asserted Claim Amamthé amount subject to the Cl:
Notice which is disputed by Seller Agent in the @tion). If Buyer and Seller Agent should so ageenemorandum setting forth si
agreement shall be prepared and signed by bothrBunkSeller Agent and, in the case of a demandefmvery from the Special Escrow Fu
shall deliver to the Escrow Agent joint written tingctions from Buyer and Seller Agent setting fostich agreement. If no such agreemen
be reached after good faith negotiation within 2y <after delivery of an Objection, the amountglispute shall be submitted to bind
arbitration as set forth in Section 2.8(c)(iv) bétPurchase Agreement. The Escrow Agent will () Bayer out of the Special Escrow Fund
amount that Buyer is entitled to receive as proyna#l practicable after receiving joint written nustions concerning such findeterminatio
from Buyer and Seller Agent and (ii) if applicabtause to be distributed to Seller Agent, for teadiit of and distribution to Sellers, si
amount as to which Sellers would be entitled tdrihigtion under_Paragraph 4hereof after giving effect to the foregoing jointitten
instructions.
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(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if, prior to the Esw Release Date Mine 8 (as defined in the PurcAgseement) is designated
a Pattern of Violation (POV) list by the Mine Safeind Health Administration that is attributablethie Prior Violations, Buyer shall be entit
to payment related to any Prior Violations pursu@nSection 2.8(c)(iii) of the Purchase Agreemduyer shall have the right, at its s
discretion, to submit a Claim Notice for Lossesotiter damages to the Escrow Agent and receive patgniieom the General Escrow Fu
before proceeding against the Special Escrow Fund.

4.4 At any time prior to the final termination of thisscrow Agreement, the Escrow Agent shall, if jgiritistructed in a writing signed
Buyer and Seller Agent, release or cause to bagetefrom the Escrow Fund to Buyer or Seller Agémtthe benefit of and distribution
Sellers, as directed, the amount of cash spedifiethy such writing.

4.5 The Escrow Agent shall not dispose of all or anytipo of the amounts in the Escrow Fund other taarspecifically provided in tt
Escrow Agreement.

4.6 On the fourteen (14) month anniversary of the ddtthis Escrow Agreement (the “ Escrow Release Dpt¢he Escrow Agent shi
cause to be distributed from the General Escrowdfan

(a) Buyer, as promptly as practicable after receivioigtj written instructions from Buyer and Seller Agean amount equal to 1
$5,000,000 less amounts previously paid to Buyesyant to Section 2.8(b)(iv) of the Purchase Agremtmultiplied by(2) the ratio of (x
10,000,000 minuthe number of tons of Additional Reserves (as éefiim the Purchase Agreement) proven prior to 8wdw Release Date
(y) 10,000,000 (plus any accrued interest or egson such amount); providethowever, that if the number of tons of Additional Reseris
equal to or greater than 10,000,000 tons, Buydt sbabe entitled to any distribution from the &eal Escrow Fund pursuant to titaragrap

4.6(a); and

(b) To Seller Agent, for the benefit of and distributito Sellers, an amount equal to (1) any amourmi teenaining in the Gene
Escrow Fund (including any remaining accrued irgeog earnings thereon), le& if the distribution contemplated by Paragrdp®(a)hereo
has not occurred, the amount that Buyer claimseteeititted to pursuant to Paragraph 4.@(®)certified to the Escrow Agent in writing
Buyer no later than the Business Day precedingefmrow Release Date, e any amount subject to a Claim Notice delivepeidr to the
Escrow Release Date pursuant to Paragrapto4t# extent such Claim Notice has not been resoprior to such date. Any amount retaine
escrow from the General Escrow Fund after the BgdRelease Date pursuant to the preceding sentéadiebe held by the Escrow Agent :
shall be used to make any such distribution orridigions contemplated by Paragraph Aeteof and to indemnify or make a payment tc
Buyer Indemnitees for such unresolved Claim Not®mdgject to the terms and conditions of the Puretggeement (but only as to Buyer .
Seller Agent) and this Escrow Agreement (beingahly document by which the Escrow Agent is bouna) apon resolution and if applica
payment out of the General Escrow Fund in satigfacif the foregoing, any remaining amounts in escfincluding any remaining interest
earnings thereon), shall be promptly distributedday behalf of or at the direction of, the Escrogeft to Seller Agent, for the benefit of
distribution to Sellers.
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4.7 Upon the final resolution of all legal proceediragsd fines relating to the Prior Violations, or ainf written direction of Buyer at
Seller Agent (such date, the “ Final ReleBsge”), the Escrow Agent shall pay to Seller Agent, for bleaefit of and distribution to Sellers,
amount equal to (1) any amount then remaining éSpecial Escrow Fund (including any remaining @edrinterest or earnings thereoeks
(2) any amount subject to a Claim Notice delivepeidr to the Final Release Date pursuant to Papigfa3to the extent such Claim Notic
has not been resolved prior to such date. Any at@tained in escrow from the Special Escrow Fuitel ahe Final Release Date pursuai
the preceding sentence shall be held by the Esé&xgent and shall be used to make any such distdbutir distributions contemplated
Paragraph 4.8ereof and to make a payment to Buyer for suchsatwved Claim Notices subject to the terms and dandi of the Purcha
Agreement (but only as to Buyer and Seller Agent) this Escrow Agreement (being the only documgnivhich the Escrow Agent is bour
and upon resolution and if applicable payment dubhe Special Escrow Fund in satisfaction of theemwing, any remaining amounts in esc
(including any remaining interest or earnings tbaje shall be promptly distributed by, on behalioofat the direction of, the Escrow Agen
Seller Agent, for the benefit of and distributi@nSellers.

4.8 Subject to the other provisions of this Escrow Agnent, upon distribution of the entire amount &f Bscrow Fund (including amou
withheld pursuant to unresolved Claim Noticesni)a this Escrow Agreement shall be terminated.

5. INVESTMENT; EARNINGS .

The Escrow Agent is hereby authorized and diretdetbld and invest the Escrow Fund and to distaksutch Escrow Fund in accordance
the terms of this Escrow Agreement. At the jointtien direction of Buyer and Seller Agent, the EserAgent shall invest and reinvest
Escrow Fund in (a) obligations issued or guarantsethe United States of America or any agencystrumentality thereof; (b) certificates
deposits (including money market certificates aimdilar instruments) of or accounts with nationahks or holding companies of natio
banks having capital and surplus in excess of IDIYN00 at the time of investment; (c) any moneyketaaccount or fund, whether insuret
uninsured, including, without limitation, a moneyarket account at Wells Fargo Bank, National Asgdamia (d) repurchase agreements \
U.S. Treasuries as collateral; and (e) other imeests that are mutually approved in writing by Buged Seller Agent. In the absence of |
written instructions from Buyer and Seller Agetie Escrow Fund shall be invested and reinvestegdonrdance with the Investment Selec
Instructions set forth as Exhibit Aereto. Interest accruing on, and any profit realifrom, such investment shall be credited, and lass
resulting from such investments shall be chargethe Escrow Fund. Subject to Paragraphb&léw, all interest or earnings earned on amc
in the Escrow Fund, if any, shall be distributedsgller Agent, for the benefit of and distributianSellers, at the times specifiedRaragrapt
4.2, 4.3, 4.6and 4.7hereof. The Escrow Agent is hereby authorized drettd to sell and reduce to cash simlestments, if necessary,
make disbursements under this Escrow Agreement. Hdsow Agent shall not be responsible for any iprof loss realized on su
investments, except in the case of fraud, grosigeege or willful misconduct by the Escrow AgeBuyer and Seller Agent acknowledge
the Escrow Agent is not providing investment sujséon, recommendations, or advice.
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6. LIABILITY AND COMPENSATION OF ESCROW AGENT

6.1 The Escrow Agen$ obligations and duties in connection herewith ewafined to those specifically enumerated in tiscrov
Agreement, which obligations and duties shall benged purely ministerial, and not fiduciary, in matuThe Escrow Agent shall not
required to take notice of the Purchase Agreemeahishall have no duty or responsibility to take angion pursuant thereto. The Escrow A
shall not be in any manner liable or responsibtettie sufficiency, correctness, genuineness, ddialof any documents deposited with it
with reference to the form of execution thereoftloe identity, authority, or rights of any Persoreeuting or depositing the same, and
Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any loss timaty occur by reason of forgery, false represemtatio the exercise of its discretion in .
particular manner or for any other reason, exceptité own fraud, gross negligence or willful misdoict. The Escrow Agent shall not
required to act upon or take notice of any diregtidemand, notice, communication or instructiors/ted to the Escrow Agent by any Se
but shall act upon and take notice solely of ngti@mmunications or instructions provided to tiserBw Agent by Seller Agent and Buye
provided for herein. The Escrow Agent shall havdiability with respect to the transfer or distrimn of any funds effected by the Esci
Agent pursuant to wiring or transfer instructionsypded to the Escrow Agent by any party to thiefs Agreement in accordance with
provisions of this Escrow Agreement. The Escrow migghall not be obligated to take any legal actiorio commence any proceeding:
connection with the Escrow Fund or this Escrow Agnent, or to appear in, prosecute or defend insanii legal action or proceedings.

6.2 The Seller Agent, on behalf of each Seller, anddBygintly and severally covenant and agree to nmuié/, defend and hold harmile
the Escrow Agent and its officers, directors, erpls and agents from and against any and all lost#Ems, damages, liabilities, ¢
reasonable out-gfocket expenses, including without limitation, r@@eble costs of investigation and counsel feesdisioursements whi
may be imposed on the Escrow Agent or incurredctlireor indirectly in connection with this Escrowgfeement, its acceptance of
appointment as the Escrow Agent hereunder, or efprformance of its duties hereunder, includintheut limitation, any litigation arisir
from this Escrow Agreement or involving the subjettter hereof; providedthat if the Escrow Agent shall be found guiltyfodud, willful
misconduct or gross negligence in connection wglsérvices under this Escrow Agreement then,ahdkent, the Escrow Agent shall bea
such losses, claims, damages, liabilities, and resgse_providedurther, that solely as between Buyer and Sellers, thimdPaph 6.2hereo
shall not prejudice any right or obligations of Buyand Sellers among themselves pursuant to theh&e Agreement. The provisions of
Paragraph 6.Bereof shall survive the termination of this Escisgreement and any resignation or removal of therdyg Agent.

6.3 If a dispute occurs among the parties hereto ceratise with respect to the Escrow Fund, the Eschgent shall be entitled to tenc
into the registry or custody of ammpurt of competent jurisdiction, upon an order wéts court, all of the Escrow Fund, together witblslega
pleadings as it or its counsel deems appropriatd, thereupon be discharged from all further dutied liabilities under this Escre
Agreement. The filing of any such legal proceedisball not deprive the Escrow Agent of its compénsa(as provided for herein) earr
prior to such filing and the provisions of Paradr&plhereof shall survive as to such action.
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6.4 The Escrow Agent’s fees hereunder shall be asostt in Schedule Aereto (the “ Escrow Agers Compensatiof) and shall be pa
one-half by the Seller Agent, on behalf of eacHe8eand one-half by Buyer at the times and intfamner set forth in Schedule.An addition
Seller Agent, on behalf of each Seller, and Buyatlach pay one-half of all other amounts dueamishg Escrow Agent pursuant 8chedul
A . This fee is intended as full compensation forEserow Agent’s services as contemplated by thisdg Agreement; providedhowever,
that if the conditions of this Escrow Agreement ar fulfilled or the Escrow Agent renders any waasbly required material service
contemplated in this Escrow Agreement, or theranig assignment of interest in the subject mattehisf Escrow Agreement, or any mate
modification hereof, or if any material controveragises hereunder, or the Escrow Agent is maderty @ or justifiably intervenes in a
litigation pertaining to this Escrow Agreement twetsubject matter hereof, the Escrow Agent shaltdzsonably compensated for s
extraordinary services and reimbursed for all reabte out-of-pocket costs and expenses, includdaganable attorney’fees, occasioned
such controversy, litigation, or event, and the sahall be payable by Seller Agent, on behalf ahe8eller, and Buyer, pursuant to

Paragraph 6.4ereof.

6.5 The Escrow Agent may resign at any time, uponyhiB0) days prior written notice to Buyer and Seleent, and prior to su
resignation shall deposit the Escrow Fund with @cessor escrow agent, which shall be a nationdt,lbarbe jointly designated in writing
Buyer and Seller Agent. Any such successor escigamtamust agree to be, and shall be bound by, haldl lsave all the rights, duties, ¢
responsibilities of the Escrow Agent under thisrBacAgreement. If, upon the effective date of suebignation, no successor escrow a
shall have been designated, the Escrow Agent Bhahtitled to treat such failure to designateaeassor as a dispute subject to the provi:
of Paragraph 6.Bereof. Such resignation shall not deprive the @&gdkgent of its compensation (as provided for h&reiarned prior thereto.

6.6 Buyer and Seller Agent may terminate this Escroweggnent (including in connection with the appoinitnef a new escrow agent)
joint written notice which shall specify the disgia of the Escrow Fund (which disposition mustibe manner consistent with the Purcl
Agreement) and the Escrow Agent shall, upon redbgreof, promptly disburse the Escrow Fund in ataoce with such specified dispositir

6.7 The Escrow Agent may from time to time consult wébal counsel of its own choosing in the everamf disagreement or controve
or guestion or doubt as to the construction of afithe provisions hereof or its duties hereunded, i shall incur no liability and shall be fu
protected in acting in good faith in accordancehwvilte written opinion or instructions of such coelngexcept in instances of the Esc
Agent’s own fraud, grossegligence or willful misconduct. Any reasonabledand expenses of such legal counsel shall bedeoed part ¢
the fees and expenses of the Escrow Agent desdnieredh.
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6.8 No provision of this Escrow Agreement shall requive Escrow Agent to risk or advance its own fuadstherwise incur any financ
liability or potential financial liability in the @formance of its duties or the exercise of ithtsghereunder.

6.9 Subject to Paragraph 6,&ny corporation or association into which therBacAgent may be converted or merged, or with whichay
be consolidated, or to which it may sell or transi#e or substantially all of its corporate trustsiness and assets as a whole or substantial
whole, or any corporation or association resulfiogn any such conversion, sale, merger, consotidatr transfer to which the Escrow Ager
a party, shall be and become the successor esgemt ander this Escrow Agreement and shall havesandeed to the rights, powers, du
immunities and privileges as its predecessor, withioe execution or filing of any instrument or papr the performance of any further act.

6.101In the event that any of the Escrow Fund shalltteched, garnished or levied upon by any courtmmiethe delivery thereof shall
stayed or enjoined by an order of a court, or ameg judgment or decree shall be made or enteyeahlp court order affecting the Esct
Fund, the Escrow Agent is hereby expressly authdriin its sole discretion, to respond as it deapymopriate or to comply with all wri
orders or decrees so entered or issued, or whishaidvised by legal counsel of its own choosinbirgling upon it, whether with or withc
jurisdiction. In the event that the Escrow Ageneyd or complies with any such writ, order or dedteshall not be liable to any of the par
hereto or to any other person, firm or corporatishould, by reason of such compliance notwithstagdsuch writ, order or decree
subsequently reversed, modified, annulled, setasidiacated.

6.11 The Escrow Agent shall not be responsible or lidbteany failure or delay in the performance of atsligation under this Escrc
Agreement arising out of or caused, directly oirectly, by circumstances beyond its reasonablérobrincluding, without limitation, acts
God; earthquakes; fire; flood; wars; acts of tasmr, civil or military disturbances; sabotage; egpidc; riots; interruptions, loss or malfunctir
of utilities, computer (hardware or software) ompuounications services; accidents; labor disputess af civil or military authority ¢
governmental action; it being understood that teker&v Agent shall use commercially reasonable &ffathich are consistent with accey
practices in the banking industry to resume peréoroe as soon as reasonably practicable underrtherstances.

7. SELLER AGENT .

7.1 Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Seller Agetiitatt on behalf of the Sellers and shall havéhqumwers as are delegated undt
pursuant to the Purchase Agreement. The Seller tAgfeadl cause to be distributed all distributionsittfrom the Escrow Fund to or for 1
benefit of the Sellers in accordance with and sttbijethe terms of the Purchase Agreement.

7.2None of Buyer, any Buyer Indemnitee or the Escrayert shall be responsible or liable for any acterorssions of Seller Agent acti
in Seller Agent’s capacity as such.
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8. TAXES.

8.1For all federal, state, local and foreign tax réipor purposes, all interest and earnings on thed#s&und in any calendar year shall
tax purposes be allocated to and reported by Blmess and until any portion of the Escrow Fundistributed to Seller Agent, for the ben
of and distribution to Sellers, the Escrow Fundidb& considered as owned by Buyer for all fedestdte or local tax purposes.

8.2 The Escrow Agent annually shall file informatioriums on Form 1099 with respect to such interedtearning payments consist
with the provisions of Paragraph &ereof. Buyer shall provide to the Escrow Agentfatims and information necessary to complete
information returns, including but not limited t8$ Form W-8 BEN or W8, as applicable. The Escrow Agent shall have rtg ttuprepare ¢
file any federal or state tax report or return wigspect to the Escrow Fund or any income earreedin.

8.3 In the event the Escrow Agent becomes liable fer payment of taxes, including withholding taxedating to income or earnin
derived from the Escrow Fund or any payment madeumeler, the Escrow Agent may deduct such taxes Boch income, earnings,
payment allocable or otherwise payable to Buyestah taxes.

8.4 No later than fifteen (15) days after the end athequarter, and upon the distribution to Seller dtgef any portion of the Escrow Fu
pursuant to Paragraph 4.2.3, 4.6or 4.7 hereof or otherwise pursuant to this Escrow Agregntbe Escrow Agent shall distribute to B
forty percent (40%) of any interest or earningsraed in respect of the Escrow Fund during suchtgquar, in the case of a distribution of :
portion of the Escrow Fund, from the first day betquarter in which such distribution is made antil and including the date of st
distribution (an “ Income Tax Relea®e providedthat, for the avoidance of doubt, any Income Tale&se shall have priority and precede
other release of interest and earnings from theo&s&und.

9. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

This Escrow Agreement shall be binding upon anderia the benefit of the parties hereto and trespective successors and permitted as
but shall not be assignable by any party heretoviged that (i) Buyer or Seller Agent may assign its riglaind delegate its obligatic
hereunder to any Affiliate or to any successor caapon in the event of a merger, consolidatiotransfer or sale of all or substantially al
Buyer's or Seller Agen$ stock or assets; and (ii) the Escrow Agent majgasits rights hereunder to a successor escrowtagmointed i
accordance with the provisions hereof. In the ewdrany such proposed assignment, an amendmehtst&Escrow Agreement, in form €
substance reasonably acceptable to the Escrow Agbatl be executed and delivered if the Escrow m\geasonably deems such
amendment to be necessary or desirable.
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10. NOTICES.

Any notice, demand, or communication required anpted to be given by any provision of this Escrégreement shall be deemed to
been sufficiently given or served for alirposes if (i) personally delivered, (ii) sentdny internationally recognized overnight couriengss,
(iii) sent by registered or certified mail, retureceipt requested, postage prepaid. Except aswitieeprovided herein, any notice under
Escrow Agreement will be deemed to have been giyeon the date such notice is personally delivesedelivered by facsimile, (ii) the ne
succeeding Business Day after the date such nistidelivered to the overnight courier service iftsby overnight courier, or (iii) five (
Business Days after the date such notice is senedigtered or certified mail; provided that in le@ase notices received after 4:00 p.m. (
time of the recipient) shall be deemed to have kdidy given on the next Business Day. Notwithstagdanything to the contrary her
provided, the Escrow Agent shall not be deemedateetreceived any notice or communication hereupder to the Escrow Agers’ actue
receipt thereof. The addresses, as each may béedpitam time to time by providing proper noticedunder, of the parties for purposes of

Escrow Agreement are:

0] If to Buyer:

with a copy, which shall not

constitute notice, to:

(ii) If to Escrow Agent:

(iii)  If to Seller Agent:

with a copy, which shall not
constitute notice, to:

James River Coal Company

Attn: Peter Socha, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

901 E. Byrd Street, Suite 1600
Richmond, Virginia 23219-4080

Kilpatrick Townsend & Stockton LLP
Attn: David A Stockton

1100 Peachtree Street

Suite 2800

Atlanta, Georgia 30309

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association

Attn: Stefan Victory; Corporate, Municipal and
Escrow Solutions

7000 Central Parkway, Suite 550

Atlanta, Georgia 30328

International Resource Partners GP LLC

c/o Lightfoot Capital Partners GP LLC

Attn: Vince Cubbage, Chief Executive Officer
725 Fifth Avenue, 19th Floor

New York, NY 1002z

Jackson Kelly PLLC
Attn: Louis S. Southworth, Il
Elizabeth Osenton Lord
500 Laidley Tower
P.O. Box 553
Charleston, West Virginia 25302 (25322)
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Any party may change the address to which notieglests, demands or other communications to saitl will be delivered or mailed |
giving notice of the address change to the otheigsao this Escrow Agreement in the manner predith this Escrow Agreement.

11. MISCELLANEOUS

11.1 The Paragraph headings contained in this Escroveexgent are inserted for convenience only and siwallaffect in any way tt
meaning or interpretation of this Escrow Agreement.

11.2 Whenever possible, each provision of this Escroweagent shall be interpreted in such manner a® teffective and valid und
applicable Law, but if any provision of this Escréygreement is held to be prohibited by or invalilar applicable Law, such provision s
be ineffective only to the extent of such prohiaitior invalidity, without invalidating the remaindef such provision or the remaini
provisions of this Escrow Agreement.

11.3 Any provision of this Escrow Agreement may be aneshdr waived only in writing signed by Buyer, theckEow Agent and Sell
Agent. No waiver of any provision hereunder or angach or default thereof shall extend to or affecny way any other provision or priot
subsequent breach or default. No course of debktgeen the parties to this Escrow Agreement slsatleemed to affect or to modify, am
or discharge any provision or term of this Escrogréement. No delay by any party to this Escrow Agrent in the exercise of any of its rig
or remedies shall operate as a waiver thereofnansingle or partial exercise of any of its rightsremedies shall operate as a waiver the
and no single or partial exercise by any partyhte Escrow Agreement of any such right or remedli gireclude any other or further exer:
thereof. A waiver of any right or remedy on any @weasion shall not be construed as a bar to orewvaif any such right or remedy on :
other occasion.

11.4 Except for the Purchase Agreement as it applieg tinthe parties who executed the Purchase Agregrtiés Escrow Agreeme
constitutes the complete agreement among the pdntieeto with respect to the subject matter hesadfsupersedes any prior understand
agreements or representations by or among theepaviritten or oral, which may have related toghkject matter hereof in any way.

11.5The parties have participated jointly in the neggidin and drafting of this Escrow Agreement. In évent an ambiguity or questior
intent or interpretation arises, this Escrow Agreatnshall be construed as if drafted jointly by paeties and no presumption or burde
proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any pabty virtue of the authorship of any of the provisoof this Escrow Agreement. The w
“including” shall mean including without limitation

11.6Nothing expressed or implied or referred to in tscrow Agreement will be construed to give anysBerother than the parties to-
Escrow Agreement and the Sellers any legal or ablgtright, remedy, or claim under or with respectthis Escrow Agreement or &
provision of this Escrow Agreement.
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11.7This Escrow Agreement may be executed in multiplenterparts, any one of which need not contairstgeatures of more than ¢
party, but all such counterparts taken togethelt shastitute one and the same instrument.

11.8Buyer and Seller Agent shall have the right untier Escrow Agreement, upon request, to examineaaddt, during business hours
at such other times as might be reasonable undecitbumstances and with reasonable notice to Hveos Agent, any and all of the boc
records, or other information of the Escrow Agemaerning this Escrow Agreement or the Escrow Fahthe requesting party’s expense.

11.9The construction and performance of this Escroweggrent will be governed by the Laws of the Stat®l@fv York without giving
effect to the choice or conflict of Law provisiotiereof.

11.10WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. THE PARTIES HEREBY IRREVOCABL Y WAIVE ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY

JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELA TED TO THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT, WHETHER NOW
EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE. THE PARTIES
AGREE THAT ANY OF THEM MAY FILE A COPY OF THIS PARA GRAPH 11.10 WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN
EVIDENCE OF THE KNOWING, VOLUNTARY AND BARGAINED- FOR AGREEMENT AMONG THE PARTIES
IRREVOCABLY TO WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY AND THAT ANY ACT  ION OR PROCEEDING WHATSOEVER BETWEEN THEM
RELATING TO THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT SHALL INSTEAD BE TRIED IN A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION
BY A JUDGE SITTING WITHOUT A JURY.

11.11Contemporaneously with the execution and delivérthis Escrow Agreement and, if necessary, frometimtime thereafter, each
the parties to this Escrow Agreement (other thanBklcrow Agent) shall execute and deliver to therdss Agent a Certificate of Incumber
substantially in the form of Exhibit-B and_Exhibit B2 hereto (a “ Certificate dihcumbency’) for the purpose of establishing the identity
authority of persons entitled to issue noticesrirttions or directions to the Escrow Agent on Biebbeach such party. Until such time as
Escrow Agent shall receive an amended CertificARl@@mbency replacing any Certificate of Incumbgetiteretofore delivered to the Esci
Agent, the Escrow Agent shall be fully protectedélying, without further inquiry, on the most raeteCertificate of Incumbency furnishec
the Escrow Agent. Whenever this Escrow Agreemeaviges for joint written notices, joint written imsctions or other joint actions to
delivered to the Escrow Agent, the Escrow Agentlsha fully protected in relying, without furthenquiry, on any joint written notic
instructions or action executed by persons nameaddéh Certificate of Incumbency.
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11.12 Escheat Buyer and Seller Agent are aware that under egiplie state law, property which is presumed abaediomay under certe
circumstances escheat to the applicable state.EBeeow Agent shall have no liability to Buyer, ®ellAgent, their respective heirs, le
representatives, successors and assigns, or amypattty, should any @il of the Escrow Fund escheat by operation of kxeept to the exte
resulting from the Escrow Agent’s gross negligeacwillful misconduct.

[Signatures Appear on Following Page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties hereto have executed this Escrowekgeat as of the date first written above.

BUYER:

JAMES RIVER COAL COMPANY

By:

Name:

Title:

Tax Identification Numbet

ESCROW AGENT:

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION , as escrow agent

By:

Name:

Title:

INTERNATIONAL RESOURCE PARTNERS
GP LLC
solely in its capacity as Seller Agent:

By:

Name:

Title:




SCHEDULE A
FEE SCHEDULE

Attached.




EXHIBIT A
INVESTMENT SELECTION INSTRUCTIONS
Agency and Custody Account Direction
For Cash Balances

Wells Fargo Money Market Deposit Accounts

Direction to use the following Wells Fargo Money et Deposit Accounts for Cash Balances for theagcaccount or accounts (i
“Account”) established under the Escrow Agreememlhich this Exhibit A is attached.

You are hereby directed to deposit, as indicatédvweor as we shall jointly direct further in writy from time to time, all cash in the Acco
in the following money market deposit account ofld/Eargo Bank, National Association:

Wells Fargo Money Market Deposit Account (MMDA)
Each of us, acting in our respective representa@cities only, understands that amounts on idteépabe MMDA are insured, subject to
applicable rules and regulations of the Federald3gdnsurance Corporation (FDIC), in the basic EDhsurance amount of $250,000
depositor, per insured bank. This includes principal accrued interest up to a total of $250,000.

Each of us, acting in our respective representatipacities only, acknowledge that we have full pote direct investments of the Account.

We each understand that we may change this direatiany time only upon the giving of joint writtérstructions signed by each of us and
it shall continue in effect until revoked or moéifi by us by joint written notice to you.

Authorized Representative Authorized Representation
James River Coal Company International Resource Partners GP LLC

Date Date




EXHIBIT B-1

CERTIFICATE OF INCUMBENCY

The specimen signatures shown below are the spadigeatures of the individuals who have been aedéyl as authorized representat
of James River Coal Company and are authorizeditiate and approve transactions of all types lieréscrow account or accounts establi
under the Escrow Agreement to which this Exhibit B attached, on behalf of James River Coal Compan

Name / Title Specimen Signature
Name Signature
Title
Name Signature
Title
Name Signature
Title
Name Signature

Title




EXHIBIT B-2

CERTIFICATE OF INCUMBENCY

The specimen signatures shown below are the spacisignatures of the individuals who have been daedeyl as authoriz
representatives of International Resource Part6&d.LC and are authorized to initiate and approaedactions of all types for the esc
account or accounts established under the Escraweftgent to which this Exhibit B-2 is attached, ehdlf of the Sellers.

Name / Title Specimen Signature
Name Signature
Title
Name Signature
Title
Name Signature
Title
Name Signature

Title




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
[, David J. Schulte, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this report on Form-Q of Tortoise Capital Resources Corporati

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corajnuntrue statement of a material fact or om#tade a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstamceter which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period cove
by this report

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,odiner financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegas presented in this repa

4. The registrant other certifying officer(s) and | are responsiide establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstrand procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures;aased such disclosure controls and procedureketalesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidiatiieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly durithg fperiod in which this report is being prepal

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reipgr, or caused such internal control over finahm@orting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance riaggtide reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principle

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registiadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtiis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regid’s internal control over financial reporting thattorred during the registre s mos
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbr that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registré s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosé@sed on our most recent evaluation of internaltrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaadmmittee of the registramst’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden:
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesse the design or operation of internal controkiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; ant

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registra’s interne
control over financial reporting

Date: April 7, 2011 By: /s/ David J. Schulte
David J. Schulte
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Terry Matlack, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this report on Form-Q of Tortoise Capital Resources Corporati

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corajnuntrue statement of a material fact or om#tade a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstamceter which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period cove
by this report

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,odiner financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegas presented in this repa

4. The registrant other certifying officer(s) and | are responsiide establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstrand procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures;aased such disclosure controls and procedureketalesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidiatiieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly durithg fperiod in which this report is being prepal

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reipgr, or caused such internal control over finahm@orting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance riaggtide reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principle

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registiadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtiis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regid’s internal control over financial reporting thattorred during the registre s mos
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbr that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registré s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosé@sed on our most recent evaluation of internaltrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaadmmittee of the registramst’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden:
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesse the design or operation of internal controkiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; ant

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registra’s interne
control over financial reporting

Date: April 7, 2011 By: /s/ Terry Matlack
Terry Matlack
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of TortoiSapital Resources Corporation (the “Company”) amnk 10Q for the period ends
February 28, 2011 as filed with the Securities &xdhange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8paste, David J. Schulte, Ch
Executive Officer of the Company and Terry MatlaChief Financial Officer of the Company, certifyyrguant to 18 U.S.C. Section 135C
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb@nésy Act of 2002, that: (1) the Report fully corgd with the requirements of Section 13(c
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, agraaded; and (2) the information contained in the drefairly presents, in all mater
respects, the financial condition and results arapons of the Company.

Date: April 7, 2011 By: /s/ David J. Schulte
David J. Schulte
Chief Executive Officer

Date: April 7, 2011 By: /s/ Terry Matlack
Terry Matlack
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement requirad by Section 906 has been provided to the Companyé will be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and ExcharggCommission or its staff upon request.




